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Business operations and Business Conditions

Corporate Structure and Business Areas

the proSiebenSat.1 Group is one of the leading media corporations in europe. We reach more 
than 41 million tV households with our free tV stations in Germany, austria and Switzerland. 
Free tV financed by advertising is our core business. alongside a strong digital and ventures 
portfolio, the Group also has an international production network. this means, proSiebenSat.1 
has a broad and solid revenue and profit basis. 

our free tV stations Sat.1, proSieben, kabel eins, sixx and Sat.1 Gold are positioned to comple-
ment each other and reach all commercially relevant target groups in the German-speaking 
countries. With our successful stations and far-reaching digital services, we are the leading video 
sales company in Germany. our digital activities range from Germany’s largest video-on-demand 
portal maxdome, the online platform MyVideo and online games from proSiebenSat.1 Games to 
SevenVentures GmbH, which is establishing an attractive investment portfolio of media invest-
ments. In addition, with Starwatch we own an independent music label. With the red arrow 
 entertainment Group, we produce international tV programs and sell them to tV stations world-
wide. red arrow is represented with 18 production companies in nine countries. our headquar-
ters are located in unterföhring near Munich. proSiebenSat.1 Media aG was established in 2000. 
the Group is listed and employs more than 3,000 staff in 12 countries.

Organization and Legal Group Structure

there was no legal or structural change to the organizational set-up of the proSiebenSat.1 
Group in 2012; the company is managed centrally by the holding company proSiebenSat.1 
Media aG. However, there have been changes in the scope of consolidation. In December 2012, 
the Group sold its northern european tV and radio activities and will now focus on the strategic 
expansion of its high-growth Digital & adjacent business. the company acquired additional in-
vestments in the uSa and Great Britain for its program production area. In addition, the 
 executive Board was extended by the “Human resources” division. there is an overview on the 
individual acquisitions on page 74f., while we report on Board personnel changes from page 30.

Management and Control
proSiebenSat.1 Media aG is listed in Germany and headquartered in unterföhring near Munich. 
a stock corporation under German law has three principal governing bodies: the executive 
Board, the Supervisory Board and the annual General Meeting. the governing bodies’ deci-
sion-making powers are strictly demarcated from each other.

the Executive Board is responsible for the proSiebenSat.1 Group’s overall performance, and has 
both professional and disciplinary authority over the managers of the various business seg-
ments and holding company units. the Supervisory Board monitors and advises the executive 
Board in its conduct of business, and is thus directly involved in all corporate decisions of major 
importance. the basic rules for this dual management system are defined in proSiebenSat.1 
Media aG’s articles of incorporation and in the rules of procedure for the executive Board and 
Supervisory Board. the articles of incorporation also define the scope of business activity. 
 according to Section 179 of the German Stock Corporation act (aktG), they may only be 
amended by a majority resolution of the annual General Meeting.

explanatory notes on reporting 
principles, page 70. 
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the shareholders of proSiebenSat.1 Media aG exercise their rights of joint administration and 
oversight at the Annual General Meeting. each share of common stock confers one vote. 
 preference shares carry no voting rights, except where prescribed by law.

Business Areas and Investments
In its function as the Group holding company, proSiebenSat.1 Media aG has no operational role. 
Its tasks include central financing, Group risk management and the ongoing development of the 
corporate strategy. the economic development of the proSiebenSat.1 Group is determined 
 primarily by the subsidiaries held both directly and indirectly.

the present consolidated financial statements include proSiebenSat.1 Media aG and all 
 significant subsidiaries — meaning entities in which proSiebenSat.1 Media aG directly or indi-
rectly holds a majority of voting rights, or over whose activities it can otherwise exercise a 
controlling influence. 

one of the most important direct subsidiaries of proSiebenSat.1 Media aG is ProSiebenSat.1 TV 

Deutschland GmbH. under this umbrella all German tV stations work together in a cross-func-
tion matrix organization. In terms of structure, proSiebenSat.1 Media aG differs considerably 
from other German tV companies. not only does the company own all shares in the tV stations 
Sat.1, proSieben, kabel eins and sixx and Sat.1 Gold (since January 2013), it also indirectly holds 
a 100 % stake in the sales companies. this results in advantages with regard to the station 
 programming and the sale of advertising time. 

the companies in the online, games and pay tV areas are also affiliated with proSiebenSat.1 
Media aG via subsidiaries consolidated under ProSiebenSat.1 Digital GmbH, SevenSenses GmbH 
as well as SevenVentures GmbH. 

Segment Structure and Competitive Situation
In view of the activities disposed of in northern europe and held for sale in eastern europe, the 
proSiebenSat.1 Group’s operating business activities are divided into three reporting segments 
that are strategically, economically and technically interrelated and managed by proSiebenSat.1 
Media aG:

 

a detailed overview of the 
shareholding structure in the 
proSiebenSat.1 Group can be  

found in the notes on page 250f.  
In addition to this list of 

investments, the legal Group 
structure and the international 

locations are shown on the  
back cover.

SeGMentS oF tHe proSiebenSat.1 Group (Fig. 5)

 
SEGMENTS

Broadcasting  
German-speaking

Digital & 
Adjacent

Content Production & 
Global Sales
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 >  Broadcasting German-speaking segment: the tV activities in Germany, austria and Switzer-
land are allocated to the Broadcasting German-speaking segment. With a population of over 
80 million, Germany is europe’s largest tV market. proSiebenSat.1 is no. 1 in the advertising 
market here with its sales subsidiaries Sevenone Media and Sevenone adFactory. alongside 
innovative and customized sales concepts, the high reach of the proSiebenSat.1 stations is 
key to the success of the Group in Germany, its most important revenues market. Due to their 
complementary programming, the advertising-funded tV stations Sat.1, proSieben, kabel 
eins, sixx and Sat.1 Gold cover a broad audience group. While Sat.1 offers programming for 
the whole family, proSieben is the market leader among young viewers. With Hollywood 
blockbusters, uS series such as “the Simpsons” and tV event shows like “Schlag den raab”, 
proSieben mainly appeals to male viewers aged between 14 and 29. kabel eins focuses on 
viewers aged between 25 and 45. sixx, the women’s channel, was added to the German tV 
family in May 2010 and targets primarily female viewers aged between 20 and 39. In 2012, 
the proSiebenSat.1 Group designed a further tV channel — Sat.1 Gold. Here the core target 
group is women aged between 49 and 64. at the beginning of 2013, the channel successfully 
went on air. With this portfolio, the proSiebenSat.1 Group in Germany covers all commercially 
relevant audience segments, offering both advertising customers and viewers a wide range 
of stations.

additionally, in the Broadcasting German-speaking segment refinancing via distribution 
 revenues is becoming increasingly important. the Group participates in the technical fees 
which IptV, cable network and satellite operators charge for making the channels available 
in HD quality.

 >  Digital & Adjacent segment: the Digital & adjacent segment is the strongest growth driver 
of the proSiebenSat.1 Group. It bundles the business units online Video, online Games, 
 Ventures & Commerce and Music. the Group leverages the reach and advertising power of its 
television stations to develop products from the digital sphere and adjacent business areas 
as successful and strong brands. In this way, the Group taps into new revenue sources and 
strengthens its independence from tV advertising markets which are sensitive to the devel-
opment of the general economy.

 maxdome, Germany’s largest video-on-demand platform is part of the proSiebenSat.1 Group. 
maxdome offers subscribers more than 50,000 series, movies, comedy programs, documen-
taries and other genres. Furthermore, the Group operates an advertising-financed online 
network with 25 million unique users per month, and with websites such as MyVideo has 
 established online brands with high levels of recognition. 

another important area of growth is the online Games business. In 2012, among other things, 
the proSiebenSat.1 Group secured europe-wide exclusive licenses to eight blockbuster games 
from the uS games developer Sony online entertainment. For international marketing of its 
online games portfolio, the Group agreed several media cooperations, including those with 
tF1 in France and the turkish Dogan Media Group. In the online Games unit, proSiebenSat.1 
generates most of its revenues on the basis of what is called “virtual item selling”, where 
players acquire virtual goods for their online games.

Glossary, page 264.

44Group ManaGeMent report

Business operations and 
Business Conditions



 >  the proSiebenSat.1 Group also expanded its Ventures business in 2012. With its media-for- 
revenues/media-for-equity business model, the Group has built up a portfolio with over 
50 partnerships including strategic investments over the last few years. In doing so, the 
Group provides media services to promising start-up companies and receives a revenue and/
or equity participation in return.

Furthermore, revenues from the Music business developed in an extremely positive way in 
2012. Starwatch entertainment GmbH is proSiebenSat.1 ś music label, which has successful 
artists such as Lenny kravitz, roxette and a-ha under contract. In addition to the classical 
music business, the company’s portfolio includes live entertainment and marketing artists.

 >  Content Production & Global Sales segment: the Content production & Global Sales seg-
ment covers the international program production and distribution business. the two units 
are bundled under the red arrow entertainment Group. In 2012, the Group expanded its in-
vestment portfolio, primarily in key english-speaking markets. In Great Britain, red arrow 
acquired majority stakes in the production companies CpL, endor productions and nerD in 
spring. this was followed by an interest in the new York production company Left/right in 
august. as a result the Group now has a very good positioning for both fiction and non-fiction 
production, holding a portfolio with 18 majority stakes in nine countries. In 2012, the Group 
also opened a permanent sales office in Hong kong, using it as a base for covering the entire 
asian market. With the red arrow entertainment Group, the Group participates in the entire 
tV value chain, from development and production to selling television programs. one 
 successful example is the tV show “the taste”. It was developed in 2012 by the american 
red arrow subsidiary kinetic Content and is also produced locally by kinetic for the uS 
 station aBC. red arrow International, the program distribution subsidiary, owns the global 
sales rights and has sold licenses not only in the uSa but also to Canada, India and australia.

Glossary, page 264.

Changes in the Scope of 
Consolidation. page 73.
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SeGMent StruCture oF tHe proSiebenSat.1 Group (Fig. 6)
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Intragroup Management System

the corporate management of the proSiebenSat.1 Group is carried out centrally by the Group’s 
executive Board. the overriding goal is to consistently implement the corporate strategy and 
to expand the Group from a traditional tV company to a digital entertainment & e-commerce 
powerhouse. the focus is on sustainably improving profitability. the internal management 
 system at the proSiebenSat.1 Group is primarily composed of the following elements:

 > Financial and operational parameters
 > a strategy-setting process
 > an integrated budgeting and planning system 
 > Monthly reporting to the executive Board and Supervisory Board 
 > ongoing risk and opportunity management
 > Management by objectives at all levels of the Company

Strategic fields of action defined to establish a digital entertainment & e-commerce power-

house. We inspire people with first-class entertainment and up-to-the-minute information. We 
offer advertising customers individual, cross-media advertising concepts. thanks to the reach 
and advertising power of our tV stations, we are in an excellent position to establish successful 
brands. It is our goal to consolidate this strong position in the tV business and simultaneously 
develop the proSiebenSat.1 Group further into a digital entertainment & e-commerce power-
house. We are therefore following a course set to extend our value chain into related growth 
areas around the core business of tV. 

even after the sale of our tV and radio activities in northern europe, we are concentrating on 
expanding the free tV core business and tapping into pioneering business areas by integrating 
the television and digital fields. the Group sees great synergy and growth potential here. our 
long-term growth targets for consolidated revenues remain in place: By the end of 2015, we aim to 
realize an additional revenue potential — adjusted for the growth target for the discontinued op-
erations of eur 150 million — of more than eur 600 million compared to continuing operations of 
2010. With purposeful management, the company has already achieved 50 % of its 2015 revenue 
target by the end of 2012.

In addition to growth and diversification measures, performance factors such as cost awareness 
and efficient process management are central requirements for the continued strengthening of 
the proSiebenSat.1 Group’s leading position. the establishment of a “best practice organization” 
therefore remains an important strategic task for us. Central requirements for this are uniform 
process management and a successful internal controlling and risk management system. With 
the prIMe program, the proSiebenSat.1 Group has systematically mapped all processes in the 
Group including risks, and thus has an efficient and transparent control instrument in process 
management. at the same time, the company provides the required conditions for a culture of 
top performance by, for example, promoting networking between all the different departments 
and the transfer of knowledge with the aid of “best-practice-sharing days”. a key requirement 
for the effectiveness of management is clear objectives for employees at all company levels 
 (Management by Objectives). In 2012, the Group continued to intensify its measures for Hr de-
velopment and talent promotion and linked them more closely to corporate strategy goals. 
High-performing and motivated employees, guided by a common sense of mission, are the heart 
of our best-practice organization.

Information on risk and 
opportunity management,  

page 119 and 135.

Company outlook, page 146.

employees, page 96.
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Management System Based on Key Performance Indicators
the proSiebenSat.1 executive Board manages the Group with a number of key performance indi-
cators. these key performance indicators are derived from the above-mentioned strategic fields 
of action of the proSiebenSat.1 Group and broken down for its individual segments and operating 
units. the parameters we use enable us to measure the success of our strategic goals. the defined 
financial performance indicators are oriented toward the interests and requirements of the 
proSiebenSat.1 Group’s equity providers and lenders:

 >  Earnings management: revenues or recurring eBItDa and recurring eBItDa margin as well 
as eBItDa and eBItDa margin are used as operating benchmarks for profitability management 
at Group and segment level and for the individual subsidiaries. recurring eBItDa, (earnings 
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization), adjusted for non-recurring items, reflects 
the Group’s profitability. Since it eliminates the influence of taxes and depreciation, as well as 
the structure of the Company’s financing, recurring eBItDa also allows a meaningful assess-
ment of operating profitability internationally. 

 >  Financial planning: Free cash flow is the surplus cash generated and an important parameter for 
assessing the financial strength of the Group. It is calculated as total cash and cash equivalents 
generated in operating business less the balance of cash used and generated in the  context of 
investing activities. It shows how much liquidity is available to the company’s providers of equity 
and lenders from the business in one period. 

Financial leverage (leverage factor) is another parameter used in planning the capital struc-
ture at Group level. It indicates the level of net debt in relation to LtM recurring eBItDa, i.e. 
the adjusted eBItDa that the proSiebenSat.1 Group has generated in the last twelve months. 
In connection with the capital management structure at the proSiebenSat.1 Group, managing 
leverage is given particularly high priority. 

 
the company operates in an industry environment characterized by a dynamic change process. 
It is therefore particularly important that the different operating units act flexibly and can 
quickly take advantage of market opportunities that arise. For this reason, while the individual 
subsidiaries operate on the basis of central objectives, they are also autonomous with full 
 responsibility for revenues and earnings.

alongside financial key performance indicators, operational parameters also serve the ongoing 
control of our customer, market and service-related achievement of targets. the audience 
share of free tV stations is one of the most important operating indicators. they are indicators 
for the popularity of proSiebenSat.1 Group tV station programs and are an important means of 
documenting performance for the advertising industry in consequence. Deviations in current 

StrateGiC FielDS oF aCtion oF tHe proSiebenSat.1 Group (Fig. 7)

1.   expand and strengthen the core 
business of tV financed by 
advertising in German-speaking 
countries.

2.   Develop new business models 
in related areas and extend the 
value chain into digital activities. 

3.   ensure quality and efficiency 
through outstanding imple-
mentation. 

non-Financial performance 
Indicators, page 106.
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ratings from anticipated planning figures are assessed as part of early risk detection. For the 
advertising market, indicators of brand awareness and advertising effectiveness are also 
 important performance values. the performance of pay tV stations is measured and controlled 
using subscription figures. For online business in the Digital & adjacent segment, the number 
of unique users is relevant among other things. additional significant parameters in the 
 video-on-demand area are technical availability and the number of users or subscribers.

In addition to these internal performance indicators, the Group-wide management and planning 
process includes external indicators. Current economic data, such as the trend in private 
 consumption, incoming orders, retail sales and gross domestic product serve, for example, as 
relevant indicators for advertising companies’ willingness to invest. 

Integrated Budgeting and Planning System
Planning targets are developed as part of the strategy-setting process. the executive Board 
of proSiebenSat.1 Media aG decides the corporate strategy, and as a consequence the short-
term and long-term operational planning targets for the Group and its segments centrally. 
the objectives are assessed annually in the strategy meeting. the decision-making process 
involves current market and competition analyses as well as SWot analyses. these systematic 
assessments of market conditions and competitive situations form a basis for assessing risks, 
prioritizing opportunities and defining measures for achieving targets. Strategic planning is 
firmly integrated in the operating processes. the budget preparation process for the next 
twelve months follows from the definition of the strategic goals at the end of each financial 
year, as does the multi-year plan. all employees are required — independently of the formal 
process — to deal sensibly with potential risks for the company and to analyze and take any 
opportunities that arise.

Systematic planning process serves purposeful management. the planning is based on strate-
gic and operating corporate objectives. For this purpose, the proSiebenSat.1 Group determines 
internal targets for the indicators explained above — for the individual subsidiaries of the Group, 
for the corresponding segments and for the Group as a whole. the individual steps of the 
 planning processes — monthly reporting, budget preparation and the multi-year plan — are co-
ordinated systematically. this approach is a matter of fundamental importance for managing 
target figures and assessing risks and opportunities effectively.

Business and Industry 
 environment, page 60.

oVerVieW oF iMportant Key perForManCe inDiCatorS (Fig. 8)

Central financial parameters >  revenues
>  recurring eBItDa and recurring eBItDa margin
>  eBItDa and eBItDa margin
>  Free cash flow
>  Leverage

Selected operational parameters >  audience shares
>  unique users
>  users and subscribers
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planninG CloCK (Fig. 9)

1  
Budget   
(operating plan for the year 
on a monthly basis) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

the operating plan for the year is prepared on the basis of ’mixed planning’. this pro-
cess is a chronologically staggered combination of top-down and bottom-up planning. 
In the first stage, the executive Board defines the superordinate targets for the Group 
(top-down). these are based on in-depth analysis of the company and its environment. 
the detailed planning of how these targets are to be achieved then occurs in the second 
stage at the operational level (bottom-up). to this end, company-specific data relating 
to individual subsidiaries is aggregated at segment and Group level via the income 
statement, the preparation of the statement of financial position and the cash flow 
statement. Here, particular account is taken of projections about volumes and prices, 
program scheduling, costs and investment planning, and staffing plans. the company 
prepares the budget at the end of a financial year for the following year. It reports target 
figures on a monthly basis and is passed by the executive Board and the Supervisory 
Board.

2  
Multi-year plan   
(Long-term corporate plan on 
a quarterly basis) 

the budget is the foundation of the multi-year plan: planning figures are set on a 
 quarterly basis for the financial and operating management indicators. the planning 
figures are based on the Group’s strategy and take management findings and esti-
mates into account. Like the budget, these target figures for the next five years are 
calculated from the bottom up.

3  
Monthly reporting   
(trend projections) 
 
 
 
 
 

Monthly reporting is an element of short-term control. With the help of trend projections 
during the year, the company continuously compares actual figures with the budget and, if 
necessary, introduces counter measures. to this end, the expected development of revenue, 
earnings and cash flows for the current year is calculated and compared to the budget on 
the basis of actual figures. apart from this monthly reporting to the executive Board and 
the Supervisory Board, potential risks are reported to the Group risk and Compliance officer 
as part of the quarterly reporting process. any changes to the previously mentioned early 
warning indicators over time are analyzed in particular here. this ensures that suitable 
 management measures can be instigated in a timely manner.

  
Strategy meeting  

Strategic objectives are determined in the strategy meeting.
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Legal Environment

proSiebenSat.1 Media aG has to comply with a large number of stock exchange and legal reg-
ulations. as a stock corporation listed in Germany, it is in particular subject to German laws that 
govern corporations, co-determination, and the capital markets, and it must observe the recom-
mendations of the German Corporate Governance Code. Important reporting obligations that 
result from the legal requirements for this management report are shown  below:

 >  Disclosures regarding corporate acquisitions under Section 315 (4) of the German Commercial 

Code (HGB) and their explanations under Sections 124a Sentence 1 No. 3 and 176 (1) Sentence 

1 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG): the non-voting bearer preference shares of 
proSiebenSat.1 Media aG are listed for trading in the regulated prime Standard segment of 
the Frankfurt Stock exchange.

By contrast, the Company’s registered common stock is not traded on an organized market 
within the meaning of Section 2 (7) of the German Securities acquisitions and takeover act 
(WpÜG). It is not listed for trading on any stock exchange and, according to the articles of 
incorporation of proSiebenSat.1 Media aG, may only be transferred with the Company’s con-
sent. against this background, there is no requirement for disclosures regarding corporate 
acquisitions under Section 289 (4) of the German Commercial Code and under Section 315 (4) 
of the German Commercial Code in the parent company and Group management reports of 
proSiebenSat.1 Media aG respectively. a report by the executive Board explaining these dis-
closures pursuant to Sections 124 a Sentence 1 no. 3, 176 (1) Sentence 1 of the German Stock 
Corporation act is therefore not necessary either.

 >  Report on relations with affiliated companies and closing statement by the Executive Board 

under Section 312 (3) of the German Stock Corporation Act: In compliance with Section 312 of 
the German Stock Corporation act, the executive Board of proSiebenSat.1 Media aG has 
 prepared a report on relationships with affiliated companies for the 2012 financial year, which 
contains the following closing statement: “the executive Board declares that the company re-
ceived appropriate compensation for all legal transactions on the basis of circumstances known 
to the executive Board at the time that the transactions or measures were or were not per-
formed, and has not been placed at a disadvantage by measures being taken or not taken.” For 
every legal transaction entered into between proSiebenSat.1 Media aG and Lavena 1 S.à r.l. or its 
affiliated entities during the year under review, proSiebenSat.1 Media aG contractually promised 
appropriate compensation within the meaning of Section 312 aktG and received performance in 
return for such compensation in so far as performance was due during the year under review.

 
 >  Management Declaration according to Section 289a of the German Commercial Code and the 

Corporate Governance Report according to Item 3.10 of the German Corporate Governance 

Code: the company’s Management Declaration according to Section 289a of the German 
Commercial Code and the Corporate Governance report according to Item 3.10 of the German 
Corporate Governance Code are published on the Company’s homepage. In addition, the 
 Management Declaration and the Corporate Governance report are included in the annual re-
port. the Group auditor has critically reviewed the Corporate Governance report in accordance 
with the IDW auditing standard. the Management Declaration and the annual Declaration of 
Compliance under Section 161 aktG were also part of the auditor’s review.

 >  Description of the key features of the internal control and risk management systems in regard 

to the reporting process pursuant to Section 315 (2) No. 5 of the German Commercial Code: 
the risk report includes information about internal controlling and risk management sys-
tems — according to Section 315 (2) no. 5 of the German Commercial Code — in regard to the 
consolidated reporting process.

www.prosiebensat1.com/en/ 
company/corporate-governance/

management-declaration

risk report, page 118.
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Compensation Report

the Compensation report describes the main features of the compensation system for the 
 executive Board and Supervisory Board of proSiebenSat.1 Media aG and explains the structure 
and level of compensation of the individual members of the executive Board and Supervisory 
Board. It is part of the audited Group Management report and complies with the relevant legal 
regulations; it also takes into account the recommendations of the German Corporate Gover-
nance Code in the version of May 15, 2012.

Compensation Paid to the Executive Board
In addition to their functions as directors and officers of the Company, the members of the 
 executive Board of proSiebenSat.1 Media aG also have contractual relationships with the 
 Company. the proSiebenSat.1 Media aG Supervisory Board is responsible for making the 
 employment agreements with the members of the executive Board. the executive Board 
 employment agreements have a maximum term of five years and also regulate the compensation. 
after a proposal by the Compensation Committee, the structure and amount of the executive 
Board compensation are defined by the Supervisory Board and regularly reviewed. the criteria 
for appropriate compensation are, on the one hand, the individual Board members’ personal 
performance and areas of work and responsibility and, on the other hand, the amount and 
structure of executive board compensation in comparable companies, the Company’s business 
situation and the proSiebenSat.1 Media aG compensation structure.

Compensation system for the Executive Board
the compensation system for the executive Board of proSiebenSat.1 Media aG aims to create 
an incentive for sustainable company performance. It is composed of fixed and results-based 
components. In the 2012 financial year, executive Board compensation comprised the following 
components:

 >  all executive Board members each received a fixed base salary, paid monthly, that was 
 determined with reference to the individual executive Board member’s areas of work and 
responsibility. 

 >  In addition to this fixed base salary, the executive Board members also received perfor-

mance-based variable annual compensation in the form of an annual bonus. the specific 
terms of this annual bonus are uniform among the contracts of the executive Board members. 
the amount depends on the achievement of predefined performance targets comprising 
Group eBItDa and net debt, as well as personal target agreements. the bonus cannot exceed 
200 % of the contractually determined target amount. In the event of failure to meet the 
targets, it is possible that there is no variable compensation at all. 

 In the case of executive Board members newly appointed in 2011 and 2012, the Supervisory 
Board can convert portions of the annual performance-based variable compensation into 
multi-year performance-based variable compensation. the level of payment then no longer 
depends exclusively on the achievement of one year’s performance targets, but rather on the 
average achievement of targets over three years.

 >  In addition, executive Board members receive a long-term share-based compensation com-
ponent. the former stock option plan (Long term Incentive plan) first introduced in 2005 was 
replaced in 2012 by a new share-based compensation plan (Group Share plan). the Group 
Share plan is organized as a share bonus program and is served by the Company’s own 

Compensation Committee,  
page 24 and 33.

Glossary,  page 240.
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 preference shares. participants are issued with performance share units (pSus), entitling 
them from the beginning of the year of commitment to receive preference shares after the 
expiry of a four-year holding period. the conversion factor by which the pSus are exchanged 
for proSiebenSat.1 preference shares after the end of the holding period depends on the 
achievement of predefined annual targets during the holding period. these relate to the 
 development of Group eBItDa. the conversion factor can vary between 0 % and 150 %. In 
the event of exceptional developments, the Supervisory Board can also raise or lower the 
conversion factor by 25 percentage points under consideration of the individual performance 
of the  executive Board members. after the end of each year of the four-year holding period, 
a quarter of the pSus awarded become vested; a requirement for this is that Group net income 
is generated in the year in question and the proSiebenSat.1 Group’s eBItDa does not fall below 
a defined minimum.

Stock options were last issued to executive Board members under the expired stock option 
plan (Long term Incentive plan) in 2009. thomas ebeling and axel Salzmann still own stock 
options from this plan that were granted to them as executive Board members. each option 
entitles the holder to acquire one proSiebenSat.1 preference share if certain exercise condi-
tions are met. as well as an already expired two-year holding period, the exercise conditions 
 include the achievement of a performance target linked to the price performance of the 
proSiebenSat.1 preference share and the advent of a vesting period staggered over five 
years. one fifth of the stock options issued becomes vested at the end of each financial year 
following the issue.

Further information on the Group Share plan 2012 and the remaining stock options under the 
Long term Incentive plan can be found in the notes to the consolidated financial statements 
on page 240. 

 >  Pension agreements were signed for all members of the executive Board. For the period of 
the employment relationship, the Company pays a monthly contribution into the personal 
pension account managed by the Company. the contribution made by the company is equiv-
alent to 20 % of the respective fixed monthly gross salary. each member of the executive 
Board has the right to pay any additional amount into the pension account in the context of 
deferred compensation. there are no further payments after the end of the employment 
 relationship. the Company guarantees the paid-in capital and annual interest of 2 %. the 
amounts paid in are invested on the money and capital markets. a retirement pension is paid 
if the executive Board member attains the age of 60, or 62 in the case of Heidi Stopper, who 
was appointed to the executive Board on october 1, 2012, and was a member for at least a full 
three years. this entitlement also arises in the case of permanent disability. the monthly 
retirement pension is derived from the actuarially calculated life-long pension as of the time 
of the entitlement to benefits. Instead of a life-long pension, executive Board members can 
demand the payment of the guaranteed capital when the entitlement occurs. 

 >  In addition, the executive Board members receive other non-performance-based fringe 

 benefits in the form of non-cash benefits through being granted company cars and taking 
part in group accident insurance.

 >  In the case of the premature termination of the employment relationship by the Company with-
out serious cause, the executive Board agreements concluded from the 2011 financial year on-
wards include a severance payment commitment amounting to two years’ total  compensation 
according to Section 4.2.3 of the German Corporate Governance Code up to a maximum of 
the compensation that would have been paid up to the end of the agreement period.
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Compensation of Executive Board members for the 2012 financial year
the following total compensation was determined for the executive Board members appointed 
by the Company as of the close of the 2012 financial year:

Additional disclosures on share-based compensation instruments 
(Stock option plan)
the stock options held by active members of the executive Board developed as follows in the 
2012 financial year:

In financial years 2010 and 2011, no stock options were granted to members of the executive 
Board.

CoMpenSation oF eXeCutiVe boarD MeMberS (Fig. 10)

eur k

Annual salary Total

Multi-year variable 
annual compensation 

(conversion 
from annual 

compensation)

 Expenses from 
share-based 

compensation 
in the financial 

year  Pensions

  
Fixed base 

salary

Variable 
annual 

compen-
sation

Fixed fringe 
benefits3  

  
Current 
service 

cost 4

Defined 
benefit 

obligation

thomas ebeling 2012  1,000.0    1,100.0    10.9    2,110.9   –  570.2    175.5    653.7   

2011  1,000.0    947.6    10.9    1,958.5    – 183.2  160.5    432.7   

Conrad albert 2012  500.0    383.4    8.8    892.2    –     377.1    66.2    79.4   

20111  125.0    42.2    2.2    169.4    51.6    –     56.0    13.3   

axel Salzmann 2012  675.0    488.8    19.2    1,183.0    –     435.9    109.4    473.6   

2011  650.0    419.6    19.2    1,088.8    –    107.1  96.8    323.3   

Heidi Stopper 20122  125.0    93.8    2.2    220.9    –     188.5    60.1    14.4   

2011  –     –     –     –     –     –     –     –    

Dr. Christian Wegner 2012  500.0    383.4    17.4    900.8    –     377.1    54.8    65.8   

20111  125.0    42.2    2.4    169.6    51.6    –     44.3    10.5   

1   three-month basis: Member of the executive Board since october 1, 2011.
2   three-month basis: Member of the executive Board since october 1, 2012.  
3   Includes lease payments for use of company car and insurance premiums (excluding D&o).
4   Service costs in line with IFrS for the pension entitlement acquired in the respective financial year.  not including  

entitlements from the individual’s own payments (as of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2012).

DeVelopMent oF StoCK optionS HelD by aCtiVe MeMberS oF tHe eXeCutiVe boarD in tHe 2012 FinanCial year (Fig. 11)

Shares on January 1
Exercised in the financial year / 

repurchased Shares on December 31

  Number

Weighted 
average of 

strike prices Number

Weighted 
average 

share price

Weighted 
average of 

strike prices Number

Weighted 
 average of 

strike prices
Range of  

strike prices

Weighted 
average of 
remaining 

contract 
duration

thomas ebeling 2012 315,000  € 1.58 105,000  € 19.35  € 1.58 210,000  € 1.58  € 1.58 3.00

2011 525,000 € 1.58 210,000 € 15.39 € 1.58 315,000 € 1.58 € 1.58 4.00

axel Salzmann 2012 240,000  € 5.19 60,000  € 19.35  € 1.58 180,000 € 6.39  € 1.58 – € 16.00 2.67

2011 450,000 € 6.39 210,000 € 17.90 € 7.76 240,000 € 5.19 € 1.58 – € 16.00 3.75
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Compensation for Executive Board members who departed in 2012
Andreas Bartl, who left the Executive Board in the year under review, received the following 
compensation in 2012:

The stock options of Andreas Bartl, who resigned from the Executive Board in 2012, developed 
as follows in the reporting period:

Other compensation components
The Company has granted neither loans nor provided guaranties or warranties to the members of 
the Executive Board. 

Total compensation of former Executive Board members 
In the 2012 financial year, total compensation (pensions) was paid to former Executive Board 
members amounting to EUR 0.3 million (previous year: EUR 0.3 million). As of December 31, 2012, 
pension provisions for former members of the Executive Board according to IFRS amounted to 
EUR 8.7 million (previous year: EUR 7.8 million). 

In the 2012 financial year, 51,000 stock options were bought back or exercised by former members 
of the Executive Board. The weighted average strike price was EUR 1.58 per option, the weighted 
average exercise price amounted to EUR 20.49 per option. 

Compensation of exeCutive board member andreas bartl (resigned in 2012) (Fig. 12)

EUR k

Annual salary Total

Multi-year variable 
annual compensation 

(conversion 
from annual 

compensation)

 Expenses from 
share-based 

compensation 
in the financial 

year  Pensions

  
Fixed base 

salary

Variable 
annual 

compen-
sation

Fixed fringe 
benefits2  

  
Current 
service 

cost 3

Defined 
benefit 

obligation

Andreas Bartl 20121 650.0   120.0   16.7   786.7    –    54.2   103.7 448.3   

2011 650.0   364.4   16.1   1,030.5    –    98.4   91.8   305.9   

1   Andreas Bartl was appointed to the Executive Board until February 29, 2012. His contract of employment ended as of December 31, 2012.
2   Includes lease payments for use of company car and insurance premiums (excluding D&O). 
3   Service costs in line with IFRS for the pension entitlement earned in the financial year. Not including entitlements  

from the individual’s own payments (as of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2012).

development of stoCk options of exeCutive board member andreas bartl in the 2012 finanCial year (resigned in 2012) (Fig. 13)

Shares on January 1
Exercised in the financial year / 

bought back Shares on December 31

  Number

Weighted 
average of 

strike prices Number

Weighted 
average 

share price

Weighted 
average of 

strike prices Number

Weighted 
 average of 

strike prices
Range of  

strike prices

Weighted 
average of 
remaining 

contract 
duration

Andreas Bartl 2012 315,000 € 8.45 175,000 € 21.98 € 11.47 140,000 € 4.67 € 1.58 – € 16.00 2.79

2011 425,000  € 8.24 110,000  € 15.39  € 1.58 315,000  € 8.45  € 1.58 – € 16.00 3.52
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Pension provisions 
In the 2012 financial year, there were additions to pension provisions for active and former 
 executive Board members in line with IFrS totaling eur 2.9 million (previous year: eur 1.3 million). 
of this amount, eur 2.4 million was for personnel expenses (previous year: eur 0.9 million) and 
eur 0.5 million (previous year: eur 0.4 million) for interest expenses. as of December 31, 2012, 
pension provisions for active and former executive Board members totaled eur 12.8 million 
 (previous year: eur 10.1 million).

D&O insurance
the executive Board members are involved in group liability insurance (D&o insurance). this 
D&o insurance covers the personal liability risk should executive Board members be made liable 
for financial losses when exercising their professional functions for the Company. the insurance 
includes a deductible according to which an executive Board member against whom a claim is 
made pays a total of 10 % of the claim in each insured event, but not more than 150 % of the 
 respective fixed annual compensation for all insurance events in one insurance year. the rele-
vant figure for calculating the deductible is the fixed remuneration in the calendar year in which 
the infringement of duty occurred.

Compensation Paid to the Supervisory Board
Compensation system for the Supervisory Board
the compensation of the Supervisory Board is set in the articles of incorporation of 
proSiebenSat.1 Media aG. Members of the Supervisory Board receive fixed annual compensa-

tion. It amounts to eur 50,000 for the ordinary Supervisory Board members and eur 100,000 
each for the Chairman and the Vice Chairman. In addition, meeting honoraria are paid for 
 contributing to the committees. this amounts to eur 3,000.00 per meeting attended for ordi-
nary members of the audit and Finance Committee, and eur 1,500.00 per meeting attended for 
ordinary members of any other Committee. Committee Chairmen receive twice the standard 
meeting honorarium. no performance-based variable compensation is granted. 
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Compensation of Supervisory Board members for the 2012 financial year
Supervisory Board members received the following compensation for the 2012 financial year:

In addition to this fixed annual compensation or meeting honoraria, the members of the 
Supervisory Board were reimbursed for all out-of-pocket expenses and received compensa-
tion for the sales tax levied on their compensation and out-of-pocket expenses. 

D&o insurance covers the personal liability risk should Board members be made liable for 
 financial losses when exercising their functions. no deductible has been agreed for members 
of the Supervisory Board.

Members of the Supervisory Board received no remuneration or other consideration for per-
sonal services, especially consulting and mediation services, during the 2012 financial year. 
Members of the Supervisory Board do not receive loans from the Company.

CoMpenSation oF SuperViSory boarD MeMberS For tHe 2012 FinanCial year (Fig. 14)

eur k

  
Fixed base 

compensation
Meeting honoraria 

Presiding Committee

Meeting honoraria 
Audit and Finance 

Committee

Meeting honoraria 
Compensation 

Committee Total

Götz Mäuser 2012 100.0  3.0  15.0  15.0  133.0 

2011 100.0  6.0  12.0  6.0  124.0 

Johannes peter Huth 2012 100.0  –   12.0  6.0  118.0 

2011 100.0  6.0  12.0  7.5  125.5 

Drs. Fred th. J. arp1 2012 31.3  –   –   3.0  34.3 

2011 –   –   –   –   –  

robin Bell-Jones2 2012 25.0  –   9.0  –  34.0 

2011 50.0  3.0  15.0  –   68.0 

Herman M.p. van Campenhout3 2012 25.0  –   –   3.0  28.0 

2011 25.0  –   –   –   25.0 

Gregory Dyke 2012 50.0  –   –   4.5  54.5 

2011 50.0  –   –   4.5  54.5 

Stefan Dziarski1 2012 31.3  1.5  6.0 –  38.8 

2011 –  –   –   –   –  

philip Freise 2012 50.0  1.5  15.0  –  66.5 

2011 50.0  3.0  12.0  –   65.0 

Lord Clive Hollick 2012 50.0  1.5  –   –  51.5 

2011 50.0  3.0  –   –   53.0 

Dr. Jörg rockenhäuser 2012 50.0  1.5   –   –    51.5 

2011  50.0  3.0  –   –   53.0 

adrianus Johannes Swartjes4 2012  –   –   –   –  –  

2011  25.0  –   –   1.5  26.5 

prof. Dr. Harald Wiedmann 2012  50.0  –   30.0  –  80.0 

2011  50.0  –   30.0  –   80.0 

Total 2012  562.6  9.0  87.0  31.5  690.1 

2011  550.0  24.0  81.0  19.5  674.5 

1  Member of the Supervisory Board since May 15, 2012.
2  Member of the Supervisory Board until May 15, 2012.
3  Member of the Supervisory Board from July 1, 2011 until May 15, 2012.
4  Member of the Supervisory Board until June 30, 2011.
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Media Policy Environment

The Broadcasting System in Germany
the German tV market is characterized by a dual broadcasting system with private providers 
as well as financially strong public broadcasting. the private television market is mainly orga-
nized in two families of stations: the proSiebenSat.1 Group, the market leader in the German 
advertising market, and the rtL Group. While the private providers operate as independent 
commercial enterprises, funding of public broadcasting is guaranteed by law and is ensured by 
the license fee. In 2012, the fee was eur 17.98 per tV. In 2000, it was DM 28.25 or eur 14.44. In 
addition, the institutions generate revenues from advertising and sponsorship. In 2012, gross 
advertising revenues of arD totaled eur 262.3 million, while ZDF generated eur 246.5 million. 
In 2011, the corresponding figures were eur 266.8 million for arD and eur 233.1 million for ZDF. 
each year, public broadcasting receives fees of approximately eur 7.5 billion. 

In January 2013, various new legal regulations came into effect. Instead of the device-related 
 license fee, a broadcasting fee is now being charged on all households, regardless of whether 
they own a tV or radio set. In addition, at the start of the year a sponsorship ban came into force 
in public television after 8 p.m. and on Sundays and public holidays. this is in line with private 
broadcasting companies’ demand that public broadcasters stop being funded by advertising. In 
countries such as Great Britain, public broadcasters are funded entirely by revenues from fees. 
For this reason, in no european country do the public broadcasters have similarly high budgets 
to those in Germany. Due to increasing revenues from license fees at the public stations, the 
 financial bases of the private providers in Germany are becoming increasingly imbalanced, as 
the following graph shows:

In order not to endanger the financing model of the private providers, a clear restriction should 
apply to the digital and online services of the public stations in harmony with the public service 
mission. the following examples provide insight into the current competitive situation: 

While a planned joint video-on-demand platform of proSiebenSat.1 Media aG and Mediengruppe 
rtL was prohibited in 2011 due to the dominant position of both companies in the tV advertising 
market, in 2012 subsidiaries of public institutions established the company ”Germany’s Gold“ in 
order to operate a commercial video-on-demand platform. the question of whether this would 
distort competition is currently still being examined by the antitrust authorities.

opportunity report, page 135.

CHanGe in total reVenueS in broaDCaStinG [2000 = 100] (Fig. 15)
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Furthermore, public broadcasting is continuing its expansion with the establishment of new 
digital tV stations. the public stations are reaching fewer and fewer young people with their 
main  channels, arD and ZDF. In 2012, the average market share among 14 to 29 year olds was 
4.7 % for arD and 4.0 % for ZDF. In order to counteract this trend, the public stations are plan-
ning measures such as the establishment of a new channel for young people. Since three public 
news channels, four cultural channels, one entertainment and one service channel, as well as 
the principal stations, are already being financed through license fees, private broadcasters 
consider this excess supply of digital stations should be reviewed before discussing the estab-
lishment of new stations. 

Regulatory conditions for private broadcasting in Germany. In Germany, television is controlled 
by a large number of quantitative and qualitative restrictions and is more heavily regulated than 
other media types. For example, advertising time for German tV stations is restricted to a max-
imum of twelve minutes per hour, while opportunities to place advertising in certain  programs 
are limited. as well as time and content-related advertising restrictions, media concentration 
legislation and programming restrictions regulate private broadcasting in Germany, in addition 
to generally applicable conditions for the protection of young people and of copyright. to ensure 
plurality of opinion, for instance, Sat.1 is legally required to finance regional programs for a total 
of five broadcast areas and to broadcast these parallel to prime time. In accordance with 
the requirements of the Interstate Broadcasting treaty, Sat.1 also funds formats produced 
independently by third-party companies and for the content of which the latter are responsible. 

Globalization of competition demands new media structures. Increasing digitalization and the 
growing importance of online services open up far-reaching opportunities for growth to the 
proSiebenSat.1 Group. at the same time, an increasing number of international competitors such 
as Google and Facebook are entering the German media market that are not subject to the same 
regulatory framework. Due to the increasing prevalence of convergent devices such as smart 
tVs, tablets and smartphones, new media offerings are competing directly with traditional 
 television on the same screens. therefore, proSiebenSat.1 believes that new media structures 
are required that create uniform regulation criteria for all providers of audiovisual content on 
the German market, thus ensuring fair competition. For this reason, in 2013 the proSiebenSat.1 
Group will further intensify the cross-media dialog about reforming the regulation in an increas-
ingly global  market.

Distribution of TV Programs and Technological Conditions
Refinancing via HD distribution revenues is becoming increasingly important. the German 
 media market is dominated by a few large cable network operators. Since the takeover of kabel 
Baden-Württemberg by unitymedia at the end of 2011, there are now only two large providers: 
unitymedia, reaching approximately 6.9 million households, and kabel Deutschland with a reach 
of approximately 8.6 million households. the consolidation continued in 2012, with kabel Deutsch-
land GmbH announcing the acquisition of teleColumbus GmbH, although this still  requires the 
approval of the Federal Cartel office. With approximately one million households, teleColumbus 
is  currently the third-largest cable network operator in Germany.

In Germany, tV stations pay feed-in fees to the large regional cable network operators. Both 
private and public tV stations pay analog suppliers approximately eur 0.22 per household for 
the supply of programs. In contrast, cable network operators in many european markets, such 
as in the majority of Scandinavia, repay part of their revenues to the tV stations for the provision 
of the content. However, refinancing via distribution revenues is becoming increasingly im-
portant for German tV stations. When transmitting their programs in high definition (HD), the 
proSiebenSat.1 stations already take a share in the technical access fees imposed by cable net-
work and IptV platform operators. Since 2010, the proSiebenSat.1 Group has had an agreement 

non-Financial performance 
Indicators, page 106.

opportunity report, page 135.
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with numerous providers such as kabel Deutschland and unitymedia on the supply and transmis-
sion of its German HD stations. In 2012, the Group expanded its IptV agreement with Deutsche 
telekom and also concluded additional agreements with new and existing partners. With the 
growing number of internet-enabled tV sets, revenues from so-called “over-the-top” distribution 
such as video-on-demand services are increasing in importance, alongside revenues from the 
distribution of linear HD services.

Analog satellite signal switched off. In april 2012, Germany was one of the last european 
 countries to switch off the analog satellite signal. Digital transmission is less susceptible to 
faults and enables better sound and picture quality, such as HD television. at the same time, 
more programs can be broadcast with the digital tV signal. In the long-term, the analog cable 
signal is also to be switched off in Germany.

Business and Industry Environment

Economic Environment
according to the International Monetary Fund (IMF), real economic growth in 2012 was at 3.2 % and 
had therefore declined for the second time in succession (previous year: 3.9 %). after a good start, 
the global economic situation was negatively affected over the year by the european debt crisis, 
the subdued growth rate in important emerging economies and uncertainty over the uSa’s fiscal 
path.

the economy in the euro zone was recessive in the past year due to the unsolved sovereign debt 
crisis: after stagnation in the first quarter, there was decline in both the second and the third 
quarter (-0.2 % and -0.1 % respectively on preceding quarter). With minus 0.6 %, the final quarter 
fall significantly below the level of the preceding quarter. For 2012 as a whole, this means a decline 
by 0.5 % (previous year: +1.4 %) of the economic performance in the euro zone.

However, Germany again closed the year significantly better than its large european neighbors, 
even though momentum let up somewhat during the year: In the first and second quarter of 2012, 
GDp grew by 0.5 % and 0.3 % respectively compared to the preceding quarter. In the third quarter, 
economic performance increased by 0.2 % only; the fourth quarter significantly stayed behind the 
preceding quarter with a decline of 0.6 %. In the year as a whole, GDp rose by a total of 0.7 % 
compared to 2011 (previous year: 3.0 %). the German export economy was robust despite the dif-
ficult international environment and the weaker fourth quarter and was again the most important 
driver of growth, climbing 4.1 %. private consumption, too, increased in comparison to the previ-
ous year and strengthened the German economy with growth of 0.8 %. the positive sentiment in 
private consumption was supported by continued stability of the employment market and higher 
household incomes with moderate inflation (+2.0 %).
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Development of the Advertising Market
according to nielsen Media research, gross investments in tV advertising in Germany increased by 
2.0 % to eur 11.34 billion in 2012 (previous year: eur 11.11 billion). In the fourth quarter, gross adver-
tising investments increased by 0.8 % to eur 3.69 billion (previous year: eur 3.66 billion). In this 
environment, the proSiebenSat.1 advertising sales company Sevenone Media increased its gross 
tV revenues in 2012 by 3.2 % to eur 4.85 billion (previous year: eur 4.70 billion). In the fourth 
quarter, too, Sevenone Media was well above the market average with growth of 1.5 % or eur 1.60 
billion (previous year: eur 1.58 billion). thus, Sevenone Media raised its market share by 0.5 per-
centage points to 42.8 % and extended its lead in the German tV market.

Gross expenditure allows only limited conclusions to be drawn on actual advertising revenues, as 
they do not take into account discounts, self-promotional advertising and agency commissions. 
Moreover, the gross figures from nielsen Media research also include tV spots from media-for- 
revenue-share and media-for-equity deals. under these models, the proSiebenSat.1 Group invests 
media services in return for a revenue and/or equity share in start-up companies. the Group intro-
duced the media-for-revenue-share and media-for-equity models in 2009 and reports them in the 
Digital & adjacent segment.

among traditional media, tV grew the most in 2012 with an increase of 0.5 percentage points and 
achieved a share of 43.3 % in the German gross advertising market, while the print industry gave 
up 2.3 percentage points. the internet increased its share in the gross advertising market to 11.0 % 
(previous year: 9.5 %). 

 

perForManCe oF GroSS DoMeStiC proDuCt in GerMany (Fig. 16)
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Glossary, page 264.

SHareS GerMan GroSS tV aDVertiSinG MarKet (Fig. 17)

In percent, 2011 figures in parentheses

  eL-Cartel 5.5 (5.6)

  public stations 4.5 (4.5)

  others 12.6 (13.2) 

Sevenone Media 42.8 (42.3)  

  Ip 34.7 (34.4)

Source: nielsen Media research, Sevenone Media; without n24 and 9Live.
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according to our own estimates, the volume of the German tV advertising market in 2012 based on 
net figures increased year-on-year (+1.0 to +2.0 %). proSiebenSat.1 benefited from the positive 
price trend in the tV advertising market and increased the cost per mille (CpM) of its stations on a 
gross basis (Sat.1: +4.9 %; proSieben +7.1 %; kabel eins +4.7 %). In addition to moderate price in-
creases, the successful expansion of new customer business was an important revenue driver: as 
in the previous year, Sevenone Media turned over more than eur 100 million with new tV  customers 
in 2012. the majority of the top 10 industries increased their tV advertising expenditure and the 
share of the tV budget in the media mix in 2012; the sectors with the highest growth rates were the 
automotive and telecommunications industries.

In 2012, the proSiebenSat.1 Group generated gross revenues of eur 294.9 million by selling online 
advertising space, well ahead of Ip Deutschland, its direct competitor, with eur 180.4 million. 
 Sevenone Media achieved gross revenues of eur 110.6 million by selling online video advertising, 
which is a market share of 44.8 % (Ip Deutschland: 27.5 %). thus, proSiebenSat.1 continued to 
extend its leading position in the sale of video advertising on the internet, too. In 2012, the gross 
volume of the advertising market for online video grew by a considerable 26.4 %, amounting to 
eur 246.8 million (previous year: eur 195.3 million). overall, gross revenues of eur 2.892 billion 
(previous year: eur 2.465 billion) were generated in the German online advertising market, which 
includes video and traditional banner advertising. this corresponds to a growth rate of 17.3 %.

In austria and Switzerland, too, proSiebenSat.1 benefited from market growth and increased its 
share in the gross advertising market. In particular, Sevenone Media austria developed strongly in 
2012 with growth of 1.3 percentage points to 32.2 % (previous year: 30.3 %). In other international 
markets in which the proSiebenSat.1 Group was active in the previous financial year, advertising 
revenues developed inconsistently.

MeDia MiX GerMan GroSS aDVertiSinG MarKet (Fig. 18)

In percent, 2011 figures in parentheses

  online 11.0 (9.5)

  others 11.1 (10.9)

tV 43.3 (42.8)  

  print 34.5 (36.8)

Source: nielsen Media research.

Segment reporting, page 94.
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Development of the Audience Market
two major events shaped the German tV audience market in 2012: the european Football 
 Championship and the olympic Games. While the public broadcasters increased their ratings 
among 14 to 49 year olds by broadcasting the two sporting events (arD: +0.4 percentage points; 
ZDF: +0.6 percentage points), the audience shares of Germany’s major private stations fell short 
of the previous year’s figures.

With its German free tV stations Sat.1, proSieben, kabel eins and sixx, the proSiebenSat.1 Group 
reached a combined audience share of 27.8 % in 2012 (previous year: 28.9 %). this group of 
 stations was once again the market leader among 14 to 49 year olds and was ahead of the rtL 
Group with 27.3 % (previous year: 29.3 %). Women’s station sixx, launched in 2011, doubled its 
annual market share from 0.5 % to 1.0 %, thus making an important contribution to overall 
 ratings. particularly popular were programs of the free tV stations such as “knallerfrauen” (up 
to 21.7 %; Sat.1), “ran — ueFa europa League” (up to 20.3 %; kabel eins) and “the Voice of 
 Germany” (proSieben and Sat.1). the second series of the music show achieved an average audi-
ence share of 23.4 % among 14 to 49 year olds.

the austrian tV channels Sat.1 Österreich, proSieben austria, kabel eins austria, sixx austria 
and puLS 4 extended their lead among private station groups in the last financial year and 
achieved an audience share of 20.8 % in 2012 after 20.2 % in the previous year. programming 
on puLS 4 and the newly launched women’s channel sixx austria scored particularly well with 
audiences. In 2012, puLS 4 posted a ratings increase of 0.4 percentage points to 3.7 % (previous 
year: 3.3 %), thanks to the newly acquired rights to the football Champions League, among other 
things. sixx austria went on air in July 2012 and established itself extremely successfully in the 
austrian tV market in its first six months with an audience share of 1.1 % in the core target group 
of 12 to 49 year olds.

DeVelopMent oF tV aDVertiSinG MarKetS (Fig. 19)

Change from 
previous year

In percent  2012

Germany 2.0

austria 7.0

Switzerland 4.8

Denmark -5.5

Sweden 3.7

norway 5.9

Finland -1.0

Hungary -23.1

romania -15.2

Some of the data presented is based on gross figures and 
therefore only provide a limited idea of what the associated net 
figures will prove to be. Germany: gross, nielsen Media 
research. Austria: gross, Media Focus. Switzerland: gross, 

Media Focus. Denmark: net, DrrB. Sweden: net, IrM. Norway: 
net, IrM. Finland: net, tnS Media Intelligence. Hungary: net, 
own calculations/estimates. Romania: net, own calculations /
estimates.

report “Being there  
is everything”, page 2.
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the northern european tV stations, whose sale the proSiebenSat.1 Group announced in 
 December 2012, also performed positively in the previous financial year. Combined market 
shares increased year-on-year in all Scandinavian countries: In Denmark, kanal 4, kanal 5, 
6’eren and the Voice achieved a combined market share of 18.9 % in 2012 and were thus 
 2.7  percentage points above the previous year (16.2 %). the Group’s Swedish stations posted an 
increase of 0.4 percentage points in combined market share and closed the year at 14.2 % 
 (previous year: 13.8 %). the four norwegian tV channels gained 1.6 percentage points in 2012, 
bringing them to 19.0 %. In Finland, the proSiebenSat.1 Group posted a 1.3 percentage point 
 increase of combined market share to 6.4 % with its stations tV5 and kutonen. In the eastern 
european channels, whose planned sale has been announced, the group market shares  declined.

Development of User Numbers
proSiebenSat.1 networld is one of the leading online networks in Germany and counts approx-
imately 25 million unique users every month. proSiebenSat.1 is already in a good position, 
 especially in the dynamic growth market of online video: as part of its digitalization strategy, 
the Group is successively expanding the internet platform MyVideo to become an online tV 
station. In 2012, MyVideo recorded 7.7 million unique users per month (previous year: 7.9 million). 
the number of users of premium videos on MyVideo rose to 4.32 million per month (previous 
year: 4.03 million). In the year as a whole, the portal’s video views climbed to 490 million, com-
pared to 340 million in the previous year. the number of registered users grew to 11.8 million in 
2012 (previous year: 9.3 million). With its successful “online-first” premieres — where MyVideo 
shows licensed uS series before they are broadcast on German free tV — the portal generated 
44 million video views. 

the Year 2012 at a Glance,  
page 40.

auDienCe SHareS oF tHe proSiebenSat.1 Group (Fig. 20)

In percent Q4 2012 Q4 2011 2012 2011

Germany 27.9 29.6 27.8 28.9

austria 20.7 20.4 20.8 20.2

Switzerland 15.0 15.7 14.6 16.1

Denmark 18.3 16.3 18.9 16.2

Sweden 15.4 15.0 14.2 13.8

norway 19.1 18.1 19.0 17.4

Finland 7.1 5.2 6.4 5.1

Hungary 18.7 18.2 18.5 20.5

romania 6.5 8.1 6.2 7.8

Figures for Germany, austria and Switzerland are based on 
24 hours (Mon – Sun), audience shares in the other countries are 
based on extended prime time (ro, FI: 6 pm to midnight / Se, 
no, Dk, Hu: 5 pm to midnight). Germany: Sat.1, proSieben, 
 kabel eins, sixx; key demographic age 14 – 49; sixx: data released 
only from February 2011; in the 2011 calculation, 0 is used for 
the calculation of January. Austria: Sat.1 Österreich, proSieben 
austria, kabel eins austria, sixx austria (since July 2012), puLS 4; 
key demographic age 12 – 49; sixx austria: in the 2012 calculation, 
0 is used for the calculation of the period up to July 3, 2012; 
market share of July 3 to December 31, 2012: 1.1 %, in the fourth 
quarter: 1.1 %. Switzerland: Sat.1 Schweiz, proSieben Schweiz, 
kabel eins Schweiz; key demographic age 15 – 49; all data are 
 based on daily weighting and since 2011 include solely the use 

of the Swiss signal/program window. Denmark: kanal 4, kanal 
5, 6’eren, the Voice; key demographic age 15 – 50, based on 14 
advertising – financed tV stations. Sweden: kanal 5, kanal 9; 
key demographic age 15 – 44. Norway: tVnorge, FeM, MaX, the 
Voice (to January 22, 2012), VoX (from January 23, 2012); key 
demographic age 12 – 44. Finland: tV5, the Voice (to august 30, 
2012), kutonen (from September 1, 2012); key demographic 
age 15 – 44. Hungary: tV2, FeM3, pro 4 (since March 2011); 
 Super tV2 (since november 2012); key demographic age 18 – 49; 
Super tV2: market share in november 2012: 0.8 %, in December 
2012: 0.7 %. Romania: prima tV, kiss tV; key demographic 
age 15 – 44; due to methodological changes it is not possible 
to compare data from 2011 and 2012.

Glossary, page 264.
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maxdome remains the market leader among video-on-demand providers in Germany. In 2012, 
maxdome considerably expanded its customer base and showed again a revenue growth. at 
the end of the year, the online video library had approximately 800,000 active households 
 (previous year: around 500,000).

a sharp rise in user numbers was seen in online Games, too: the number of registrations on 
proSiebenSat.1 ś online gaming portals almost doubled, growing to 16.0 million (previous year: 
8.2 million). Games from the licensing partnership with Sony online entertainment made a 
 particular contribution to this increase. the market for online games is the world’s fastest 
 growing entertainment industry.

Segment reporting, page 94.

uSe oF online SerViCeS (Fig. 21)

In m 2012 2011

MyVideo (video views) 490.0 340.0

maxdome (active households) 0.8 0.5

online Games (registrations) 16.0 8.2
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Business performance

in 2012, the German economy posted slight growth despite the limited global economic 
development and the ongoing european sovereign debt crisis. Key factors were again the 
good consumer climate and the robust export market. against this backdrop, advertising 
investments in Germany developed positively. the proSiebenSat.1 Group continued to 
 extend its lead in the tV advertising market and in the sale of video content online. in 2012, 
we not only strengthened our strong position in the tV business, but also made great 
progress on the way to becoming a digital entertainment & e-commerce powerhouse by 
expanding in growth areas. Having sold the northern european portfolio, we are concen-
trating on expanding the core business of free tV in German-speaking countries and 
 tapping into pioneering business areas by integrating the television and digital fields.

in the 2012 financial year, we again improved all of the Group’s relevant key financial indi-
cators. on the basis of continuing operations, consolidated revenues increased by 7.1 % to 
eur 2.356 billion (previous year: eur 2.199 billion). recurring ebitDa climbed 2.7 % to 
eur 744.8 million. all segments contributed to this, with the growth segments Digital & 
adjacent and Content production & Global Sales in particular performing extremely 
 dynamically. We also saw high rates of growth in distribution revenues. but we did not just 
increase our profitability in 2012 — we also continued to reduce our level of debt. at the 
end of the year — before reclassification of cash and cash equivalents from the northern 
and eastern european activities held-for-sale — it amounted to eur 1.780 billion (previous 
year: eur 1.818 billion). at the time the Group management report was compiled, the 
proSiebenSat.1 Group had a solid financial and operating basis. We have made a positive 
start to the new 2013 financial year in the tV advertising market. our growth areas are 
continuing to perform dynamically. in the months to come, we will continue to expand our 
strong market position with organic growth and targeted acquisitions.

Comparison of Actual and Expected Business Performance 

the proSiebenSat.1 Group announces its financial targets in the annual report. If necessary, they 
can be adjusted during the year. at the beginning of 2012, the proSiebenSat.1 Group had announced 
its financial targets taking into account its discontinued operations, i.e. including its tV and radio 
portfolio in northern and eastern europe. In the 2012 financial year, the Group increased recurring 
eBItDa including discontinued operations in northern and eastern europe to eur 871.7 million. 
the Group thus surpassed the previous year’s earnings and hit its forecast annual target. the 
proSiebenSat.1 Group also achieved its objectives with regard to revenue growth and raised its 
underlying net income including discontinued activities. at the annual press conference in March 
2012, the Group announced — among other things — that it was targeting higher recurring eBItDa 
than the previous year’s figure of eur 850.0 million. the target was based on the assumption that 
the price level for the sale of tV advertising time would remain at least stable and the economic 
climate in the German core market would stay positive. In addition, the Group anticipated a contin-
uation of the dynamic  development in the growth areas outside the traditional tV business. 

overall assessment of  
the business performance —  

management view.

Inner cover page; 
Changes in the Scope of 
Consolidation, page 73.
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these assumptions proved correct in 2012. However, portfolio optimization and the sale/proposed 
sale of the northern european/eastern european business activities have resulted in substantial 
changes to reporting and segmentation.

For better comparability, the following will therefore consider the figures generated on the basis of 
continuing operations, i.e. excluding the northern and eastern european activities, and compare 
them with the corresponding financial targets at Group level. 

at the beginning of the year, the proSiebenSat.1 Group targeted a mid-single-digit percentage 
 increase in revenues. In fact, revenues from continuing operations also grew by 7.1 % to eur 2.356 
billion. all segments made a contribution here. recurring eBItDa from continuing operations also 
reached a new record figure at eur 744.8 million (2011: eur 725.5 million). the high revenue growth 
and the improvement in the financial result led to an additional eur 58.0 million increase in profit 
from continuing operations to eur 329.1 million. as previously indicated, the interest and financing 
expenses decreased by a total of more than eur 50 million. this was particularly due to a lower 
average level of debt. In this context, the financial result overall improved by 37.9 % or eur 88.3 
million to minus eur 144.4 million. underlying net income from continuing operations increased by 
30.5 % or eur 83.1 million to eur 355.5 million. 

at the beginning of the year, the Group forecast that operating costs would rise in proportion with 
revenues. However, due to more intensive investment in the growth areas, operating costs increased 
by 9.6 % in total, and thus were above the growth rate of Group revenues. In the core business of 
television  financed by advertising, operating costs were kept almost stable as expected. this is the 
result of consistent cost management. 

In the 2011 annual report, we estimated that by 2015 the revenue potential of the Digital & ad-
jacent segment would be more than eur 250 million compared to 2010. at the end of 2012, 
66.7 % or eur 166.7 million had already been achieved. In 2012, the Content production & Global 
Sales segment also posted a considerable revenue  increase of eur 57.8 million. However, due to 
start-up costs resulting from the international expansion of the portfolio, the segment’s recur-
ring eBItDa decreased to eur 4.3 million. at the end of 2011, the program production unit was 
combined with the digital activities and adjacent business area into the Diversification segment, 
thus becoming the object of a common revenues and earnings forecast for 2012 and 2013. on 
this basis, we reached our financial objectives at segment level on the basis of continuing oper-
ations. an overview on a segment basis is presented below. 

We also continued to improve net financial debt in the past financial year. at the end of the year, 
it amounted to eur 1.780 billion including cash and cash equivalents of the northern and east-
ern european business (previous year: eur 1.818 billion). at 2.0 (previous year: 2.1), the leverage 
factor was within the target range of 1.5 to 2.5. 

overall, the Group achieved its financial objectives also on the basis of continuing operations. 
the following chart provides an overview of the figures for 2012 including the northern and 
eastern european activities and the comparative figures for 2011. 

explanatory notes on reporting 
principles, page 70.
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Explanatory Notes on Reporting Principles

Reporting on the basis of continuing operations. In December 2012, the proSiebenSat.1 Group 
sold its northern european television and radio activities to Discovery Communications. as a 
result of the disposal and the consequent focus on the core areas of German-speaking tV and 
digital activities, proSiebenSat.1 Group has also put its eastern european tV and radio activities 
up for sale. 

the following textual analysis of revenues and performance is made on the basis of continuing 
operations, i.e. excluding the sold or held-for-sale activities in northern and eastern europe.

as a result of the requirements of IFrS 5, the companies disposed of and those held for sale in 
northern and eastern europe in the 2012 financial year are posted separately as “discontinued 
operations” both in the income statement and in the cash flow statement. Consequently, earnings 
contributions and cash flows of these activities are not contained in the individual items of the 
income statement and the cash flow statement but are recognized as “results from discontinued 
operations” and “Cash flow from discontinued operations”. the previous-year figures of the 
income statement and the cash flow statement have been adjusted accordingly at consolidated 
and segment level and  adjusted not only for the northern and eastern european activities but 

CoMpariSon oF tHe aCtual anD ForeCaSt buSineSS perForManCe For tHe Group (Fig. 22) 

eur m

Actual figures  
2011 continuing 

operations according 
to 2011 Annual Report1

Actual figures  
2012 including 
 discontinued 

operations1
Forecast for 

20122

Actual figures  
2011 continuing 

operations according 
to 2012 Annual Report3

Actual figures  
2012  

continuing operations3

revenues 2,756.2 2,969.1 (+7.7 %) Increase 2,199.2 2,356.2 (+7.1 %)

operating costs 1,915.7 2,111.0 (-10.2 %) Increase 1,482.9 1,624.6 (-9.6 %)

recurring eBItDa 850.0 871.7 (+2.6 %) Increase 725.5 744.8 (+2.7 %)

underlying net income 309.4 415.1 (+34.2 %) Increase 272.4 355.5 (+30.5 %)

net financial debt  
(per 12/31/) 1,817.8 1,780.44 (+2.1 %) reduction 1,817.84 1,870.85 (-2.9 %) 

Leverage 2.1 2.0 1.5 – 2.5 2.16 2.15 

1 Figures including northern and eastern european activities, excluding the activities in Belgium and the netherlands.
2  2012 forecast on the basis of continuing operations in accordance with the 2011 annual report, i.e. including the northern and eastern european activities,  

excluding the activities in Belgium and the netherlands.
3 Figures excluding northern and eastern european activities.
4 Including cash and cash equivalents from the northern and eastern european business.
5 excluding cash and cash equivalents from the northern and eastern european business.
6  the leverage factor is calculated using net financial debt (as of December 31, 2011) including cash and cash equivalents of the northern and  

eastern european activities of eur 1,817.8 million and recurring eBItDa excluding the Belgian and Dutch business of eur 850.0 million.

CoMpariSon oF tHe aCtual anD ForeCaSt buSineSS perForManCe For tHe SeGMentS1 (Fig. 23)

 Actual figures 2011 Actual figures 2011 Forecast for 2012 Actual figures 2012 Actual figures 2012

 
eur m Revenues Recurring EBITDA Revenues/Recurring EBITDA Revenues Recurring EBITDA 

Broadcasting 
German-speaking 1,903.0 657.7

Stable development  
to slight increase 1,909.5 (+0.3 %) 660.3 (+0.4 %)

 
Digital & adjacent2 254.4 66.9 Significant increase 351.2 (+38.1 %) 89.7 (+34.1 %)

 
Content production & Global Sales2 37.7 9.6 Significant increase 95.4 (>+100 %) 4.3 (-55.2 %)

1 the figures relate to continuing operations.
2 as of the end of the 2011 financial year, the activities were still shown in the Diversification segment. this was the basis for the forecast ”significant increase“. 

Changes in the Scope of 
Consolidation, page 73.
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also for the operations disposed of in Belgium and the netherlands in 2011. For the 2010 financial 
year, the income statement and the cash flow statement were adjusted only for the figures of 
the activities  disposed of in the 2011 financial year. In the 2011 financial year, the Belgian tV 
activities and the Dutch tV and print activities were deconsolidated with the completion of 
the contracts for the sale of the participations in June and July 2011. this means the income 
statement items of these companies are separately reported as the result of discontinued oper-
ations. For 2011, this result from discontinued operations shows net profit and the profit of 
 deconsolidation after taxes. 

In the Group balance sheet, the assets and the liabilities of the held-for-sale operations in 
 northern and eastern europe are reported as “assets held for sale” and “Liabilities in connec-
tion with assets held for sale”. the previous year’s figures were not adjusted.

at the beginning of the 2012 financial year, the Group adjusted its segment reporting on the 
basis of its four-pillar strategy. In the first nine months of 2012 financial year, the segment 
 structure of the Group included the segments Broadcasting German-speaking, Broadcasting 
International, Digital & adjacent and Content production & Global Sales. Due to the sale of the 
northern european activities and of the eastern europe business held-for-sale, which were 
 allocated to the Broadcasting International segment, the Group has reported on the basis of 
continuing operations only in the segments Broadcasting German-speaking, Digital & adjacent 
and Content production & Global Sales since the fourth quarter of 2012. 

Explanatory notes on reporting figures. recurring eBItDa, eBItDa and net financial debt are the 
key financial indicators for the proSiebenSat.1 Group. In addition, analysts often refer to operating 
costs and underlying net income in their estimates, i.e. net income adjusted for non-cash special 
items and expenses from the concluded antitrust proceedings. operating costs are defined as 
total costs excluding depreciation and amortization and non-recurring expenses and are the rele-
vant cost items for calculating recurring eBItDa. recurring eBItDa is defined as earnings before 
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization adjusted for non-recurring  effects. the period or 
group net income is the net result after taxes, interest, depreciation and amortization. therefore, 
the development of these key financial indicators is also described in the following  presentation 
of the Group’s financial position and performance and in the outlook report.

Due to rounding, it is possible that single figures in these Group financial statements do not 
exactly add to the totals shown and that the percentage figures given do not exactly reflect the 
absolute figures they relate to. Change rates are based on a business perspective. Improve-
ments are shown with a plus (+), deterioration with a minus (-).

ProSiebenSat.1 does not report on the basis of order volumes. there are various reasons for 
this. there are framework agreements on volumes to be taken and the conditions underlying 
these with a large number of our advertising customers. In so-called program screenings, 
the proSiebenSat.1 Group informs its customers about the direction of the station planning. 
advertising customers use this preview as an important basis for making decisions about their 
advertising investments for the subsequent year. the price level is primarily based on the 
 factors of audience shares, reach, broadcast time, demand and number of available advertising 
inventory. as is customary in this business, the final budgets are confirmed on a month-by-
month basis — sometimes, however, only in the short term. only then is the revenue level trans-
parent. Furthermore, additional advertising budgets are granted at short time notice  towards 
the end of the year.

Development of the advertising 
market, page 61.
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Major Influencing Factors on Financial Position and Performance 

Impact of General Conditions on the Business Performance
With a share of 75.7 % (previous year: 80.5 %) in total revenues, the proSiebenSat.1 Group gener-
ated the majority of its revenues from the sale of tV advertising time in the 2012 financial year as 
well. 89.7 % (previous year: 90.5 %) of this was attributable to the German tV advertising market.

there is a strong correlation between the development of the tV advertising markets and macro-
economic conditions. at the same time, the advertising market often reacts to macroeconomic 
developments pro-cyclically. For this reason, advertising industry budgets are often allocated in 
the very short term. Furthermore, advertising business is subject to a strong seasonal fluctuation 
like virtually no other industry: the proSiebenSat.1 Group generates a particularly high share 
of its annual advertising revenues from the tV business in the fourth quarter, because both 
 television use and propensity to spend rise significantly during the Christmas season. Generally, 
as in 2012, approximately one third (2012: 33.5 %) of annual revenues and approximately 40 % 
(2012: 38.4 %) of annual recurring eBItDa are generated in the final quarter.

reVenue perForManCe 2012 FroM ContinuinG operationS by reGion (Fig. 24)

In percent, 2011 figures in parentheses

Germany 87.7 (89.8)  

  austria/Switzerland 8.2 (8.1)

  uk 1.1 (0.1)

  uSa 1.2 (0.6)

  other 1.8 (1.4)

Development of the  
advertising Market, page 61.

economic environment, page 60, 
and risk report, page 118.

reVenue perForManCe 2012 FroM ContinuinG operationS by quarter (Fig. 25)

eur m, 2011 figures in parentheses

Q1-Q4    2,356.2 (2,199.2)

Q4          789.3 (712.4)

Q3          506.5 (473.7)

Q2         560.9 (542.7)

Q1          499.5 (470.4)
 

reCurrinG ebitDa perForManCe 2012 FroM ContinuinG operationS by quarter (Fig. 26)

eur m, 2011 figures in parentheses

Q1-Q4    744.8 (725.5)

Q4         285.7 (281.9)

Q3         141.0 (143.8)

Q2         195.9 (194.0)

Q1          122.2 (105.7)
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In order to make its growth less dependent on cyclical fluctuations in the advertising industry, 
the proSiebenSat.1 Group will continue to advance its diversification strategy. our objective is 
to open up additional sources of revenues outside the core business, free tV financed by 
 advertising, and to further increase their share in total revenues.

In 2012, economic development in Germany again proved to be considerably more robust than 
that of its large european neighbors, even though momentum let up somewhat during the year. 
In this context, there were positive signs for the advertising industry as well. In the year as a 
whole, the Group posted an increase in tV advertising revenues with its tV station groups in all 
three German-speaking television markets. Due to the broadcast of the european Football 
 Championship and the olympic Games in the competing schedules of the public broadcasters, 
the audience shares of the large German private stations remained below the level of the 
 previous year. this regressive development did not subdue tV advertising income growth 
 significantly. the Group rather implemented moderate price rises and scored with viewers and 
advertising customers particularly at the important prime time due to outstanding programs 
such as “the Voice of Germany”, with ratings of up to 30.2 %.

the proSiebenSat.1 Group generated the majority of its revenues (92.9 %) in the euro zone 
(previous year: 95.2 %). therefore, currency fluctuations had only a marginal influence on revenues 
and earnings performance in 2012 as well. Furthermore, proSiebenSat.1 limits exchange rate 
fluctuations, which in particular could arise from the purchase of licensed programs in the 
uSa, by using derivative financial instruments. In 2012, transaction effects did not have a 
 material impact on the revenues and earnings performance of the Group and its segments. as 
well as currency-related effects, changing interest rates could impact the company’s earnings 
situation. In the 2012 financial year, the impact was not significant. In 2012, the Group’s  interest 
expenses declined considerably year-on-year due to the lower average level of Group debt as 
well as lower euribor money market rates.

Changes in the Scope of Consolidation
Disposal of business activities in Northern Europe. at the end of 2012, the proSiebenSat.1 Group 
sold its northern european television and radio activities to Discovery Communications. the 
transaction was based on an enterprise value of eur 1.325 billion. the relevant agreement was 
signed in the middle of December. the completion of the transaction is still subject to anti-trust 
approvals and is expected by the middle of april 2013. after the completion of the sale, the 
northern european activities, which are shown as discontinued operations in both the income 
statement and the cash flow statement for 2012, will be deconsolidated. the disposed portfolio 
covers all tV and radio activities of the Group in norway, Sweden, Finland and Denmark. the 
program production unit in northern europe (red arrow entertainment Group) is not part of 
the transaction.

With the disposal of its northern european activities, the proSiebenSat.1 Group is even more 
strongly focusing on its German-speaking tV and digital activities, the two areas with the 
 highest growth and synergy potential. In this context, the Group has also put its tV and radio 
activities in eastern europe up for sale. 

Acquisition of a majority interest in Left/Right Holdings LLC. In august 2012, in the course 
of the international expansion of its program production business, proSiebenSat.1 acquired a 
majority stake in the american production company Left/right Holdings LLC via the red arrow 
entertainment Group. Left/right is one of the leading tV production companies on america’s 

Group earnings, page 76.

risk report, page 118.

Group Financial position and 
performance, page 83.

explanatory notes on  
reporting principles, page 70.
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east coast and is red arrow’s biggest acquisition so far. Left/right has been fully consolidated 
since august 2012. With the acquisition, red arrow has strengthened its position in the united 
States, the world’s largest tV market. 

In 2012, there were no other events which had a significant impact on the earnings, financial 
position and performance of the Group and its segments. However, the proSiebenSat.1 Group 
optimized its portfolio further on the basis of various strategic acquisitions. alongside the 
 international expansion of the program production business, the Group expanded with 
 participations, particularly in the digital business. 

In 2012, these in particular included “media-for-revenue share” and “media-for-equity” deals. 
under these contracts, the proSiebenSat.1 Group invests media services in return for a revenue 
or equity share in start-up companies. our Ventures portfolio includes more than 50 partners, 
including stakes in a wide variety of online companies across the digital and lifestyle spectrum. 
It thus has a high degree of correlation to the target group characteristics of the proSiebenSat.1 
station family. the majority interests acquired in 2012 include the search  machine marketing 
company Booming GmbH and the price comparison platform preis24.de GmbH. these acqui-
sitions were concluded in May and September 2012 respectively and have since been fully 
consolidated. In august, the Group acquired the online travel business tropo GmbH. We also 
expanded our digital business further with the acquisition of a majority interest in Covus 
 Ventures, a company jointly owned by SevenVentures and the Covus Group, in September 2012. 
the main objective of Covus Ventures is to form and develop new business models and establish 
them in the market. using new ways of generating revenues apart from traditional tV adver-
tising, we are pursuing the objective of participating in the dynamic development of trend and 
growth markets, at the same time becoming less dependent on the tV advertising market and 
its economic fluctuations. 

the following table gives an overview of selected portfolio measures. You will find further 
 information relating to 2012 events on pages 40 to 41. the impact on reporting is described on 
page 70.
 
portFolio MeaSureS anD CHanGeS in tHe SCope oF ConSoliDation in 2012 (Fig. 27)

Broadcasting  
German-speaking segment

acquisition of the private austrian station austria 9 tV in March 2012  
(relaunch as sixx austria on July 3, 2012) 
> Fully consolidated since april 2012

Broadcasting International 
segment

Launch of the new free tV station VoX in norway in January 2012

acquisition of three new radio stations (radioselskabet af 1/7 2007 apS, newradio apS 
and radio klassisk apS) by the Danish SBS radio group in June 2012 
> Fully consolidated since august 2012

Launch of the new free tV station kutonen in Finland in September 2012

Launch of the new free tV station Super tV2 in Hungary in november 2012 

Disposal of the tV and radio activities in norway, Sweden, Finland and Denmark. 
> purchase agreements signed on December 14, 2012

a detailed explanation  
of the Group structure can  

be found on pages 42 to 46.  
For more information on  

current changes in the scope  
of consolidation, refer to the 

 notes from page 162 onwards.  
a detailed commentary on 

reporting in line with IFrS 5  
can be found in the chapter 

explanatory notes on  
reporting principles, page 70.
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portFolio MeaSureS anD CHanGeS in tHe SCope oF ConSoliDation in 2012 — ContinueD

Digital & Adjacent segment Foundation of the Sugarray GmbH creative agency (wholly owned subsidiary) 
> Fully consolidated since February 2012

Majority interest in the Munich-based search engine marketing company  
Booming GmbH in May 2012 
> Fully consolidated since May 2012

Launch of the new pay tV station proSieben Fun in June 2012

Majority interest in the online travel business tropo GmbH in august 2012 
> Fully consolidated since September 2012

Majority interest in the price comparison site preis24.de GmbH in September 2012 
> Fully consolidated since September 2012

Majority interest in Covus Ventures GmbH, a company jointly  
owned by SevenVentures and the Covus Group 
> Fully consolidated since october 2012

Content Production &  
Global Sales segment

Majority interest in British production company CpL productions Ltd. in February 2012 
> Fully consolidated since March 2012

Majority interest in the British tV and film production company endor productions Ltd. 
in March 2012 
> Fully consolidated since april 2012

Majority interest in the British production company new entertainment research and 
Design Ltd. (nerD tV) in May 2012 
> Fully consolidated since June 2012

Majority interest in the Israeli production company July august Communications and 
productions Ltd. in May 2012 
> Fully consolidated since June 2012

Majority interest in the uS production company Left/right Holdings LLC in august 2012 
> Fully consolidated since august 2012

red arrow International opens branch in Hong kong 
> Fully consolidated since December 2012 

portFolio MeaSureS anD CHanGeS in tHe SCope oF ConSoliDation in 2011 (Fig. 28)

Broadcasting International 
segment

Launch of pro4 in Hungary in January 2011 

Sale of the tV and print activities in Belgium and the netherlands  
> Deconsolidation of the activities in Belgium in June 2011  
> Deconsolidation of the activities in the netherlands in July 2011 

Disposal of the Greek radio station Lampsi FM  
> Deconsolidation in September 2011 

Sale of Bulgarian radio stations 
> Deconsolidation in november 2011

Sale of the Bulgarian music channel the Voice tV  
> Deconsolidation in november 2011

Digital & Adjacent segment acquisition of a further 50 % of maxdome GmbH & Co. kG 
> Fully consolidated since January 2011 

Majority interest in Covus Games GmbH 
operator of browsergames.de and 100 % acquisition of burda:ic  
> Full consolidation of Covus Games since May 2011, burda:ic since July 2011 

transmission of the call tV station 9Live discontinued in august 2011 

Content Production &  
Global Sales segment 

 
 
 
 

Majority interest in the British production company, the Mob Film Holdings Limited.,  
in March 2011  
> Fully consolidated since april 2011 

Majority interest in the uS production company Fabrik entertainment 2.0 LLC 
(previously Fuse entertainment) 
> Fully consolidated since December 2011

Majority interest in the Swedish production company Hard Hat aB 
> affiliated company as of December 2011, fully consolidated as of January 2012
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Group Earnings

the following analysis of the revenue and earnings performance in 2012 relates to continuing 
operations, unless otherwise indicated.

the reconciliation below gives an overview of selected key figures in the income statement, 
taking into account the business held for sale in northern and eastern europe.

explanatory notes on  
reporting principles, page 70,  

Changes in the Scope of 
Consolidation, page 73.

Key FiGureS oF tHe proSiebenSat.1 Group For 2012 (Fig. 29) 

ProSiebenSat.1 including 
discontinued operations

Discontinued  
operations

ProSiebenSat.1  
continuing operations

eur m 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

revenues 2,969.1 2,975.2 612.9 776.0 2,356.2 2,199.2

operating costs1 2,111.0 2,083.6 486.4 600.8 1,624.6 1,482.9

total costs 2,389.3 2,339.6 620.5 711.7 1,768.8 1,628.0

Cost of sales 1,607.3 1,641.5 340.9 456.1 1,266.4 1,185.4

Selling expenses 354.3 364.0 124.4 155.9 229.9 208.1

administrative expenses 316.0 305.3 72.1 93.2 243.9 212.1

other operating expenses 111.7 28.8 83.1 6.5 28.6 22.4

eBIt 593.7 990.9 -7.2 410.4 600.9 580.5

recurring eBItDa2 871.7 901.1 126.9 175.7 744.8 725.5

non-recurring items3 -78.3 238.2 -13.9 311.2 -64.4 -73.0

eBItDa 793.4 1,139.3 113.0 486.8 680.4 652.5

Consolidated net profit attributable 
to shareholders of proSiebenSat.1 
Media aG 295.0 637.5 -29.7 373.3 324.7 264.2

underlying net income4 415.1 685.3 59.6 412.9 355.5 272.4

1 total costs excl. D&a and non-recurring expenses.  
2 eBItDa before non-recurring (exceptional) items. 
3 non-recurring expenses netted against non-recurring income. 
4  Consolidated profit for the period, before the effects of purchase price allocation and non-cash currency  

valuation effects as well as expenses incurred for the antitrust proceedings in 2012.

Explanation of reporting principles in the fourth quarter or  the 
2012 financial year: the figures for 2012 relate to the key figures 
from continuing operations reported in line with IFrS 5, i.e. not 
taking into account the sold or held-for-sale activities in Scandinavia 
and eastern europe. For the income statement and the cash flow 
statement, the figures for 2011 were also adjusted for the figures 
of the activities in Belgium and the netherlands disposed of in 
2011. For the 2010 financial year, the income statement and the 
cash flow statement were adjusted only for the figures of the 

 activities disposed of in the 2011 financial year. In the 2011 financial 
year, the Belgian tV activities and the Dutch tV and print activities 
were deconsolidated with the completion of the contracts for the 
sale of the participations in June and July 2011. this means the in-
come statement items of these companies are separately reported 
as the result of discontinued operations. For 2011, this result from 
discontinued operations shows net profit and the profit of decon-
solidation after taxes.
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Revenue and Earnings Performance on the Basis of Continuing Operations
In 2012, the proSiebenSat.1 Group’s consolidated revenues grew by 7.1 % or eur 157.1 million to 
eur 2.356 billion. all segments made a contribution to this positive revenue performance. In the 
fourth quarter, which is seasonally most important, the Group generated 33.5 % of its annual 
revenues in the reporting period. 

the highest contribution to the increase in revenues in 2012 was made by the proSiebenSat.1 
Group’s growth areas. these include all of the Group’s revenue models outside the traditional 
tV advertising business. they are shown in the Digital & adjacent and Content production & 
Global Sales segments. the Group’s digital and adjacent activities were the strongest growth 
driver in 2012. Here, the Ventures unit with the media-for-revenues-share business model 
made the most important contribution. the music business, the video-on-demand portal 
 maxdome and the online games business also contributed to the dynamic revenue performance. 
at eur 446.7 million, the contribution of the Digital & adjacent and Content production & 
Global Sales segments to consolidated revenues increased year-on-year to 19.0 % in total 
 (previous year: 13.3 %). 

In the core business of advertising-financed free tV — recognized in the Broadcasting  German- 
speaking segment — the revenues of eur 1.910 billion remained at the previous year’s level 
(+0.3 %). this corresponds to a share of 81.0 % (previous year: 86.7 %) of consolidated annual 
revenues. 

Key FiGureS oF tHe proSiebenSat.1 Group For tHe FourtH quarter oF 2012 (Fig. 30) 

ProSiebenSat.1 including 
discontinued operations

Discontinued  
operations

ProSiebenSat.1  
continuing operations

eur m Q4 2012 Q4 2011 Q4 2012 Q4 2011 Q4 2012 Q4 2011

revenues 970.4 874.2 181.0 161.8 789.3 712.4

operating costs1 657.0 560.8 147.5 126.1 509.5 434.7

total costs 791.6 631.3 237.5 164.6 554.1 466.7

Cost of sales 492.7 451.8 105.3 109.6 387.4 342.3

Selling expenses 108.1 87.8 32.2 32.9 76.0 54.9

administrative expenses 88.6 82.5 25.4 15.7 63.2 66.8

other operating expenses 102.2 9.2 74.7 6.5 27.6 2.7

eBIt 185.0 237.9 -56.4 -11.5 241.3 249.3

recurring eBItDa2 319.4 317.8 33.7 35.8 285.7 281.9

non-recurring items3 -25.0 -42.8 -8.5 -27.4 -16.5 -15.4

eBItDa 294.4 275.0 25.2 8.5 269.3 266.5

Consolidated net profit attributable 
to shareholders of proSiebenSat.1 
Media aG 99.0 129.9 -78.6 -36.3 177.6 166.2

underlying net income4 174.0 151.7 -4.9 -24.2 178.9 175.9

1 total costs excl. D&a and non-recurring expenses.  
2 eBItDa before non-recurring (exceptional) items. 
3 non-recurring expenses netted against non-recurring income. 
4  Consolidated profit for the period, before the effects of purchase price allocation and non-cash currency  

valuation effects as well as expenses incurred for the antitrust proceedings in 2012. 

Explanation of reporting principles in the fourth quarter or  the 
2012 financial year: the figures for 2012 relate to the key figures 
from continuing operations reported in line with IFrS 5, i.e. not 
taking into account the sold or held-for-sale activities in Scandinavia 
and eastern europe. For the income statement and the cash flow 
statement, the figures for 2011 were also adjusted for the figures 
of the activities in Belgium and the netherlands disposed of in 
2011. For the 2010 financial year, the income statement and the 
cash flow statement were adjusted only for the figures of the 

 activities disposed of in the 2011 financial year. In the 2011 financial 
year, the Belgian tV activities and the Dutch tV and print activities 
were deconsolidated with the completion of the contracts for the 
sale of the participations in June and July 2011. this means the in-
come statement items of these companies are separately reported 
as the result of discontinued operations. For 2011, this result from 
discontinued operations shows net profit and the profit of decon-
solidation after taxes.

Segment reporting, page 94.
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this means that the proportion of revenues sources has shifted further in favor of the Group’s 
growth areas: 

Other operating income amounted to eur 13.4 million after eur 9.3 million in the comparative 
period (+44.8 %). 

In 2012, the proSiebenSat.1 Group consistently invested in growth areas such as new tV stations, 
the global expansion of the program production portfolio and the development of the digital busi-
ness. as a result, costs increased as expected in the year under review. Total costs of the Group, 
comprising cost of sales, selling expenses and administrative expenses, as well as other operating 
expenses, increased by 8.6 % or eur 140.8 million in the reporting  period to eur 1.769 billion. 

the majority of the cost increase can be attributed to higher cost of sales, which increased by 
6.8 % or eur 81.0 million to eur 1.266 billion in total. the main reason for this is higher produc-
tion costs in the Digital & adjacent and Content production & Global Sales growth areas. they 
increased by 61.5 % or eur 64.5 million to eur 169.3 million (previous year: eur 104.8 million). 
In addition to this revenues-driven cost increase, higher depreciation and amortization of prop-
erty, plant and equipment of intangible assets, which increased by eur 12.2 million to eur 37.1 
million (previous year: eur 24.9 million), also had an effect. on the other hand, the consumption 
of programming assets, included in cost of sales, decreased by 3.0 % to eur 838.7 million (pre-
vious year: eur 864.3 million). the previous-year figure includes unscheduled  impairments 
taken on the programming assets of 9Live. 
 
Administrative expenses increased by 15.0 % or eur 31.8 million to eur 243.9 million. Selling 

expenses rose by 10.4 % to eur 229.9 million (previous year: eur 208.1 million). 

Other operating expenses amounted to eur 28.6 million, 27.9 % or eur 6.2 million higher than 
in the comparative period. the previous-year figure includes impairments of eur 11.2 million on 
the brand value of 9Live and impairments or losses of eur 9.3 million in connection with the 
disposal of subsidiaries in Greece and Bulgaria. 

total costs include non-recurring expenses of eur 64.7 million (previous year: eur 73.1 million). 
at eur 33.5 million, the majority of the non-recurring expenses are connected to the antitrust 
proceedings concluded in the fourth quarter 2012 and provisions for additional payments to 

reVenueS by SeGMent FroM ContinuinG operationS (Fig. 31)

In percent, 2011 figures in parentheses

Broadcasting   
German-speaking 81.0 (86.7)

  Content production &  
                                                                  Global Sales 4.1 (1.7)

  Digital & 
                                                adjacent 14.9 (11.6)

notes, page 194.

For further information, refer  
to the risk report, page 118,  

and notes, page 193 and 223.
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bestseller authors. the non-recurring expenses are reported under other operating expenses 
or in cost of sales. other non-recurring expenses arose from acquisitions in the Group’s growth 
areas and in the course of consulting projects.

In 2012, the proSiebenSat.1 Group posted a total increase in depreciation and amortization of 
10.4 % to eur 79.5 million (previous year: eur 72.0 million). this includes amortization of intangi-
ble assets of eur 55.2 million (previous year: eur 51.0 million) and depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment of eur 24.3 million (previous year: eur 21.0 million). 

Operating costs — total costs adjusted for non-recurring expenses and depreciation and amortiza-
tion — increased by 9.6 % or eur 141.7 million to eur 1.625 billion for the reasons given. While oper-
ating costs posted an increase in the growth areas due to the expansion of business activities and 
as a result of investments and acquisitions, in the existing core business they remained almost at 
the previous year’s level (+1.1 %). this is the result of consistent cost management with the goal of 
using resources efficiently by bundling them. 

revenue growth resulted in an increase of eBItDa before and after non-recurring items. EBITDA 
year-on-year increased by 4.3 % to eur 680.4 million (previous year: eur 652.5 million). It 
 includes the income-reducing non-recurring expenses described above amounting to eur 64.7 
million (previous year: eur 73.1 million), which are offset by non-recurring income of eur 0.2 
million (previous year: eur 0.1 million). Recurring EBITDA adjusted for these non-recurring 
 effects grew by 2.7 % to eur 744.8 million (previous year: eur 725.5 million). the recurring 
eBItDa margin was 31.6 % (previous year: 33.0 %). 

total CoStS FroM ContinuinG operationS (Fig. 32)

eur m

2012 
1,266.4 229.9 243.9

   1,768.8

2011 
1,185.4 208.1 212.1

   1,628.0

 Cost of sales  Selling expenses  administrative expenses  other operating expenses

28.6

22.4

reConCiliation oF operatinG CoStS FroM ContinuinG operationS (Fig. 33)

eur m 2012 2011

total costs 1,768.8 1,628.0

non-recurring expenses -64.7 -73.1

Depreciation and amortization1 -79.5 -72.0

operating costs 1,624.6 1,482.9

1 Depreciation, amortization and impairment of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment.

Glossary, page 262.

Glossary, page 262.

79Group ManaGeMent report

Business performance

G
r

o
u

p
 M

a
n

a
G

e
M

e
n

t 
r

e
p

o
r

t



the following table shows a reconciliation of eBItDa before and after non-recurring effects: 

In 2012, the financial result improved by a considerable 37.9 % or eur 88.3 million to minus 
eur 144.4 million. the change is based on the positive development of the interest result and 
the other financial result. the interest result improved by 22.3 % or eur 43.9 million to minus 
eur 153.2 million. Lower interest expenses resulting from the lower average level of Group 
debt and lower interest rate levels had a positive effect here. the other financial result 
 improved by eur 37.3 million to minus eur 1.5 million (previous year: minus eur 38.8 million). 
the previous year’s figure includes one-off expenses in connection with the maturity extension 
and the early repayment of loans as well as the related unwinding of interest rate hedges. 

In 2012, the proSiebenSat.1 Group increased its earnings before taxes significantly by 31.2 % or 
eur 108.7 million to eur 456.5 million. In addition to the revenue growth, the improvement of 
the financial result had a major positive effect on the pre-tax result. after income taxes of eur 
127.4 million (previous year: eur 76.7 million), the Group generated net income from continuing 
operations of eur 329.1 million (previous year: eur 271.1 million). the tax rate was 27.9 % 
 (previous year: 22.1 %). the net profit after taxes and non-controlling interests from continuing 

operations rose to eur 324.7 million and thus exceeded the previous year figure by 22.9 % or 
eur 60.5 million. Underlying net income from continuing operations increased by 30.5 % 
or eur 83.1 million year-on-year to eur 355.5 million. underlying net income is adjusted for 
 non-cash special items as well as expenses of eur 27.7 million from the concluded antitrust 
proceedings. underlying net  income results in basic earnings per preference share for continu-
ing operations of eur 1.69 (previous year: eur 1.29); the adjusted basic earnings per common 
share for continuing operations amount to eur 1.67 (previous year: eur 1.28). 

reConCiliation oF reCurrinG ebitDa FroM ContinuinG operationS (Fig. 34)

eur m 2012 2011

profit before income taxes 456.5 347.8

Financial result -144.4 -232.7

ebit 600.9 580.5

Depreciation and amortization1 79.5 72.0

thereof from purchase price allocations 4.4 22.9

ebitDa 680.4 652.5

non-recurring items2 64.4 73.0

recurring ebitDa 744.8 725.5

1 Depreciation/amortization and impairment of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment.  
2  non-recurring expenses of eur 64.7 million (previous year: eur 73.1 million) less non-recurring income of eur 0.2 million  

(previous year: eur 0.1 million).

Glossary, page 262.
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Revenue and Earnings Performance Including Discontinued Operations
Consolidated revenues including discontinued operations in northern and eastern europe at 
eur 2.969 billion remained at the previous year’s level of eur 2.975 billion. the corresponding 
recurring EBITDA fell by 3.3 % to eur 871.7 million (previous year: eur 901.1 million). the pre-
vious year’s figures include earnings contributions, deconsolidation effects and profit from 
the sale of the subsidiaries in Belgium and the netherlands amounting to eur 375.0 million. 
the Belgian and the Dutch activities were deconsolidated in June and July 2011. 
 
Including discontinued operations, EBITDA was eur 793.4 million. the previous year figure of eur 
1,139 billion is determined by the proceeds from the disposal of the Belgian and Dutch activities in 
the amount of eur 335.8 million. the eBItDa including discontinued operations in the year of 
2012 contains non-recurring items of minus eur 78.3 million (previous year: eur 238.2 million). 
non-recurring expenses primarily arose from the antitrust proceedings concluded in the fourth 
quarter of 2012 and provisions for additional payments to bestseller authors. other non- 
recurring items resulted from the  process of disposing of the northern and eastern european 
tV and  radio activities.   

Earnings from discontinued operations before taxes decreased by eur 412.2 million to minus eur 
6.2 million. this takes into account the earnings contributions from the activities in northern and 
eastern europe for 2012. 

overall, net profit after taxes and non-controlling interests including discontinued operations 
decreased to eur 295.0 million. this equates to a decline of 53.7 % or eur 342.5 million. the 
previous-year figure includes the high tax-free profit of eur 335.8 million from the sale of the 
Dutch and Belgian operations. adjusted for the impairment on goodwill of the eastern european 
activities of eur 57.4 million, other non-cash items such as amortization from purchase price 
allocations (ppa) after tax of eur 35.0 million, and additional expenses of eur 27.7 million from 
the concluded antitrust proceedings, underlying net income including discontinued operations 

reached eur 415.1 million (previous year: eur 685.3 million). 

reConCiliation oF unDerlyinG net inCoMe FroM ContinuinG operationS (Fig. 35)

eur m 2012 2011

Consolidated net profit (after non-controlling interests) 324.7 264.2

amortization from purchase price allocations (after tax)1 3.1 3.5

Impairment in connection with original purchase price allocations (after tax)2 - / - 13.9

Valuation effects from the first time consolidation of maxdome - / - -18.2

Impairment of ZeniMax - / - 9.0

expenses from the concluded antitrust proceedings 27.7 - / -

underlying net income 355.5 272.4

1 amortization of purchase price allocations before tax: eur 4.4 million (previous year: eur 4.5 million). 
2  Impairment before tax: eur 0.0 million (previous year: eur 18.4 million).

For further information, refer  
to the risk report, page 118,  

and notes, page 193 and 223.
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Group Financial Position and Performance

Principles and Objectives of Financial Management
risk control and the centralized management are key principles of proSiebenSat.1 Group’s 
financial management. Financial management is centrally managed by the Group Finance & 
treasury department at proSiebenSat.1 Media aG. this department manages the Group’s 
financing activities and is the contact for all managing directors and employees in the Group 
responsible for finance. the prevailing objectives of our financial management are:

 >  to ensure that the entire proSiebenSat.1 Group remains solvent by managing its liquidity 
 efficiently across the organization,

 >  to secure its financial flexibility and stability, in other words, maintaining and optimizing its 
ability to obtain funding,

 >  to manage its financial risks by using derivative financial instruments.

the Group financial management covers the capital structure management and corporate 
 funding, cash and liquidity management, and the management of market price risks, counter-
party risks and credit default risks.

reConCiliation oF reVenueS inCluDinG DiSContinueD operationS (Fig. 36)

eur m

2012 
2,356.2 612.9

    2,969.1

2011 
2,199.2 776.0

    2,975.2

 continuing operations  discontinued operations

reConCiliation oF ConSoliDateD net proFit aFter Minority intereStS inCluDinG DiSContinueD 
operationS (Fig. 37)

eur m

2012    
324.7

   295.0

2011 
264.2 373.3

   637.5

 continuing operations  discontinued operations

-29.7

Glossary, page 262. 
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 >  the aim of capital structure management is to optimize the way in which the Group’s capital 
structure and funding are organized by employing a range of financial instruments. these 
include equity or equity-like instruments as well as debt instruments. In its choice of suitable 
instruments, the Company takes into account factors such as the level of market receptivity, 
funding terms and conditions, flexibility or restrictions, diversification of the investor base 
and maturity profiles. the proSiebenSat.1 Group raises and manages its debt funding on a 
centralized basis. this enables the Group to obtain economies of scale and optimize its cost 
of capital. In connection with the capital management structure at the proSiebenSat.1 Group, 
managing leverage is given particular priority.

 >  as part of its cash and liquidity management, the Group optimizes and centralizes cash flows 
and secures liquidity across the Group. Cash pooling is an important tool here. using rolling, 
Group-wide liquidity planning the proSiebenSat.1 Group captures and forecasts both 
 operating cash flows and cash flows from non-operating activities, thus deriving liquidity 
surpluses or requirements. Liquidity requirements are  covered either by existing cash 
 positions or the revolving credit facility (rCF).

 >  the management of market price risks comprises centrally managed interest rate and 
 currency management. the objective is to limit the effects of interest and currency volatility 
to Group profit and cash flow. Cash instruments as well as derivatives such as conditional and 
unconditional forward transactions are deployed. these instruments are used exclusively for 
hedging purposes.

 >  the management of counterparty and credit default risks centers on trading relationships 
and creditor exposure to financial institutions. When entering into trading transactions, the 
proSiebenSat.1 Group pays attention to ensuring that business is widely diversified involving 
counterparties of sufficiently high credit quality. For this purpose, the Group draws on 
 external ratings supplied by international agencies. the Group’s risk with respect to financial 
institutions primarily arises from its investment of cash and cash equivalents and from its 
use of derivatives as part of its interest-rate and currency management activities.

Borrowings
In December 2012, the proSiebenSat.1 Group sold its television and radio activities in northern 
europe. the Group intends to use part of the sales proceeds totaling eur 500 million to repay 
term loans under the syndicated facilities agreement of the proSiebenSat.1 Group ahead of 
maturity. In 2011, as a result of the disposal of the tV and print activities in Belgium and the 
netherlands, the proSiebenSat.1 Group already prepaid a third of its term loans totaling eur 
1.2 billion, at the same time extending a significant portion of its remaining loans to July 2016. 
the Group thus improved its capital structure on a sustained basis.

Glossary, page 262. 

Financial risks, page 129.

Changes in the Scope of 
Consolidation, page 73, 

explanatory notes on reporting 
principles, page 70.

Glossary, page 262.
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Financing Structure
as of December 31, 2012, the financial debt of the proSiebenSat.1 Group comprised 59.9 % 
 non-current loans and borrowings (December 31, 2011: 65.0 %) and 5.9 % current loans and 
 borrowings (December 31, 2011: 0.0 %). 

an essential part of the Group‘s funding comprises secured term loans (term Loan B, C and D) 
with different maturities. In addition to these term loans, which are carried as non-current loans 
and borrowings, the secured facilities agreement includes a revolving credit facility (rCF), 
which has been divided into two tranches with differing maturities since May 2012.

 >  as of December 31, 2012, the nominal value of the term loans was unchanged at eur 2.360 
billion.

 >  the available amount of the revolving credit facility has been reduced from its original amount 
of eur 600.0 million to the current level of eur 590.0 million (December 31, 2011: eur 568.4 
million). this is due to the default of certain lenders as a result of the financial crisis. at the 
end of May 2012, the proSiebenSat.1 Group extended the maturity of the major portion of this 
credit facility to July 2016, and issued as the new rCF 2. the remaining facility amount (rCF 1) 
continues to mature in July 2014. to the end of the year, further portions of the rCF 1 were 
extended. In this context, as of the reporting date, the rCF 2 amounted to eur 359.4 million 
and rCF 1 was eur 230.6 million. 

as of December 31, 2012, the cash drawing on the revolving credit facilities was eur 230.6 
million. as of the reporting date, the Group had total available facilities of eur 359.4 million 
(December 31, 2011: eur 548.4 million). the Group can draw down these facilities on a revolv-
ing basis for general corporate purposes.

 Furthermore, the proSiebenSat.1 Group has concluded lease contracts for property at the 
unterföhring site. In line with IFrS, these are largely classified as finance leases. this real 
estate is capitalized as property, plant and equipment and the respective leasing obligations 
are recognized as other financial liabilities. the real estate leases end in 2019 at the earliest. 
there are also smaller-scale leases for technical equipment. the proSiebenSat.1 Group re-
ported liabilities under finance leases totaling eur 98.8 million as of December 31, 2012 
(previous year: eur 101.0 million). there were no other significant off-balance sheet financing 
instruments.

Glossary, page 262.

Debt FinanCinG anD MaturitieS aS oF DeCeMber 31, 2012 (Fig. 38)

eur m

2,500

2,000

1,500

1,000

  500

    0
July 2014 July 2014 July 2015 July 2016 July 2016

Rating of the  
ProSiebenSat.1 Group: 

Credit ratings represent an 
independent assessment of a 

company’s creditworthiness. the 
rating agencies do not take the 

proSiebenSat.1 Group’s term loans 
into account in their credit ratings. 
Consequently there are no official 

ratings at present. 230.6 
rCF 1

67.5 
term Loan B

208.5 
term Loan C

2,083.7 
term Loan D

359.4 
rCF 2

Further information on leasing 
arrangements, notes, page 178.  
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the interest rates payable on the term loans and the amounts drawn under the available 
 revolving credit facility are variable and are based on euribor money market rates plus an 
additional credit margin.

 >  at the reporting date, the credit margin was 2.5 % per annum for term Loan D and 1.875 % 
per annum for term Loan C. the credit margin for term Loan B and the revolving credit 
 facility (rCF 1 and rCF 2) depend on the leverage factor. For term Loan B and the rCF 1, it 
amounted to 1.0 % per annum as of December 31, 2012 (previous year: 1.0 % per annum) and 
2.0 % per  annum for the new rCF 2.

 >  risks from the change of variable interest rates are hedged with various hedging instruments 
in the form of interest rate swaps. as of December 31, 2012, the hedge ratio for all non- 
current loans and borrowings was almost 68 % (December 31, 2011: almost 100 %). on Decem-
ber 31, 2012, the average fixed-interest swap rate was around 3.9 % per year (previous year: 
around 4.6 % per year). In 2012 financial year, Group interest expenses declined by a total of 
eur 49.2 million to eur 156.2 million. this is due to the lower average level of Group debt as 
well as lower Euribor money market rates compared to the previous year.

Glossary, page 262.

Financial result, page 80.

Group-WiDe Corporate FinanCinG (Fig. 39)

the proSiebenSat.1 Group entered into the loans with an 
original facilities amount of eur 4.2 billion in the course 
of the acquisition of the SBS Broadcasting Group in 2007. 
In connection with the partial prepayment totaling eur 1.2 
billion of term Loans B and C and a maturity extension 
for eur 2.1 billion (new term Loan D), the proSiebenSat.1 
Group agreed with its lenders various amendments to the 
 syndicated facilities agreement. the amendments provide 
the proSiebenSat.1 Group with more flexibility for future 
 financing. In 2012, the proSiebenSat.1 Group extended 
the maturity of the  major portion of the eur 359.4 million 
 credit facility until July 2016 (new rCF 2).

the syndicated facilities agreement for term Loans B, C 
and D and the revolving credit facility (rCF 1 and rCF 2) 
 requires the proSiebenSat.1 Group to comply with certain 
key financial ratios. thus the proSiebenSat.1 Group has to 
maintain a specific ratio of net financial debt to eBItDa. 
the ratio of consolidated eBItDa to the consolidated net 
 interest result is also defined in the agreement. Compliance 
with the key financial covenants is reviewed quarterly for 
the respective previous twelve-month period. 

the proSiebenSat.1 Group complied with the contractual 
requirements in the reporting period. non-compliance with 
the contractual financial ratios would give cause for early 
termination.

In the case of impending or incurred breaches of the key 
 financial covenants, the proSiebenSat.1 Group’s facilities 
agreement also allows the contribution of equity or equity- 
like funds in the form of subordinated loans within certain 
periods. Such an addition of equity or equity-like funds — 
a so-called equity cure — is treated as an increase in consol-
idated eBItDa for the purposes of calculating compliance 
with the financial covenants. 

In the event that ownership control of the proSiebenSat.1 
 Media aG changes (change of control), the lenders may 
 demand a termination of the facilities agreement and repay-
ment of all outstanding amounts within a certain period after 
the change of control takes place. In addition, the facilities 
agreement includes a number of standard market obligations 
which, subject to extensive exceptions and among other 
 elements, limit proSiebenSat.1 Group’s ability to provide other 
 security interests in its present or future assets, to assume 
further financial liabilities, to sell assets, to acquire business 
operations in whole or in part, or to provide guarantees, 
 declarations of indemnification, or liability declarations outside 
the normal course of business. the facilities agreement also 
contains a number of customary default clauses. the default 
clauses provide that the lenders may demand immediate re-
payment in full of all amounts outstanding under the facilities 
agreement if breaches of contract defined in more detail 
 under the agreement occur and if those breaches (assuming 
they are curable) are not remedied within a specified period.

Glossary, page 262. 
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Financing Analysis
In 2012, before reclassification of cash and cash equivalents from the northern and eastern 
european business, net financial debt decreased by 2.1 % or eur 37.4 million to eur 1.780 billion. 
In view of the reclassification of cash and cash equivalents from the northern and eastern 
european business totaling eur 90.4 million, net financial debt increased by 2.9 % or eur 53.0 
million to eur 1.871 billion. 

the leverage factor is within the defined target range of 1.5 to 2.5 times, with the value having 
again improved on the previous year. thus the ratio of net financial debt before reclassification of 
cash and cash equivalents from the northern and eastern european business to recurring eBItDa 
of the last twelve months (LtM recurring eBItDa) was 2.0 times on the reporting date (December 
31, 2011: 2.1 times). this is the result of improved earnings.

explanatory notes on  
reporting principles, page 70. 

Cash and Cash  
equivalents, page 87. 

Glossary, page 262.

Group net FinanCial Debt (Fig. 40)

eur bn

12/31/2012    1.7801

12/31/2011     1.8181

12/31/2010     3.0211

1 Before reclassification of cash and cash equivalents from the northern and eastern european business.

Glossary, page 262. 

ratio net FinanCial Debt beFore reClaSSiFiCation to ltM reCurrinG ebitDa (Fig. 41)

eur bn

12/31/2012    2.01

12/31/2011     2.1

12/31/2010     3.3

Leasing commitments are not included when calculating the leverage factor. 
1 Before reclassification of cash and cash equivalents from the northern and eastern european business.
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Analysis of Liquidity and Capital Spending
the proSiebenSat.1 Group’s cash flow statement shows the generation and use of cash flows. It 
is broken down into cash flow from operating activities, cash flow from investing activities and 
cash flow from financing activities. Cash and cash equivalents shown in the cash flow statement 
correspond to the cash and cash equivalents reported in the statement of financial position as of 
December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 respectively.

unless otherwise stated, the following textual analysis of liquidity and capital spending relates 
to cash flow from continuing operations of the proSiebenSat.1 Group. the reconciliation below 
provides an overview of selected key ratios in the cash flow statement, taking account of the 
discontinued television and radio activities in northern and eastern europe.
 

Glossary, page 262.

CaSH FloW StateMent (Fig. 42)

eur m Q4 2012 Q4 2011 2012 2011

result from continuing operations 177.8 166.1 329.1 271.1

result from discontinued operations -78.7 -36.2 -30.2 373.2

Cash flow 593.9 594.9 1,863.2 1,916.3

Change in working capital 51.0 15.8 -32.8 -17.7

Dividends received - / - - / - 5.5 3.3

Income tax paid -38.5 -8.0 -129.1 -102.1

Interest paid -34.5 -44.5 -160.0 -204.4

Interest received 0.5 2.2 1.6 7.1

Cash flow from operating activities of  
continuing operations 470.3 460.3 1,202.1 1,174.5

Cash flow from operating activities of  
discontinued operations 124.1 96.3 363.1 182.4

Cash flow from investing activities of  
continuing operations -207.5 -222.8 -945.8 -973.4

Cash flow from investing activities of  
discontinued operations -100.6 -74.4 -317.9 1,122.1

Free cash flow from continuing operations 262.8 237.5 256.3 201.2

Free cash flow from discontinued operations 23.5 21.9 45.2 1,304.5

Free cash flow 286.3 259.4 301.5 1,505.7

Cash flow from financing activities of continuing 
operations 1.2 -0.6 -30.9 -1,724.2

Cash flow from financing activities of discontinued 
operations -0.4 - / - -0.8 -0.4

effect of foreign exchange rate changes of continuing 
operations on cash and cash equivalents -0.7 1.6 2.5 -1.4

effect of foreign exchange rate changes of discontinued 
operations on cash and cash equivalents 0.1 0.1 2.4 -2.4

Change in cash and cash equivalents total 286.4 260.6 274.8 -222.8

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of  
reporting period 506.3 257.3 517.9 740.7

Minus held-for-sale cash and cash equivalents  
at end of reporting period -90.4 - / - -90.4 - / -

Cash and cash equivalents at end of reporting period 702.3 517.9 702.3 517.9
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Cash flow from operating activities: In 2012, operating cash flow from continuing operations 
was eur 1.202 billion. this equals a year-on-year increase of 2.3 % or eur 27.6 million. Higher 
consolidated net profit positively impacted cash flow from operating activities. Increased cash 
flow was driven not only by improved business performance, but also by lower interest pay-
ments in comparison to the previous year and lower other financing costs. on the other hand, 
tax payments increased to eur 129.1 million (previous year: eur 102.1 million). Furthermore, 
changes in working capital and thus capital tied up partially compensated the rise in  operating 
cash flow. the change in working capital amounted to minus eur 32.8 million  (previous year: 
minus eur 17.7 million).

Cash flow from investing activities: Investing activities resulted in outflows of eur 945.8 mil-
lion, a slight year-on-year decline of 2.8 % or eur 27.5 million compared to 2011. the core area 
of investing activities within the proSiebenSat.1 Group is the acquisition of programming rights.

In 2012, cash outflow from acquiring programming rights was eur 843.3 million, down 10.2 % or 
eur 95.5 million year-on-year. the decline resulted from lower investments in acquiring licensed 
formats. parallel to acquiring licenses, the Group secures its attractive supply of programming 
with commissioned productions and own productions. Investments in commissioned productions 
increased in 2012. own formats are based on the development and implementation of inhouse 
ideas and are primarily produced with a view to being broadcast in the near future. For this  reason, 
they are recognized immediately as an expense in the  cost of sales and do not constitute invest-
ments. Commissioned and own productions sharpen the station profile and contribute to improv-
ing cost efficiency and creating Group-wide synergies. For this reason, the expansion of the red 
arrow entertainment Group, which has broadened its program production portfolio  considerably 
in the last few months, is an important step.

In the 2012 financial year, the majority of programming investments were made in the Broadcast-
ing German-speaking segment, with eur 842.0 million or 99.8 % (previous year: eur 933.7 million 
or 99.5 %). In addition, in the 2012 financial year, proSiebenSat.1 made investments of eur 59.9 
million in intangible assets (+68.0 % year-on-year) and eur 28.5 million in property, plant and 
equipment (+42.2 % year-on-year). the focus of investing activities in respect to intangible assets 
was the Digital & adjacent growth segment, which received approximately two thirds of invest-
ments. they mainly went into the acquisition of licenses in the online Games business. For exam-
ple, in 2012, proSiebenSat.1 Games secured exclusive licenses for the european distribution of 
online games from the uS games developer Sony online entertainment. the games business is 
the fastest growing entertainment sector in the world and is therefore one of the proSiebenSat.1 
Group’s most important growth drivers in the digital business. almost all investments made in 
property, plant and equipment (91.1 %) were in the Broadcasting German-speaking segment. they 
mainly relate to technical facilities and advance payments. 

Glossary, page 262.

Group earnings, page 76.
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the stated cash flows from investing activities had the following breakdown by segment: 95.0 % 
(previous year: 97.1 %) of investments in programming assets, intangible assets and property, 
plant and equipment were made in the Broadcasting German-speaking segment, the most 
 important segment of the Group in terms of revenues. the Digital & adjacent and Content 
 production & Global Sales segments received 4.6 % (previous year: 2.6 %) and 0.4 % (previous 
year: 0.2 %) of investments respectively.

Cash outflow from additions to the scope of consolidation in 2012 increased by a total of 65.1 % 
or eur 10.7 million to eur 27.1 million (previous year: eur 16.4 million). In the 2012 financial year, 
the proSiebenSat.1 Group primarily strengthened its program production unit and its digital 
business strategically. 

With its acquisition of majority interests in the american production company Left/right and 
in the British production firms CpL productions, endor productions and nerD tV, red arrow 
entertainment Group expanded its portfolio, thus strengthening its presence in the key markets 
of uSa and Great Britain. With a majority holding in the production company July august pro-
ductions, red arrow also entered the Israeli tV market, one of the world’s most creative tV 
markets. the Group also used the growth opportunities in the Digital & adjacent segment. the 
Group thus extended its Ventures business, acquiring majority interests in the search engine 
marketing company Booming, the price comparison platform preis24.de and the travel agency 
tropo. through participations in the form of media-for-equity deals, proSiebenSat.1 secures 
access to new markets, without having to make any larger cash investments. 

assets resulting from initial consolidations are not reported as segment-specific investments. 
the liquid funds used for the acquisition of the initially consolidated companies are shown as 
cash outflow from additions to the scope of consolidation.

there were no noteworthy disinvestments in the financial year. In the previous year, cash flows 
were generated from the disposal of radio stations in Greece and Bulgaria. 

For information on the 
 consumption of programming 

assets, refer to the “Group 
earnings” chapter, page 76.

inVeStMentS by SeGMent FroM ContinuinG operationS (Fig. 43)

In percent, 2011 figures in parentheses

  Content production & 
                                                                   Global Sales 0.4 (0.2)

Broadcasting   
German-speaking 95.0 (97.1)

  Digital & 
  adjacent 4.6 (2.6)

assets resulting from initial consolidations are not reported as segment-specific investments but are shown as cash outflow from 
additions to the scope of consolidation. 

Changes in the Scope of 
Consolidation, page 73.
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Free cash flow: Free cash flow as the surplus cash generated is a key ratio for assessing the 
 financial strength of the proSiebenSat.1 Group. In 2012, on the basis of continuing operations 
this figure increased by eur 27.4 % to eur 256.3 million (previous year: eur 201.2 million). this 
was equally supported by improved operating cash flow and lower investment volume. Including 
discontinued operations, free cash flow was eur 301.5 million after eur 1.506 billion in the 
 previous year. the comparably high previous-year figure includes cash flow from the sale of the 
Dutch tV and printing activities (eur 1.459 billion). 

Cash flow from financing activities: In respect to financing activities in the 2012 financial year, 
the Group’s cash inflows were principally due to draw-downs of eur 230.6 million of the revolv-
ing credit facility (previous year: eur 0.0 million). an effect in the opposite direction was an 
outflow due to the dividend payment of eur 245.7 million (previous year: eur 241.2 million). this 
 resulted in cash flow from financing activities from continuing operations of eur 30.9 million. In 
2011, cash flow from financing activities was minus eur 1.724 billion. the high outflows in the 
previous year were largely the result of the partial term loan repayment of eur 1.2 billion, the 
full repayment of the revolving credit facility amounting to eur 230.0 million and the dividend 
payment of eur 241.2 million.

Cash and cash equivalents: the overall cash flows described resulted in a considerable increase 
of cash and cash equivalents compared to the previous year reporting date. Cash and cash 
 equivalents thus increased year-on-year by 35.6 % or eur 184.4 million to eur 702.3 million 
(previous year: eur 517.9 million). In the fourth quarter — the reporting period with the highest 
revenues and cash flow — the Group generated cash and cash equivalents totaling eur 286.4 
million (previous year: eur 260.6 million). thus, the proSiebenSat.1 Group has a comfortable 
level of liquidity.

Glossary, page 262.

Liquidity is managed centrally at 
the holding on the basis of cash 

pooling. For this reason no 
segment-specific information is 

provided on this point. the 
principles and objectives of 

financial management are 
described on pages 83f.

CHanGe in CaSH anD CaSH equiValentS (Fig. 44)

eur m
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Analysis of Assets and Capital Structure
the held-for-sale activities in northern and eastern europe led to structural changes of the 
Group balance sheet compared to December 31, 2011. thus the asset and liability items of the 
northern and eastern european subsidiaries were reported in the relevant current balance 
sheet items as of the reporting date, with the assets and liabilities of these business activities 
being reclassified to the respective “assets held for sale” and “Liabilities in connection with 
assets held for sale” items. the previous-year figures are not adjusted. 

as of December 31, 2012, total assets amounted to eur 5.413 billion (December 31, 2011: eur 
5.034 billion). this corresponds to an increase of 7.5 % compared to the previous-year reporting 
date. the rise in total assets is mainly due to higher cash and cash equivalents. adjusted for the 
mentioned reclassification effect, higher intangible assets and an increase in programming 
 assets resulted in total assets increasing. Significant value changes to balance sheet items com-
pared to December 31, 2011 are outlined below. to achieve a better comparison, the effects from 
the reclassification of the northern and eastern european subsidiaries are described as “assets 
held for sale” and “Liabilities in connection with assets held for sale” in addition to the change 
to the reported balance sheet items.

Non-current and current assets: Compared to December 31, 2011, intangible assets decreased 
by 51 % to eur 1.063 billion (previous year: eur 2.169 billion). the share of intangible assets in 
total assets declined to 19.6 % (December 31, 2011: 43.1 %). Without the reclassification effect, 
there would have been an increase of eur 38.2 million, equivalent to 1.8 %. key factors were first-
time consolidations in the course of expanding the international program production portfolio. In 
the context of first-time consolidations, goodwill totaling eur 56.1 million was recognized.

Changes in the Scope of 
Consolidation, page 73.

explanatory notes on 
reporting principles, page 70.

balanCe SHeet StruCture (Fig. 45)

in percent

100 of which: non-current 
programming assets 

eur m
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of which: Current 
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eur m
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alongside intangible assets, programming assets are the most important assets of the 
proSiebenSat.1 Group with a 23.6 % share of total assets (December 31, 2011: 30.4 %). reclassi-
fication also resulted in a decline of non-current and current assets which now total eur 1.277 
billion (December 31, 2011: eur 1.531 billion). Without reclassification, there would have been a 
slight increase in programming assets, primarily due to the acquisition of licensed program-
ming, particularly for series in the Broadcasting German-speaking segment. 

Cash and cash equivalents increased to eur 702.3 million. Higher liquidity of eur 184.4 million 
or by 35.6 % was driven by draw-downs of eur 230.6 million on the revolving credit facility 
(rCF) as well as higher cash flow from operating activities.

Trade accounts receivable: as a result of the reclassification, trade accounts receivable were 
slightly lower than the previous year. at eur 268.7 million, they were down 3.8 % from eur 
279.4 million. However, without the reclassification and thus on a like-for-like basis, there was 
an  increase of eur 69.6 million or 24.9 %. the increase was mainly due to the Digital & adjacent 
and Content production & Global Sales growth areas.

Shareholders’ equity: Compared to December 31, 2011, shareholders’ equity increased by eur 
59.5 million or 4.1 % to eur 1.501 billion. Consolidated net profit, as well as currency translation 
effects reported in other comprehensive income contributed to this increase. an opposite  effect 
arose from the eur 245.7 million dividend paid out in the 2012 financial year. Due to higher total 
assets on the reporting date, the equity ratio decreased to 27.7 % (December 31, 2011: 28.6 %). the 
Group thus maintains a solid financial position.

Non-current and current liabilities and provisions: as a result of draw-downs on the revolving 
credit facility, current loans and borrowings rose from eur 0.1 million to eur 230.9 million as 
of December 31, 2011. as of December 31, 2012, eur 230.6 million had been drawn from the 
 revolving credit facility. as a result, non-current and current financial liabilities increased by 
eur 237.4 million to eur 2.573 billion. other non-current and current financial liabilities also 
increased. Contractually agreed purchase price payments for acquisitions and valuation 
 effects from hedge accounting resulted in other non- current and current financial liabilities 
increasing by eur 26.6 million to eur 353.1 million (+8.1 %). 

Glossary, page 262.

Cash and cash equivalents, 
page 87.

rCF, page 84.

Glossary, page 262.
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on the other hand, due to the consumption of programming provisions as well as the reclassifi-
cation, provisions as of December 31, 2012 decreased. the largest provisions item in the balance 
sheet remains the eur 52.2 million for other current provisions (December 31, 2011: eur 78.7 
million). this includes a provision of eur 5.8 million in connection with additional payments to 
bestseller authors recognized as of the reporting date. 

the provision recognized during the year relating to the antitrust proceedings is posted as 
other current liabilities in the balance sheet as of December 31, 2012. the now concluded anti-
trust proceedings resulted in obligations amounting to a total of eur 27.7 million. as a result 
other current liabilities increased by eur 14.1 million to eur 202.6 million (December 31, 2012: 
eur 188.5 million).

non-current and current trade accounts payable declined considerably, totaling eur 322.2 mil-
lion on the reporting date (December 31, 2011: eur 456.8 million). Without the effect resulting 
from the reclassification of the northern and eastern european subsidiaries, trade accounts 
payable would have been at the level of the previous year. Due to the reclassification, deferred 
tax liabilities were also lower. as of December 31, 2012, they totaled eur 66.7 million (December 
31, 2011: eur 138.7 million).

notes, page 180.

For further information,  
refer to the risk report, page 118, 

and notes, page 223.

For further information,  
refer to the risk report, page 118, 

and notes, page 193.

aCCountinG aSSuMptionS anD eStiMateS (Fig. 46)

preparers of financial statements need to make assumptions 
and estimates to a certain extent when applying accounting 
policies and when recognizing income, expenses, assets, and 

liabilities. Detailed information on the effect of using 
 assumptions and estimates is disclosed under no. 6 of the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Segment reporting

Broadcasting German-speaking Segment
In a competitive market environment, the Broadcasting German-speaking segment’s external 

revenues amounted to eur 1,910 billion, remaining at the previous year’s level (eur 1,903 bil-
lion). especially in the important fourth quarter, the station group generated higher revenues 
from tV advertising, increasing tV advertising revenues over the year as a whole both in its 
core market of Germany and in austria and Switzerland.

Distribution revenues are increasingly becoming an additional source of income for the 
proSiebenSat.1 Group, and posted considerable growth in the reporting year. the dynamic growth 
rate is primarily attributable to the rising number of households receiving HD. In 2012, the 
proSiebenSat.1 Group concluded further agreements on the distribution of its HD stations and 
is represented with its four HD stations in the packages of all major cable, satellite and IptV 
 operators. Since 2011, the German stations have been broadcast not only in standard definition 
but also in HD quality. proSiebenSat.1 takes a share in the technical activation fees which end 
customers pay to the cable, satellite and IptV providers.

the segment closed the 2012 financial year in line with the revenue performance with a 
 recurring EBITDA of eur 660.3 million after eur 657.7 million in the previous year. at 33.2 %, 
the recurring EBITDA margin is slightly above the previous year’s level (32.9 %). eBItDa 
 decreased by 2.5 % or eur 15.3 million to eur 609.1 million due to non-recurring effects. the 
non-recurring costs largely comprise expenses in the course of the antitrust proceedings 
concluded in the fourth quarter of eur 27.7 million.
 

reVenue SHare by SeGMent FroM ContinuinG operationS in tHe 2012 FinanCial year (Fig. 47)

In percent, 2011 figures in parentheses

  Digital &  
                                               adjacent1 14.9 (11.6)

Broadcasting   
German-speaking 81.0 (86.7)

  Content production & 
                                                                 Global Sales 4.1 (1.7)

1 previous year figure includes 9Live.

In the 2012 financial year,  
the proSiebenSat.1 Group  

changed its segment reporting. 
For detailed information on the 
segment structure, refer to the 

chapters “explanatory notes on 
reporting principles”, page 70, and 

“Changes in the Scope of 
Consolidation”, page 73.

Business and Industry 
 environment, page 60.

Impact of General  
Conditions on the Business 

performance, page 72.

Media policy environment,  
page 58.

risk report, page 118,  
and notes, page 133.

Key FiGureS broaDCaStinG GerMan-SpeaKinG SeGMent1 (Fig. 48)

eur m 2012 2011

external revenues 1,909.5 1,903.0

recurring eBItDa 660.3 657.7

recurring eBItDa margin2 (in percent) 33.2 32.9

1  reporting for the 2012 financial year is based on a different segment structure. to ensure comparability of the current  
annual figures with those of the previous year, the figures for the previous year were adjusted to the existing segment structure. 
there is no multi-year comparison.

2 Based on segment total revenues; see notes, no. 35.
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Digital & Adjacent Segment
the Digital & adjacent segment posted high growth rates for both revenues and earnings in the 
past financial year. External revenues amounted to eur 351.2 million, thus surpassing the 
 previous year’s figure by 38.1 % or eur 96.9 million. the most important growth driver was the 
Ventures unit with the media-for-revenue-share business model. at the same time, revenues 
from the music business and the video-on-demand platform maxdome developed very posi-
tively. the Games unit, which benefited from the successful licensing of new online games, also 
contributed to revenue growth with a double-digit growth rate. In addition to organic growth, 
the search engine marketing agency Booming and the online travel portal tropo were fully 
consolidated for the first time, which led to growth in revenues year-on-year.

the segment’s previous-year figures partially include revenue contributions from the call tV 
station 9Live, which was discontinued on august 9, 2011. adjusted for the contribution of 9Live 
in the previous year, revenues in the Digital & adjacent segment would have shown a growth 
rate of 47.7 % or eur 113.5 million in 2012.

the dynamic increase in revenues led to a considerable increase by 34.1 % in recurring EBITDA 
to eur 89.7 million (previous year: eur 66.9 million). the recurring EBITDA margin was 25.4 % 
(previous year: 26.2 %). eBItDa climbed to eur 80.8 million (previous year: eur 39.4 million). 
the previous year’s eBItDa includes comparatively high non-recurring expenses of eur 27.4 
million, which primarily resulted from the discontinuation of the transmission of 9Live.

 
Content Production & Global Sales Segment
the external revenues of the Content production & Global Sales segment posted a three-digit 
growth rate in the 2012 financial year. the revenue increase to eur 95.4 million (previous year: 
eur 37.7 million) primarily resulted from acquisitions to expand red arrow’s inter national 
portfolio. In 2012, the red arrow entertainment Group strengthened its presence in the import-
ant markets of Great Britain and the uSa in particular.

the earnings performance was mainly determined by start-up costs resulting from the portfolio 
expansion. Recurring EBITDA decreased by eur 5.3 million to eur 4.3 million (previous year: 
eur 9.6 million). the recurring EBITDA margin was 3.1 % after 8.8 % in the previous year. eBItDa 
fell to eur 1.5 million (previous year: eur 8.5 million).
 

overview of portfolio measures, 
page 74.

Key FiGureS DiGital & aDJaCent SeGMent1 (Fig. 49)

eur m 2012 2011

external revenues 351.2 254.4

recurring eBItDa 89.7 66.9

recurring eBItDa margin2 (in percent) 25.4 26.2

1  reporting for the 2012 financial year is based on a different segment structure. to ensure comparability of the current  
annual figures with those of the previous year, the figures for the previous year were adjusted to the existing segment structure. 
there is no multi-year comparison; previous-year figures include 9Live.

2 Based on segment total revenues; see notes, no. 35.

overview of portfolio measures, 
page 74.

Key FiGureS Content proDuCtion & Global SaleS SeGMent1 (Fig. 50)

eur m 2012 2011

external revenues 95.4 37.7

recurring eBItDa 4.3 9.6

recurring eBItDa margin2 (in percent) 3.1 8.8

1  reporting for the 2012 financial year is based on a different segment structure. to ensure comparability of the current  
annual figures with those of the previous year, the figures for the previous year were adjusted to the existing segment structure. 
there is no multi-year comparison.

2 Based on segment total revenues; see notes, no. 35.
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employees

as of December 31, 2012, the proSiebenSat.1 Group had 3,026 employees calculated on the basis 
of full-time equivalents (previous year: 2,605). the average number of full-time equivalents in the 
year under review was 2,849 (previous year: 2,631). of that number, 2,533 employees worked for 
the Group in Germany, austria and Switzerland (previous year: 2,456). that is equivalent to 88.9 % 
(previous year: 91.0 %) of the Group’s total employees. the increased number of employees in the 
German-speaking region resulted primarily from the strategic expansion of the online games 
business (+57 full-time equivalents), the expansion of other digital business and ventures busi-
ness, the acquisition of the Booming agency and growth in tV. at the international level, the new 
participations of the red arrow entertainment Group in the uSa and Great Britain resulted in 
79 new full-time equivalents. all information is based on continuing operations.

 

With 1,900 employees (previous year: 1,805), the Group employed the most staff in the Broad-
casting German-speaking segment. the number of personnel in the Digital & adjacent segment 
increased by 36.2 % to 464 employees after 341 full-time equivalents in the previous year. In the 
Content production & Global Sales segment, the number of employees was at the same level as 
the previous year.

Due to the personnel expansion in the Digital & adjacent and Broadcasting German-speaking 
segments, the personnel expenses of the proSiebenSat.1 Group increased to eur 266.8 million 
(previous year: eur 246.7 million) in 2012.

at Group level, the employee turnover rate fell to 11.4 % in 2012 (previous year: 13.1 %). In the 
core market of Germany, the rate sank to 11.3 % (previous year: 12.1 %). 

Diversity management at ProSiebenSat.1. We value the diversity that our employees bring to 
the company in terms of personal characteristics, talents and abilities. our way into the future 
is determined significantly by the way we promote and use this diversity. an important issue is 
thereby the proportion of men and women within the company and in management positions. 
there is already a very balanced ratio of men and women in the proSiebenSat.1 Group. In 2012, 
46.8 % of proSiebenSat.1 employees were female (previous year: 49.1 %) and 53.2 % were male 

eMployeeS by reGion (Fig. 51)

average full-time equivalents, 2011 figures in parentheses

Germany                             2,304 (2,244)

austria/Switzerland       229 (212)

uSa                                 156 (102)

uk                                   52 (10)

other                               108 (63)

eMployeeS by SeGMent (Fig. 52)

average full-time equivalents, 2011 figures in parentheses

Broadcasting 
German-speaking             1,900 (1,805)

Digital & 
adjacent                             464 (341)

Content production & 
Global Sales                    485 (485)
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(previous year: 50.9 %). the slight decline in the proportion of women is mainly attributable to 
the growth in the digital area, because here the Group primarily hires employees with a back-
ground in It and skilled staff from the field of technology.

In the core market of Germany, the proportion of women was 46.0 % (previous year: 48.2 %). 
this matches the average proportion of women in German commercial enterprises, which was 
46.3 % in 2012.

the proportion of women at the management level of the proSiebenSat.1 Group was 28.4 % 
(previous year: 27.1 %). In the core market of Germany, the proportion of women at management 
level was 26.9 % in 2012 (previous year: 27.3 %). In German companies, the proportion of women 
in management positions averages 30.3 %.

the proSiebenSat.1 Group has expanded its core business in recent years and invested heavily 
in new growth areas. Digitalization and the accompanying transformation of the industry offer 
the Company numerous opportunities for growth. the objective is to develop the Group from a 
traditional tV provider into a digital entertainment & e-commerce powerhouse. the Group 
 supports this process with targeted Hr measures derived from the Group’s strategy that 
strengthen the Company’s innovative power. against this backdrop, strategic human resources 
work has become increasingly relevant for proSiebenSat.1 in recent years. In 2012, the Group 
therefore created a separate executive Board division for Human resources. at the same time, 
as a media company, the proSiebenSat.1 Group is a classic “people business”: every day, our 
employees help ensure that the Group remains one of europe’s largest media companies with 
their talent, creativity and dedication. For the successful development of the proSiebenSat.1 
Group, it is of central importance to retain qualified employees in the Group and gain new talented 
individuals. therefore, we have continually expanded our employer branding measures in 

proportion oF WoMen anD Men in tHe WHole Group (Fig. 53)

In percent, 2011 figures in parentheses

  Women 46.8 (49.1)

Men 53.2 (50.9)  

proportion oF WoMen anD Men in tHe GerMan Core MarKet (Fig. 54)

In percent, 2011 figures in parentheses

  Women 46.0 (48.2)

Men 54.0 (51.8)  

oportunity report, page 135.

the Year 2012 at a Glance,  
page 40.
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recent years. Moreover, we offer our employees attractive career opportunities, numerous pos-
sibilities for development, performance-based remuneration models, great working conditions 
for families, a comprehensive work-life package and a wide range of social benefits.

Personnel Development in the ProSiebenSat.1 Group
In 2012, the proSiebenSat.1 Group continued to expand its specialist training portfolio for employ-
ees. With an investment of eur 2.85 million, the company spent over eur 0.47 million more on 
professional and specialist training than in the previous year (eur 2.38 million). approximately half 
of the higher investments went to the proSiebenSat.1 academy whose extensive program is avail-
able to all staff. In 2012, the training program in German-speaking countries covered 495 events 
(previous year: 441), with 4,992 participants taking up the offer of training (previous year: 3,525).

 >  ProSiebenSat.1 Academy: Qualified, high-performing and motivated employees are the 
proSiebenSat.1 Group’s most important asset. at the proSiebenSat.1 academy, the Group offers 
an extensive specialist training portfolio under the motto of “unfold Your potential”. this 
 includes seminars and lectures on specialist and personal development, which are derived 
mostly from the corporate strategy and aligned specifically to the qualification requirements of 
proSiebenSat.1 employees. the central platform provides events such as “Lunch & Learn” or 
“Guest Speaker”, which regularly offer employees analyses of trends and developments in the 
media and entertainment industry. In addition, proSiebenSat.1 employees pass on their 
 media-specific expertise to colleagues in the form of “Media training”. In the interests of pro-
active health management, the proSiebenSat.1 Group also incorporated the topics “reconciling 
Family and Career”, “Stress Management” and “Health” into the academy’s 2012 lecture 
 program.

 >  Executive Development: the proSiebenSat.1 Group wants to offer its employees a motivating 
working environment. For this reason, all managers at the proSiebenSat.1 Group go through a 
development program with the modules “new Leader”, “performance”, “team”, “Change” and 
“Self Management”. the modules are attuned to the proSiebenSat.1 Group’s corporate culture 
and the management tools used in the Group and enhance the employees’ management skills. 
In 2012, 433 managers took part in the “top 5” manager development program.

 >  Cross-Mentoring: In 2012, the proSiebenSat.1 Group started a new mentoring program. 
throughout the Group, it promotes the professional development of employees with high 
potential, who are supported from within the Group by experienced employee mentors over 
a period of twelve months. the focus is on open exchange across hierarchical and depart-
mental boundaries. the cross-mentoring program not only supports the participants in their 
professional and personal development. the mentor/mentee partners generally come from 
different business areas. In this way, the proSiebenSat.1 Group is encouraging the develop-
ment of a cross-divisional network in the Group and promoting understanding between the 
various business units. In 2012, 27 mentoring pairs took part in the cross-mentoring program.

 >  Learning Expeditions: In october 2011, the proSiebenSat.1 Group organized a “learning expe-
dition” to asia for the first time. During a one-week trip, 24 proSiebenSat.1 employees met 
with representatives of large business enterprises, researchers and academics to discuss 
trends and future issues in the media and entertainment industry. two learning expeditions in 
2011 resulted in several specific business projects that were implemented in 2012, including 
the development of the internet platform MyVideo into an online tV station, the opening of 
a permanent program sales office in Hong kong and an array of new formats. Due to the 
 success the year before, the Group organized two more trips in 2012: under the motto 

opportunity report, page 135.
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“Strengthening Innovation Capacity”, a learning expedition was made to the uSa in october 
2012. another trip to tokyo and Shanghai followed in november with the thematic focus of 
“the Future of entertainment”. after the participants returned, a structured process ensured 
that learnings were transferred into the Group. the first projects were implemented by the 
end of the year. overall, 101 employees have taken part in a proSiebenSat.1 Group learning 
expedition so far. proSiebenSat.1 considers the learning expeditions an efficient tool for 
 sustainably strengthening the Group’s power of innovation. 

In 2013, the proSiebenSat.1 Group will continue developing its human resources work and focus 
in particular on the Group’s ability to innovate. For this purpose, the Group will set up an “Inno-
vation Lab”, which will encourage employees’ cross-divisional communication and support the 
transformation of ideas into commercially viable products.

Training in the ProSiebenSat.1 Group
the proSiebenSat.1 Group also systematically employs a cross-media approach to training, 
 providing its interns with interdisciplinary training in tV, online and pr. at the same time, 
proSiebenSat.1 gains qualified junior staff for the Company with training courses for various 
career groups. In total, the proSiebenSat.1 Group employed 168 apprentices on average in 2012 
(previous year: 140). this includes trainees, management trainees and apprentices in the career 
groups of audiovisual media, events, office management, video and sound media design, digital 
and print media design and dual students specializing in business administration/media and 
communications business. after their training, proSiebenSat.1 Group takes into full employment 
the majority of apprentices, trainees and management trainees, as shown in the chart below:

 
ProSiebenSat.1 as an Attractive Employer
positive evaluations in the major surveys of the trendence and universum institutes on employer 
appeal regularly show that the proSiebenSat.1 Group is one of the most popular employers in 
the media industry. proSiebenSat.1 took second place in the “trendence Schülerbarometer 
2012”. In the “universum ranking”, the proSiebenSat.1 Group was ranked 14th among the most 
popular media companies. In 2012, the proSiebenSat.1 Group received around 21,500 applica-
tions in Germany, around 25 % more than in the previous year (around 17,300). the increase 
is attributable in part to the strategic increase of staff in the Digital & adjacent segment. It 
is of particular importance to the Group to find talented employees and to position itself as an 
attractive employer to relevant target groups. In 2012, the proSiebenSat.1 Group  strengthened 
its appeal as an employer by expanding the work-life package and stepping up its  employer 
branding measures.

retention rate oF apprentiCeS anD traineeS in GerMany in 2012 (Fig. 55)

In percent, 2011 figures in parentheses

total                             82.9 (88.1)

apprentices                    66.7 (66.7)

trainees                         80.0 (81.3)

Management trainees   88.9 (100.0)
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Family-friendly environment. a family-friendly environment is a crucial criterion for many 
employees and applicants. the proSiebenSat.1 Group has offered its employees attractive 
conditions for over ten years, and it improved its offer once again in 2012. Many proSiebenSat.1 
Group employees have families. as early as 2002, the company founded an inhouse day-care 
center in Germany which currently has 74 places. In 2012, the Group spent eur 713,000 on 
childcare (previous year: eur 630,000). eur 207,000 went to the company nursery, eur 
506,000 to care subsidies, which are paid to all employees whose pre-school age children 
receive care outside the home. teleworking jobs as well as flexitime models and part-time 
work simplify balancing family and career. In 2012, the proportion of part-time employees in 
Germany was 17.6 % (previous year: 14.8 %). In German companies, the proportion of part-
time workers was 26.6 %.

 >  Work-life package extended: In 2012, the proSiebenSat.1 Group considerably extended its 
work-life package in the areas of family, sport, health and service. to do so, the Group is 
 cooperating with an external service partner which brokers concierge services and provides 
childcare, coaching in difficult life circumstances and support in caring for family members. 
In addition, the group has worked with the technische universität München since 2012 on the 
issues of health and sport. the package here ranges from individual sports consulting and 
endurance tests to various sports courses. Moreover, the proSiebenSat.1 Group offers its 
employees an attractive benefits package with offers of private pensions and extra leave for 
special personal reasons. 

 >  Sabbatical models introduced: In 2012, the proSiebenSat.1 Group concluded a working agree-
ment concerning various sabbatical models. Since January 1, 2013, this has given employees 
the opportunity to exchange a portion of their salary for additional vacation days in order 
to take a short sabbatical of three months or a longer sabbatical over a period of 12 to 
24 months.

 >  Employer branding measures extended: In order to put across its position as an attractive 
employer effectively with its public image, the proSiebenSat.1 Group has extended its em-
ployer branding measures in the 2012 financial year. the content and structure of the careers 
section of the Company website www.proSiebenSat1.com were fundamentally reworked. this 
allows applicants to get a much quicker idea of the range of jobs the proSiebenSat.1 Group 
offers and the diversity of career opportunities for employees. In addition, the Group inten-
sified its cooperation with universities. In 2012, the Group entered into three new university 
partnerships, including with the universities of Mannheim and Münster. proSiebenSat.1 has 
partnerships with seven universities in total, establishing contact with future specialists and 
managers at an early stage. Moreover, the Group was represented at ten higher education, 
human resources and trade fairs in 2012.

100Group ManaGeMent report

employees



Careers at the ProSiebenSat.1 Group
 >  Performance Development: For managers, the Company introduced the ”performance De-

velopment“ program back in 2010. key factors include specialist performance, behavior as 
manager and business activity. the program is linked to a bonus system, in an ideal case 
making employees eligible to receive a one-time payment of up to 200 % of the individual 
target  bonus. a further incentive system was first initiated at the proSiebenSat.1 Group in 
2005 — a stock option plan (Long term Incentive plan) in which selected managers partici-
pate. the stock option plan was replaced in 2012 by a new share-based compensation plan 
(Group Share plan).

 >  Long-term development and career plans: In the ”organization & talent review“ program 
(otr), the proSiebenSat.1 Group formulates long-term development and career plans with 
managers and high-potential employees without management responsibility. In this way 
the proSiebenSat.1 Group gives talented employees clear development perspectives, at the 
same time having an efficient instrument for successor planning. the process was intro-
duced in 2010 and is carried out for employees of upper, middle and lower management in 
a staggered two-year cycle. In 2012, 134 employees on manager level 4 took part in the otr 
(previous year: 280 participants from manager levels 1 to 3). 31.3 % of participants were 
female (previous year: 26.4 %).

 >  Management by Objectives: proSiebenSat.1 Group staff are managed on the principle of 
”Management by objectives“, drawing on a system of goals that puts higher-level corporate 
objectives into more specific terms for both staff and management by breaking targets 
down systematically into segment, departmental and individual goals. at annual assess-
ment interviews, employees and their supervisors define personal targets for the financial 
year. these are intended not only to provide clear goals but also to encourage motivation. 
the system of goals is tied to a special, performance-based bonus plan that recognizes indi-
viduals’ accomplishment of their goals. the maximum amount of the bonus is partly based 
on recurring eBItDa. Due to the successful financial year, the bonus share based on recur-
ring eBItDa was 100 % in 2012 (previous year: 110 %).

High participation rate and good results in employee survey. In June 2012, the proSiebenSat.1 
Group carried out an employee survey, the results of which were presented at the company in 
September. With a share of 70 %, the participation rate rose again compared to the survey in 
2010 (66 %). the results showed that the level of satisfaction among employees of the 
proSiebenSat.1 Group has risen significantly since the last survey. 54 of a total of 56 questions 
received better ratings than in 2010. the company performed particularly well in the categories 
“personal fulfillment in the job” and “attractiveness of work task.” the employees of the 
proSiebenSat.1 Group also assessed the corporate culture very positively (“relationship to direct 
superior,” “association to colleagues”). every two years, the proSiebenSat.1 Group carries out an 
employee survey to gain a detailed impression of the employee morale and to identify possible 
potential for improvement.

Compensation report, page 52.
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the proSiebenSat.1 Share

The ProSiebenSat.1 share on the capital market. In 2012, prices on the stock markets rose sub-
stantially, even while fluctuating considerably at times. the first half of the year was character-
ized by mixed signals. While policymaker’s measures to contain the european debt crisis, good 
economic data from the uSa and growing corporate profits in Germany initially provided posi-
tive stimuli, the increasingly tightening budgetary situation of some euro zone countries put 
stock markets under pressure in the second quarter. over the remainder of the year, stock 
market sentiment improved again. the main driver of the general share price performance was 
the global expansionary monetary policy of the central banks. the stock markets viewed the 
 announcement of the european Central Bank that it would buy bonds of financially weak eu 
states on an unlimited basis as a particularly positive signal. at the end of the year, modest 
economic data, renewed uncertainty in the euro zone and the uS budget debate only briefly 
curbed price performance – the overall upward trend remained intact.

In this trading environment, the DaX, the leading German index, significantly increased by 29.1 % 
compared to the end of 2011 and closed at 7,612 points on the last trading day of 2012. the MDaX 
also posted considerable growth in 2012 and closed at 11,914 points (+33.9 %). the relevant sector 
index for european media stocks, the euro Stoxx Media, closed 2012 at 152 points, up 12.6 % com-
pared to the end of 2011.

proSiebenSat.1 SHare: priCe perForManCe (Fig. 56)
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overall the proSiebenSat.1 preference share in 2012 performed considerably better than the 
relevant indices. the share closed the first half of 2012 up almost 25 % at eur 17.62. Besides 
 positive stock market sentiment in the early weeks of 2012, the share also benefited from the 
company’s good performance, the positive outlook for 2012 and good analyst recommenda-
tions. In the second half of 2012, the proSiebenSat.1 share’s price performance was temporarily 
influenced by rising uncertainty about the economic environment and the advertising market. 
By contrast, positive stimulus was provided at the Capital Markets Day in october 2012 as well 
as indications of a possible sale of the proSiebenSat.1 Group’s northern european tV and radio 
activities. From July to December 2012, the share posted an increase of almost 21 %. In the year 
as a whole, the share climbed almost 51 % compared to the end of 2011 and closed at eur 21.30 
on the last trading day of 2012. It achieved its highest closing price of the reporting period on 
December 12, 2012 at eur 23.83. the lowest closing price was at eur 14.19 on January 5, 2012. 

a total of 134.1 million shares (previous year: 223.4 million shares) were traded over the Xetra 
trading system in the reporting period. this corresponds to an average daily trading volume of 
527,835 shares (previous year: 908,214).
 

the analysts’ median price target at the end of the reporting period was eur 23.25; 39 % of ana-
lysts recommended the proSiebenSat.1 share as a buy in 2012. In the year under review, a total of 
28 brokerage firms and financial institutions published reports on proSiebenSat.1 Media aG. For 
investors, recommendations by financial analysts are an important basis for decision making.

proSiebenSat.1 SHare: Key Data (Fig. 57)

  2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Share capital units 218,797,200 218,797,200 218,797,200 218,797,200 218,797,200

number of preference shares1 at reporting date units 109,398,600 109,398,600 109,398,600 109,398,600 109,398,600

number of common shares at reporting date (unlisted) units 109,398,600 109,398,600 109,398,600 109,398,600 109,398,600

Market capitalization at year's end eur m 4,660 3,089 4,923 1,764 525

Close at end of financial year (Xetra) eur 21.30 14.12 22.50 8.06 2.40

High (Xetra) eur 23.83    24.80 23.88 8.98 16.62

Low (Xetra) eur 14.19 11.49 8.13 0.90 1.26

Dividend per dividend entitled preference share eur - / -  2 1.17 1.14 0.02 0.02

total dividend eur m - / -  2 245.7 241.2 2.07 2.08

underlying earnings per preference share eur 1.97 3.23 1.69 0.88 0.79

Dividend yield on basis of closing price percent - / -  2 8.3 5.1 0.25 0.83

total Xetra trading volume units m 134.1 233.4 196.5 278.7 313.8

Xetra trading volume (average daily trading volume) units 527,835 908,214 767,439 1,097,195 1,235,341

only preference shares are listed on the stock exchange. 
1 Incl. treasury shares. 
2 Dividend proposal, see page 27.

proSiebenSat.1 SHare: baSiC Data (Fig. 58)

name proSiebenSat.1 Media aG

type of share no par bearer preference shares

Stock exchange listing prime Standard / regulated market

Sector Media

ISIn De0007771172
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The majority shareholder is Lavena Holding 1 GmbH. the share capital of proSiebenSat.1 
Media aG amounts to eur 218,797,200 and is made up of 109,398,600 voting non-listed common 
shares and 109,398,600 non-voting listed preference shares. 

there were no changes to the shareholder structure in the 2012 financial year. the majority 
shareholder of proSiebenSat.1 Media aG is Lavena Holding 1 GmbH. It is controlled by funds 
advised by kohlberg kravis roberts & Co. L.p. (kkr) and permira Beteiligungsberatung GmbH 
(permira). as of December 31, 2012, Lavena Holding 1 GmbH held 88.0 % of the voting common 
shares and 18.0 % of the non-voting preference shares. this is a 53.0 % stake of the share 
 capital of proSiebenSat.1 Media aG. 

the Dutch media corporation telegraaf Media Groep n.V. (tMG) holds 12.0 % of the voting 
common stock, equivalent to 6.0 % of the share capital. the remaining 82.0 % of the prefer-
ence shares, equivalent to around 41.0 % of the share capital, are included in the free float or 
are held as treasury shares (December 31, 2012: 6,505,750 preference shares held in treasury). 
Large parts of the listed preference shares are held by institutional investors, most notably 
from the uSa, Germany and the uk. 

analyStS’ reCoMMenDationS (Fig. 59)

in percent

  Hold 50

Buy 39  

Sell 11  

as of: 12/31/2012.

SHareHolDer StruCture oF proSiebenSat.1 MeDia aG oF DeCeMber 31, 2012 (Fig. 60)
  

Funds advised 
by kkr

Funds advised 
by permira

 50.0 %  50.0 %     

 
Lavena Holding 1 GmbH

telegraaf 
Media Groep

 
Free float1

100 %

88.0 % Common stock 
18.0 % preferred stock 
53.0 % Capital stock

12.0 % Common stock 
 6.0 % Capital stock

82.0 % preferred stock 
41.0 % Capital stock

proSiebenSat.1 Media aG

1  Including 6,505,750 preference shares held in treasury as of December 31, 2012 (previous year: 7,640,000 treasury shares). 
this corresponds to 5.9 % of the preference shares or 3.0 % of the share capital. under Section 71b of the German Stock 
Corporation act, proSiebenSat.1 Media aG has no rights from the ownership of this preferred treasury stock; shares that the 
Company holds either directly or indirectly are not entitled to receive dividends. 
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after the end of the year under review on February 13, 2013, Lavena Holding 1 GmbH sold 
19.7 million non-voting preference shares, i.e. its entire holding of non-voting preference shares. 
Its share of voting common stock is unchanged. Lavena Holding 1 GmbH therefore holds 44.0 % 
of the share capital and 88.0 % of the voting common shares.

Annual General Meeting for the 2011 financial year. on May 15, 2012, the annual General Meeting 
of shareholders of proSiebenSat.1 Media aG for the 2011 financial year was held at the event 
arena in the Munich olympiapark. around 300 shareholders, shareholder representatives and 
guests attended the meeting. attendance was equivalent to approximately 60 % of the total 
share capital. all resolutions proposed by management requiring the approval of shareholders 
of common stock were adopted unanimously. 

among other things, the annual General Meeting elected Drs. Fred th. J. arp, CFo of telegraaf 
Media Groep n.V., and Stefan Dziarski, investment adviser at permira Beteiligungsberatung 
GmbH, to the Supervisory Board. they succeed former Supervisory Board members Herman M.p. 
van Campenhout, Ceo of telegraaf Media Groep n.V., and robin Bell-Jones, partner at permira 
advisers LLp. Moreover, the proposed allocation of profits for the 2011 financial year was 
 accepted and a resolution for a dividend payout of eur 1.17 (previous year: eur 1.14) per bearer 
preference share entitled to dividend as well as eur 1.15 (previous year: eur 1.12) per registered 
common share entitled to dividend was passed. the total dividend payment amounted to  around 
eur 245.7 million (previous year: eur 241.2 million). the dividend was paid out on May 16, 2012. 
 
Intensive dialogue with the capital market. We provide all interested parties and capital market 
participants with timely and regular information about all important events and developments 
at the company. the objective is transparent communication of the corporate and finance strat-
egy. In 2012, the executive Board and the Investor relations team held more than 400 one-on-
one and group meetings or conference calls with analysts, investors and bank representatives. 
along with numerous roadshows, proSiebenSat.1 presented at twelve investor conferences. 

In addition, on october 10, 2012, proSiebenSat.1 Media aG held a Capital Markets Day at its head-
quarters in unterföhring, near Munich. the executive Board and business unit heads provided 
 analysts and investors detailed insight into the current business environment, provided infor-
mation about the Group’s future prospects, and confirmed the objectives of the growth strategy 
set out until 2015. approximately 60 analysts, investors, and bank representatives attended the 
event. 

Awards for financial reporting and Investor Relations. In 2012, the proSiebenSat.1 Group was 
again rewarded for the quality of its capital market communication. the Group won first place 
among the MDaX companies in the annual competition “the Best annual report” (2011: 4th place). 
In the overall ranking of all stock market indices, the Group achieved the second place out of 
around 160 companies (2011: 15th place). the panel evaluated the annual reports based on the 
criteria of content and design. In the content category, proSiebenSat.1 emerged as the overall 
winner of all stock market indices. each year, the competition “the Best annual report” is held 
by “manager magazine” under the academic leadership of prof. Dr. Dr. h.c. Jörg Baetge of the 
university of Münster. 

In terms of the “German Investor relations award 2012”, the proSiebenSat.1 Group won the 
3rd place in the MDaX (2011: 1st place). the prize is awarded by thomson reuters extel, 
WirtschaftsWoche and the German Investor relations association (DIrk). Capital market experts 
from more than 11,000 buy-side and 2,500 sell-side firms in over 60 countries participated in the 
survey.
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non-Financial performance Indicators

organizational advantages, own brands, stable customer relations and creativity are impor tant 
success factors. these and further so-called non-financial performance indicators of the 
proSiebenSat.1 Group are explained below. For the most part, they are not assessed financially. 
Human resources potential is another important intangible criterion that is not recognized in 
the statement of financial position. on the other hand, we capitalize certain internally gener-
ated intangible assets at a low level. For further information on internally generated intangible 
assets, see note 18 “Intangible assets” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Competitive Advantages through Integrated Organization with 
Established Brands

the proSiebenSat.1 Group manages the majority of its companies as 100 % subsidiaries, includ-
ing its complementary coordinated station portfolios. this distinguishes the Group from its com-
petitors and opens up advantages in selling advertising time or licensing programming rights. at 
the same time, the Group creates synergies through its integrated organizational form and 
raises its efficiency. Moreover, the German tV stations are organized in a matrix structure. thus, 
the tV pillar has shorter communication channels and avoids the build-up of fixed costs. 

In a media market that is becoming steadily more fragmented, the popularity of brands is an 
important success factor. proSiebenSat.1 is excellently positioned in this regard. Various studies 
attest to the popularity of the station family. With a quantitative analysis conducted in 2012, 
proSiebenSat.1 tV Deutschland GmbH again investigated the correlation between the range of 
stations and utilization on the German media market. at the same time, it was examined how 
many and which tV stations German viewers used. the results show that German households 
mostly use established brands, despite an extremely extensive range averaging 82 receivable tV 
stations. occupying the second and third positions in the so-called “relevant set,” Sat.1 and 
proSieben are among the most viewed tV stations in Germany. kabel eins was ranked no. 8. the 
biggest winner is sixx. the women’s channel moved up 16 places within one year. In 15th place, 
sixx finds itself in a very good position two-and-a-half years after its launch and achieved the 
greatest improvement of all the analyzed stations.

employees, page 96.

releVant Set, inCluDinG MarKet SHare oF tHe top 10 StationS (Fig. 61)

 2012 2008 2004

average range of free tV stations 82 63 41

average number of stations in the relevant set 6 6 5

Combined market share of the top 10 stations 78.9 % 81.3 % 86.0 %
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the proSiebenSat.1 Group regularly examines image, popularity and relevance of the free tV 
stations in Germany. In the current studies which are representative for the general population, 
the proSiebenSat.1 stations achieved the following results for 2012:

 >  ProSieben is the most popular and appealing free tV station among the target group relevant 
for advertising of 14 to 49 year olds. 52 % of those surveyed like to watch proSieben (very) 
much. the tV channel is thus ahead of market leader rtL (48 %). In the so-called “desert 
 island question”, the participants were asked which station they would select if only one was 
possible. proSieben performed best, at 23 %, and was thus ahead of arD and rtL (both 15 %). 
In addition, viewers attested to proSieben the highest competence in the genres movies, 
evening series, mystery series, american and British comedy series, entertainment as well as 
science magazines. 

 >  SAT.1 is rated as an entertaining family station and a station with emotion. the viewers’ 
emotional connection to the station grew strongly year on year. Sat.1 is leading in the genres 
breakfast television and investigative documentaries. the station is ranked second for 
 comedy shows, just behind rtL. In addition, the station achieved strong figures for inhouse 
German tV films and american crime series. 

 >  kabel eins, among the second-generation stations, is viewed as the most entertaining, most 
exciting, and most reliable tV channel. In response to the question as to the extent the range 
of programming had developed in comparison to the previous six months, kabel eins was the 
only station which achieved a significant positive change. the station’s popularity also rose 
strongly, with an increase of six percentage points to 29 %. the majority of those surveyed 
described kabel eins as an entertainment station for the whole family with the best movie 
classics.

 >  sixx increased its popularity considerably again in 2012. Its level of aided awareness rose by 
17.6 percentage points compared to fall 2011. the station thus reached an overall figure of 
81.4 % among the 14 to 49 year old viewers. In comparison, when the women’s channel went 
on air in 2010 only 43.1 % of those surveyed knew the channel. sixx scored particularly well in 
its target group. For cult series for women, sixx is in first place, ahead of the heavy-weights 
proSieben and rtL. along with series and movies, viewers value formats that generally deal 
with women’s topics.

as well as the results of regular studies, another indicator of the popularity and quality of our 
formats is numerous awards. In 2012, proSiebenSat.1 tV Deutschland again won numerous awards 
for its programs and artists. the winners included the music show “the Voice of Germany” (Sat.1 
and proSieben) and the comedy format “knallerfrauen” (Sat.1).
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In comparison to the previous year, proSiebenSat.1 tV Deutschland received a higher number of 
awards in the most important television competitions.

the proSiebenSat.1 Group also has a portfolio of well-known brands in the digital sphere. these 
include the video-on-demand portal maxdome, the internet platform MyVideo, and the social tV 
application “proSieben Connect”. Here the close integration of tV and digital activities plays an 
important role. For alongside tV ratings and click rates, response in social networks is an in-
creasingly important non-financial performance indicator. 

Combined, the proSiebenSat.1 Facebook pages have more than nine million fans and are thus well 
ahead of its private competitors. the most successful pages are those of the station proSieben 
and the science program “Galileo” as well as “tV total”. In 2012, those three sites each surpassed 
the one million fans threshold. In 2011, proSiebenSat.1 developed the interactive online applica-
tion “the Voice Connect” for the hit show “the Voice of Germany.” alongside a live stream of the 
tV show, the application integrates the social networks twitter and Facebook. thus, users can 
exchange with other viewers live during the program without leaving the proSiebenSat.1 
 applications. they receive exclusive backstage information and can participate in voting. users 
with a high level of interactivity receive virtual or real rewards. In 2012, proSiebenSat.1 expanded 
the “Connect” application to include big shows such as “Germany’s next topmodel — by Heidi 
klum”. For the proSiebenSat.1 Group, social tV applications are an important instrument for 
increasing the connection between the audience and the show and station brands. For this 
 reason, three years ago the Group set up a permanent, cross-divisional project group that 
 developed a social media strategy for the Group and continues to ensure the cross-media inter-
action of tV, online and social media. 

proSiebenSat.1 proGraM aWarDS 2012 (Fig. 62)

ProSieben SAT.1

German Television 
Award

“the Voice of Germany” 
(Best entertainment Show)

German Television 
Award

“the Voice of Germany” 
(Best entertainment Show)

Golden Camera “the Voice of Germany” 
(Best entertainment)

Golden Camera “the Voice of Germany” 
(Best entertainment)

kress Award “the Voice of Germany” 
(Best tV programming)

kress Award “the Voice of Germany” 
(Best tV programming)

Bavarian Television 
Award

rüdiger Heinze and  
Stefan Sporbert for  
“Schreie der Vergessenen” 
(Young talent award of  
Lfa Förderbank Bayern)

German Television 
Award

“knallerfrauen” 
(Best Comedy)

German Comedy 
Award

Martina Hill 
(Best actress)

SignsAward Green Seven in the category 
“Sustainability”

German Comedy 
Award

“knallerfrauen” 

German Comedy 
Award

“elton vs. Simon — Die Live Show” 
(Best Comedy event)

Bambi Martina Hill 
(Comedy)

German Comedy 
Award 

thomas Hermanns: 
“Special award” for 20 years of 
“Quatsch Comedy Club”

Bavarian Television 
Award 

anja kling for 
“Hannah Mangold & Lucy palm” 
(Serials and Sequels)

UNCA Award 
(Foundation Award 
of United Nations)

“Galileo Spezial: Die unsichtbare 
Mauer — Flüchtlinge auf dem Weg 
nach europa“ (“Coverage, in any 
medium, of the humanitarian and 
development aspects of the un”)

Bavarian Television 
Award

andreas Bareiss and Sven 
Burge meister for  
“Die rache der Wanderhure” 
(Serials and Sequels)

German Television 
Award

“Der letzte Bulle” 
(Best Serial)

opportunity report, page 135.
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thanks to its strategic brand leadership, proSiebenSat.1 is one of europe’s most successful 
media corporations. Strong brands constitute an important value creation factor for the 
proSiebenSat.1 Group. the Group makes selective use of the popularity and reach of its tV 
 stations in order to expand in related areas and develop new brands. In 2012, the marketing 
expenses of the Group for continuing operations amounted to eur 44.8 million (previous year: 
eur 33.5 million). these include all expenses in relation to program and image communication 
of the proSiebenSat.1 Group with the exception of market research and pr activities. key invest-
ment areas were online marketing measures, print advertisements as well as events and fairs. 
the proSiebenSat.1 Group expanded the marketing budget for diversification activities in 2012. 
the company works continuously on increasing the reach and success of its media offerings 
further. For this reason, it will also invest in sustainable marketing campaigns.

Long-Standing Supplier Relationships

attractive programming is one of the most important requirements for the proSiebenSat.1 
 stations’ success with viewers. For this reason the Group maintains close dialogue with domestic 
and international film studios, as well as film and tV producers, which ensures a long-term supply 
of programming for the Group. the Group has agreements with virtually every major Hollywood 

top 5 Station WebSiteS in GerMany on FaCebooK (Fig. 63)

number of fans

1,500,000

1,250,000

1,000,000

  750,000

  500,000

  250,000

        0
proSieben DMaX VIVa MtV rtL

 as of December 31, 2011  as of January 2, 2013 

457,821

1,056,006
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401,421
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top 5 ForMatS oF tHe proSiebenSat.1 Group on FaCebooK (Fig. 64)
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studio. In 2012, the contracts with Warner Bros. International television Distribution, CBS  Studios, 
and paramount pictures were extended for several years. Due to its good supplier relationships, 
in the last few years the proSiebenSat.1 Group has also concluded comprehensive contracts 
with uS licensors for the video-on-demand portal maxdome and has acquired attractive series 
and blockbuster rights — e.g. from twentieth Century Fox, nBC universal, and Disney / aBC Studios 
in 2012. With more than 50,000 titles, maxdome is now Germany’s largest video-on-demand 
platform. Moreover, the Group cooperates with local tV producers and creative partners. For 
example, Dutch format developer and partner John de Mol has developed programs including 
the hit show “the Voice of Germany.”

Solid Customer Relationships

advertising budgets are often granted on a very short-term basis. For that reason, the Group sets 
great store on retaining customer loyalty. In the core German market, the regional sales offices of 
the sales subsidiary Sevenone Media have principal responsibility for this. Here, intensive and 
tailored consultation and various marketing and research services are the essential pillars.

as well as maintaining the existing customer base, the new customer business is vital for the 
sustainable financial success of the proSiebenSat.1 Group. alongside Sevenone Media, the 
proSiebenSat.1 subsidiary Sevenone adFactory also made another significant contribution to 
this business in 2012. the company develops individual, cross-media marketing concepts for 
advertising  customers, in which all of the Group’s advertising forms and media platforms are 
integrated — from traditional sponsorship to product placement and online, mobile, and applica-
tions such as HbbtV and social tV. In addition, in 2012 proSiebenSat.1 established the creative 
agency Sugar ray. the Group thus extends its value chain and now offers the implementation 
of audiovisual communication solutions. thus, advertising customers have access to the com-
plete range of services of a full-service provider, from idea conception to implementation. 
using these  measures, proSiebenSat.1 increased revenues from new customers to a gross fig-
ure exceeding eur 100 million in 2012. 

to strengthen audience loyalty, the proSiebenSat.1 Group offers an extensive information service. 
the viewer service departments take viewers’ questions and suggestions. In Germany, the 
centralized viewer services for the proSiebenSat.1 Group’s free stations logged almost 110,000 
contacts in 2012 (previous year: 120,000). each contact was dealt with individually. Viewers most 
often had questions about the program. a factor impacting the lower numbers of enquires was 
the sports year which directed audience interest to public broadcasters. In addition, social media 
platforms are becoming more important as an additional feedback channel. our editors also 
answer questions about tV and online programs on Facebook and provide additional information 
on the content. In 2012, this made up 11.6 % of written contacts. In comparison, letter contacts 
were down (by 3.6 %) as were e-mail enquiries (by 9.5 %). Comments and suggestions from our 
viewers are very important to us, since they contribute to the optimization of our programming. 
those responsible for programming receive regular reports on viewer feedback. Furthermore, 
the departments request special analyses of specific topics.

Development of the advertising 
Market, page 61.
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Research and Development

the proSiebenSat.1 Group conducts intensive market research in every area relevant to its 
 business activities and in every area in which it foresees growth potential. However, market 
 research activities do not fulfill the definition of research and development in a narrower sense, 
so more detailed figures are omitted from the management report.

Intensive market research and creativity are competitive advantages. Market analyses are 
used as a guiding parameter in the process of planning operations and strategy. at the same 
time, market data and analyses are an important basis for capably advising our advertising 
 clients. In 2012, expenses for Group-wide market research activities in continuing operations 
totaled eur 6.0 million (previous year: eur 7.7 million). 

at proSiebenSat.1, 38 employees work in various research units. they prepare investigations and 
analyses on advertising impact, on trends in the advertising market and media use and also 
 assess economic and advertising market projections. For instance, in 2012 Sevenone Media used 
the analysis tool ”roI analyzer“ to demonstrate that investments in tV advertising pay off in 
the long term. With such analyses, the company provides advertisers with valuable knowledge 
for marketing and advertising planning, which constitute an important basis for their invest-
ment decisions. 

It is enormously important for the proSiebenSat.1 Group to bring new promising formats quickly 
to air. For this reason, program research is assigned a decisive role — as early as the format 
 development phase. the team provides quantitative and qualitative studies and analyses of the 
proSiebenSat.1 stations’ programming. Furthermore, the unit tests new formats with the aid of 
surveys and audience screenings and relays the results back to the editorial teams. With the  
market research results, we can adjust formats in the development phase and thus increase the 
number of successful programs.

Sustainability as a Factor for Success

Responsible use of resources. as a company from the tV industry, proSiebenSat.1 is not part 
of the traditional manufacturing industry that consumes a large amount of fossil fuels and 
 requires complex international supply chains. nevertheless, the proSiebenSat.1 Group also 
 operates in a market environment where resources are growing scarcer and cost pressure is 
continually rising. For this reason, doing business on a sustainable basis, as well as using 
 resources sparingly, is an important guarantor of future corporate success. 

proSiebenSat.1 consumes the biggest energy resources to produce tV content and transmit 
its stations. therefore, as of January 1, 2012, the company converted its power supply at the 
Munich/unterföhring location to use renewable energy sources and accepts additional costs of 
approximately eur 40,000 per year. However, the tV group thus reduces its carbon footprint 
considerably. Due to its use of power from renewable energy sources, the Group reduced its Co2 
emissions against 2011 by 8,100 tons per year. Moreover, the Group produces 11 kilograms less 
radioactive waste each year. proSiebenSat.1 thus makes a key contribution to protecting the 
environment. under the motto “Green World”, the Group also regularly informs its employees 
via the intranet about ways in which they can protect the environment in the office, by being 
aware of their use of energy and paper, for example.
.

opportunity report, page 135.

risk report, page 118.
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Media company with a high social responsibility. every day, the proSiebenSat.1 Group reaches 
many millions of people with its media offerings and the distributed content has a direct impact 
on the opinion-forming of viewers and users. the company fulfills the responsibility that comes 
with this in its reporting and in its commitment to society. the proSiebenSat.1 Group sees the high 
reach and popularity of its media as an opportunity to get young people in particular excited 
about important topics like tolerance and environmental protection, and to impart values to 
them. For many years, the company has made an important social contribution with numerous 
initiatives, and its programming includes regular reports on ecological, social, and political issues. 

In the past few years, commitment to society has grown continuously in relevance for the 
proSiebenSat.1 Group. the Group launched various projects, for example the initiative “start-
social — Hilfe für Helfer” in 2001 and the fund-raising campaign “reD noSe DaY” in 2003. Since 
sustainable action and commitment to society also have an increasing impact on the success of 
the proSiebenSat.1 Group, in 2011 the Group embedded its corporate social responsibility activities 
in a larger social context and established an advisory Board. an interdisciplinary body chaired by 
Dr. edmund Stoiber supports the media group in the implementation of relevant socio-political 
projects. the advisory Board also provides reflections and suggestions on the media offerings of 
the Group. the focus is on areas that will be of crucial  importance to the proSiebenSat.1 Group 
and society in the future: research, ecology and  sustainability, young people and social 
 issues, art, culture and sport. alongside Dr. edmund  Stoiber, the advisory Board is made up of 
the following members:

 > Minu Barati-Fischer, producer and author
 >  prof. Dr. Dr. h.c. mult. Wolfgang a. Herrmann, president of the  

technische universität München
 > Dr. Heike kahl, Managing Director of the German Children and Youth Foundation
 > prof. Dr. Dieter kronzucker, journalist
 > prof. Markus Lüpertz, painter
 > Dr. Christine theiss, doctor, world champion in kick boxing
 >  prof. Dr. Dr. h.c. mult. klaus töpfer, executive Director IaSS, Institute for advanced 

 Sustainability Studies e.V., former Federal Minister

In 2012, the advisory Board met a total of four times. the members of the executive Board of the 
proSiebenSat.1 Group participated in these events. In 2011, the Board had already recommended 
to the proSiebenSat.1 Group that it use its media reach to commit itself particularly to com-
municating politics to young people. In 2012, in cooperation with the advisory Board the 
proSiebenSat.1 Group invited four tV production companies to develop suitable concepts. In 
2013, the proSiebenSat.1 Group will use them to develop one tV format which it will broadcast. 
after all, private stations such as Sat.1 and proSieben have a special role in presenting politics 
and mediating values such as tolerance. For many years, they have generally been reaching 
more young people than the public channels from arD and ZDF. 
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In the last few years, the proSiebenSat.1 Group has already regularly managed to introduce 
young people in particular to politics in a manner geared to the target group and to awaken 
their interest in political topics with formats such as “tV total Bundestagswahl” and “ahnung-
slos.” at the end of 2012, proSieben launched a political talk show called “absolute Mehrheit 
— Meinung muss sich wieder lohnen.” In the first edition of the show, which lasted approxi-
mately 90 minutes, four professional politicians and a businesswoman discussed the topics of 
the energy transition, tax fairness, and social networks with host Stefan raab. among 14 to 
49 year olds, the proSieben political talk show achieved a market share of 18.6 %, while the 
program’s market share among 14 to 29 year old viewers was as high as 24.9 %. the program 
thus stands out clearly from the political talk show formats of the public stations, especially 
among young viewers, as the following chart shows:

Study demonstrates sustainability of ProSiebenSat.1’s commitment. as early as 2011, the 
proSiebenSat.1 Group conducted a survey that showed a clear link between the Group’s 
 commitment to society and its image enhancement among viewers. a survey about “tolerance 
Day” (proSieben) confirmed that especially young people appreciate programs with socio- 
political content and want to see more projects of this kind. this shows that initiatives such as 
“tolerance Day” have a positive effect on the brand image of a station, so that both sides, 
society and company, benefit from social engagement. In 2012, the proSiebenSat.1 Group 
commissioned a further, far more extensive study so that it could review and further advance 
the awareness and success of its most important initiatives. the research institute mindline 
media GmbH conducted a telephone survey of 1,002 people in Germany of 14 years of age and 
older on the initiatives “reD noSe DaY”, “tolerance Day”, “Green Seven”, and “Seven Moves”. 

MarKet SHareS oF tV StationS in 2012 (Fig. 65)
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In the survey period, 15.9 % of those surveyed remembered “reD noSe DaY” (unaided aware-
ness). the campaign thus reaches the highest figure among the fund-raising campaigns of all 
German stations. as the second most remembered fund-raising campaign, those surveyed spon-
taneously remembered the rtL telethon, which achieved 11.2 %. nearly a third of proSieben’s 
core viewers remembered “reD noSe DaY”. In addition, 63.6 % of those surveyed clearly 
 attributed the campaign to the station proSieben. among 14 to 29 year old viewers, this figure 
is as high as 84.8 %. a majority of 53.7 % evaluated “reD noSe DaY” as good or very good. 
one in six people who are familiar with “reD noSe DaY” has already donated to the campaign, 
corresponding to 8.6 % of the German population. In this respect, there are hardly any differ-
ences between the various age groups. 

this survey demonstrates that “reD noSe DaY” has a firm place among the big social tV 
campaigns, even though in the aided question, where it scored 54.1 %, it understandably did 
not yet reach the level of awareness of initiatives such as “aktion Mensch” (90.0 %) and “ein 
Herz für kinder” (89.9 %), which have been established for decades. However, proSiebenSat.1 
would mainly like to reach young people with its campaigns. and it is successful in this respect 
as the survey figures show: 14 to 29 year olds describe “red nose Day” as particularly appro-
priate, appealing, and understandable. they also find proSieben’s commitment to society 
highly credible (51.1 %), with the station only slightly behind arD (57.3 %) here. the other 
 proSieben initiatives such as “tolerance Day” (49.3 %, aided awareness), “Green Seven” (37.8 %) 
and “Seven Moves” (10.2 %) are also popular among young viewers, even though some of them 
have been part of the programming for only one year or at most just a few years. as a result 
of the survey, the proSiebenSat.1 Group feels vindicated in its commitment and will continue 
to work on expanding the awareness and effectiveness of its initiatives in the next few years.

Independence and Transparency

transparency and independence are important values for our management and particularly for 
us as a publishing company. 

 >  Transparency: relationships of trust with journalists and financial analysts have significant 
value. our media presence improves awareness of our brands and shapes our social reputa-
tion. our public relations and investor relations work is guided by the transparency guide-
lines of the German Corporate Governance Code. accordingly we communicate fully, promptly 
and frankly with journalists, investors and analysts. Here equal treatment of all market 
 participants is very important. at the Company website www.proSiebenSat1.com we provide 
detailed information in German and english about all aspects of our business activities, the 
proSiebenSat.1 stock, and our financial results.

 >  Journalistic independence: to protect journalistic independence and fundamental journalis-
tic conditions, the proSiebenSat.1 Group formulated guidelines already in 2005 that all pro-
gram creators in Germany are obliged to uphold. the “Guidelines for ensuring journalistic 
independence” can be viewed on the corporate website under Company/ Legal framework. 
the Media Group’s journalists are free to shape their contributions and report independently 
of social, economic or political interest groups. 

http://www.prosiebensat1.com/
en/company/corporate- 

responsibility/legal-framework
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protecting young people is also something that the Company is particularly responsible for. pro-
fessionally independent youth protection officers make sure that the proSiebenSat.1 Group of-
fers programming geared to development in the legally prescribed broadcasting slots. Youth 
protection workers are involved early on in the production and purchase of programs at 
proSiebenSat.1. at an early stage, they assess screenplays, accompany productions and formats 
and compile reports at various stages of the development process, as well as preparing col-
leagues in workshops for the responsible task in design programs.

Like tV, internet services must also meet various requirements for the protection of young 
people. the proSiebenSat.1 Group is continously expanding its portfolio of digital services and 
— as in tV — fulfills its responsibility with regard to the protection of minors online. For example, 
we are represented on the Board of the Voluntary Self-Monitoring of Multimedia Service 
 providers association (FSM e.V.). In addition, in early 2013, proSiebenSat.1 Games was one of the 
first major providers of online games in europe to join the German entertainment Software 
Self-regulation Body (uSk).
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Group ManaGeMent report

events after the  
reporting period
risk report

events after the reporting period

no reportable events materially impacting the earnings, financial position and performance of 
the proSiebenSat.1 Group or proSiebenSat.1 Media aG respectively have occurred between 
 December 31, 2012 and February 27, 2013, the date of authorization of this report for publication 
and forwarding to the Supervisory Board. the report for the 2012 financial year will be 
 published on March 28, 2013.

risk report

the business approach of proSiebenSat.1 focuses on detecting and actively managing 
risks. there has been no fundamental change in the overall risk situation compared to 
December 31, 2011. the overall risk assessment is determined by assessing the individual 
risks across all risk categories in the different business areas and segments (external 
risks, sales risks, content risks, technological risks, organizational risks, financial risks, 
compliance risks). Currently no risks are evident which, individually or in combination 
with other risks, would have a material adverse effect on the proSiebenSat.1 Group’s finan-
cial performance and position. these do not present a threat in the foreseeable future. 

over the course of the year, the potential risks from the advertising market environment 
increased slightly compared to December 31, 2011. However, in contrast to the declining 
economic performance in the euro zone, the German economy — the most important rev-
enues market for proSiebenSat.1 — is stable. With our 2015 growth strategy, we paved the 
way for future revenues growth. Driven by systematic diversification in related areas, we will 
further reduce the dependency of our business on the cyclical fluctuations of the advertis-
ing market. With the sale of the northern european tV and radio portfolio, we are adapting 
ourselves to the increasing digitalization of the media landscape and its opportunities for 
growth. at the same time, the disposal widens our financial scope for investments in business 
operations. the proSiebenSat.1 Group has a solid basis financially and in terms of its bal-
ance sheet. as of the date of the preparation of the management report, in this context the 
executive board considers that the overall risk situation remains limited and manageable. 

Risk Management

as an internationally operating media group, proSiebenSat.1 is exposed to many changes and a 
range of uncertainties. the Group deploys effective management and control systems to detect 
the resulting risks, to assess them and minimize them where possible. We have combined them 
in a risk management system deployed throughout the Group.

overall assessment of the risk 
situation — management view.

external risks, page 122.

 Company outlook, page 146.
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the business approach also means recognizing opportunities at an early stage and leverag-
ing them rigorously. Business opportunities are not recorded by risk Management at 
proSiebenSat.1, but are part of budget planning. they are tracked as part of regular reporting. 
at the Strategy Meeting, long-term growth potential is determined and measures to drive it 
agreed.

Clear decision structures, a methodical approach and standardized management are indispen-
sable components for secure risk handling across the Group. at proSiebenSat.1, these essential 
factors are ensured by way of consistent guidelines, internal organizational directives and an 
unambiguous allocation of duties and areas of responsibility for risk management parameters. 
In this way, all relevant business units and subsidiaries are integrated into the process. In simpli-
fied terms, the system implemented across the Group for dealing with risk can be characterized 
as follows:

 >  Decentralized risk managers are responsible for detecting and reporting risks from the various 
corporate units. For each risk a risk manager is defined who monitors and regularly assesses 
the probability of occurrence and the impact on the company’s success. risk is defined as a 
potential deviation from a planned result, which might adversely affect the achievement of our 
goals or the implementation of our strategy in a significant or negative fashion. the results are 
documented in an It database. 

 
 >  the Group Risk and Compliance Officer is responsible for the quarterly reporting of detected 

risks to the executive Board, as well as for any additional reports as required. the department 
he manages develops Group standards and supports the various corporate units in identifying 
risk at an early stage. the risk management system is monitored on an ongoing basis so that 
it integrates all units and also new business models. this objective is supported by regular 
training on the part of the decentralized risk managers.

 >  the Internal Audit unit regularly reviews the quality of the risk management system. It reports 
the results directly to the Group CFo. these audits are based on the risk Management Manual, 
which summarizes not only company-specific principles for risk management, but also the 
 associated organization and procedures.

 opportunity report, page 135.

Intragroup  Management System, 
page 47.
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the risk management process itself consists of the following complementary steps:

riSK ManaGeMent proCeSS (Fig. 67)

Risk 
control

Risk identification and 
risk classification

Risk managment and 
risk monitoring

Risk assessment

Risk identification and  
risk classification:  
 
 
 

risk identification and classification are founded on risk management reviews that are 
held regularly for each important subsidiary or division, at dates close to the planning 
process. the risks identified are allocated to defined risk categories so as to permit 
a  logical aggregation of individual risks. risk identification is subject to an ongoing 
 updating process due to constantly changing conditions and is incorporated in the 
 decision-making process as part of quarterly risk reporting.

Risk assessment: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

the potential probability of risk and the potential impact of each identified risk on 
 proSiebenSat.1 Group’s operating business performance and strategic planning is 
 evaluated. the impact is generally assessed with an eye on how risks could impact 
 recurring eBItDa, liquidity and net debt. risk assessment also includes analyzing 
 causes and interactions with other risks. In addition to quantitative methods, some 
of which are based on early warning indicators, risks are also assessed using qualitative 
approaches. Mitigating factors and measures are taken into account in the assessment. 
However, opportunities are not offset.

Risk management and  
risk monitoring: 

risk management is based on a uniform system of early identification. early warning indi-
cators were determined for all material categories of risk. they include performance data 
of the proSiebenSat.1 Group in terms of audience share and the advertising market, the 
 ongoing value of the program inventory and the development of human resources. In terms 
of financial risk, early warning indicators have been defined specifically for liquidity and net 
debt with a key focus being adherence to the covenants stipulated in financing contracts. 

the monthly Group Controlling reports provide the information required for monitoring 
the overall risk situation. a target-actual comparison shows if there is a risk. the key value 
thresholds are determined by the executive Board. the responsible management initiates 
suitable measures to counter each identified risk that is deemed to be relevant. these 
measures are documented and monitored as a part of the reporting system. the executive 
Board discusses and decides on the necessary risk minimization measures, and reports 
to the responsible audit and Finance Committee of the Supervisory Board. When new risks 
arise, or individual indicators change significantly, the executive Board and Supervisory 
Board are notified at once, irrespective of the quarterly reporting intervals.
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Development of the Individual Risks

the assessment of the overall risk situation is based on a valuation of the most significant individ-
ual risks and an aggregate analysis of the Group’s three principal risk groups: operating risks, fi-
nancial risks, and compliance risks. the following diagram presents an overview of the material 
individual risks in comparison to December 31, 2011:

the following sections show the current perspective on the risks which could materially impact 
our earnings, financial position and performance. In addition, we assess the probability of 
 occurrence of the risks and the level of their potential financial impact. We are not aware of or 
consider immaterial any additional risks which could impact our business activities.

Operating Risks

DeVelopMent oF tHe inDiViDual riSKS aS oF DeCeMber 31, 2012 (Fig. 68)

Change 2012 vs. 2011

External 
risks 

Sales 
risks 

Content  
risks 

Technology 
risks 

Organizational 
risks 

Financial 
risks 

Compliance 
risks 

Overall 
risk situation 

 slight increase  unchanged  slight decrease

operatinG riSKS (Fig. 69)

Key management 
measures 
 
 
 
 

External risks: ongoing analysis of economic and industry trends combined with 
continuous investments in programming and market research, efficient cost management

Sales risks: regular and systematic assessment of the order volume

Content risks: Long-term relationships with licensors and close contact to producers, 
development on an inhouse production unit

Technology risks: regular investments in the technological infrastructure, It updates, 
back-up systems to minimize risk of possible failure in studio and broadcasting equipment

Organizational risks: Monitoring Hr figures, strategic human resources recruitment and 
development programs, employee motivation on the basis of variable remuneration 
systems 

Overall probability of 
occurrence: Medium 
 
Impact (strength): High 
 
 
 
 
 
 

effective risk management is very important for the proSiebenSat.1 Group, not least due to 
the low visibility of the advertising market typical for the industry and the short-term nature 
of booking tV advertising. our experience in the tV advertising market and our expertise 
in the media sector, together with clear organizational structures and highly qualified staff, 
enable us to deal with operating risks appropriately and implement effective measures for 
risk reduction. We address challenges posed by the economy — the largest potential external 
risk factor — with systematic cost and efficiency management. at the same time, we optimize 
our risk and opportunity profile by successively diversifying our dependency on individual 
markets and leverage additional growth potential on the basis of innovative business models 
such as media-for-revenues-share. this aim is also pursued by the expansion of our digital 
business and the international expansion of our program production business.
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External risks
Macroeconomic risks. after a short economic revival at the start of the year, global economic 
growth weakened over the course of 2012. the global economy was negatively affected in partic-
ular by the sovereign debt crisis in europe, the declining growth momentum in China and important 
emerging economies, as well as uncertainty in uS financial policy. In the euro zone, the recessive 
trend intensified over the course of the year. as a result, the climate cooled somewhat in the 
 German economy as well, since companies invested with increasing restraint. In comparison to 
the declining economic performance in the euro zone, the German economy showed moderate 
growth. Various economic indicators also show that the German economy remains robust. the 
employment market is developing in stable fashion, while for private consumption the outlook 
is positive. However, the German economy’s growth prospects depend on further easing of the 
 european debt crisis as well as positive stimulus for growth from the uSa and China. 

Due to their close link to the economic environment, tV advertising markets often react in a 
 procyclical manner to macroeconomic developments. When the economic outlook is positive, 
companies are more willing to invest and advertising expenditure increases. In 2011, the compara-
tively dynamic German economic growth (+3.0 %) was accompanied by solid growth in advertis-
ing investments (ZaW: +1.0 % net). Conversely, in a period when the economy slows, companies 
react at relatively short notice by reducing their advertising budget. For this reason, any consid-
erable cooling down of the economy represents a considerable risk for the proSiebenSat.1 Group. 
In 2012, gross domestic product grew further by 0.7 %, even though this growth was considerably 
weaker than that of the previous year. therefore, in 2012, the potential risks from the advertising 
market environment increased slightly. In view of the current economic uncertainties, an adverse 
impact on our advertising business cannot be ruled out. However, on the basis of the current state 
of knowledge, we assess the overall risk as limited. We are currently not perceiving any material 
impact on our business. By developing new business models beyond tV advertising, the Group has 
optimized its risk profile and will continue to pursue its diversification strategy rigorously in the 
future.

Risks from changed media usage behavior. With the emergence of new media at the end of the 
1990s, the assumption spread that traditional media such as television could experience a signifi-
cant loss of importance. While print media are indeed exposed to heavy pressure of being replaced, 
television remains the most important form of mass media, with a use time of 205 minutes per 
day in Germany. the use of digital media is now at 107 minutes, thus claiming approximately half 
the time devoted to television. In addition, the internet is frequently used as a functional medium 
for working, shopping, and online banking. Hence, television is not negatively affected by the 
range of new media. For this reason, the proSiebenSat.1 Group views the risk of a structural 
change in tV use as low.

Due to the diversification of screens, video content can be downloaded on an increasing number 
of devices, such as laptops, smartphones, and tablet pCs. However, there is currently no sign of 
migration to competing media. Instead, what can be observed is an additive use of such media as 
tV and the Internet. this is also shown by the current “navigator Mediennutzung” study by 
proSiebenSat.1 advertising sales company Sevenone Media. over the past 10 years, media use in 
Germany has increased by one sixth to 9.75 hours per day. tV and the internet complement each 
other intensively. approximately 70 % of content accessed online is related to tV. television 
 provides the initial stimulus to browse additional content, advertising messages, products, and 
services online. proSiebenSat.1 is very well positioned to utilize the change in media use as an 
opportunity for growth for the traditional tV business and the digital activities. We thus react to 
new viewing habits such as the desire for interaction and media use independent of time with 
cross-media television offerings utilizing online, mobile, and video-on-demand. the success of 

economic environment, page 60.

Future Business and Industry 
environment, page 142.

Glossary, page 264.

opportunity report, page 135.
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show-accompanying social tV offerings such as the Voice of Germany Connect and Germany’s 
next topmodel — by Heidi klum Connect demonstrate the variety of opportunities opened up by 
the cross-media linking of media content and advertising messages. owing to technological inno-
vations such as HD and 3D, we anticipate that television will be the main form of screen-based 
media in future as well. television is the no. 1 medium, with an extension into the internet providing 
a deepening of content. tV is also the most effective medium with regard to advertising impact. tV 
campaigns have been proved to have the highest impact on revenues and earnings. at the same 
time, tV had the highest share on the German advertising market among all media types in 2012, 
with 43.3 %.

on the internet, a trend towards the professionalization of content can be observed that the 
proSiebenSat.1 Group, as a tV company, can handle very well. In 2012, the Group expanded its 
 internet platform MyVideo into an online station, also opening several studios for the production 
of exclusive web shows. In addition, MyVideo showed various uS series as “online first” premieres, 
before the tV broadcast. With measures such as these, the Group strengthens its market position, 
securing its competitive advantage also against new suppliers such as Google, which increasingly 
offer video content on the internet. In recent years, proSiebenSat.1 has developed maxdome as 
Germany’s leading online video library and thus has another attractive offering in the area of 
on-demand services independent of time. maxdome is funded by subscriptions and pay-per-view 
downloads and is not only an additional way to distribute program content, but also offers new 
methods of generating revenues beyond selling advertising space. We also have an attractive 
portfolio in the area of pay tV, which we expanded in 2012 with the station proSieben Fun.

to meet the competitive challenges in the future, proSiebenSat.1 maintains ongoing market 
 research and promotes a strategic brand positioning. along with the quality of content, strong 
brands are an important unique selling point. therefore, we consider potential risks from changed 
media use behavior to be low — both with a view to their probability of occurrence and with regard 
to the potential impact.

Sales risks
the proSiebenSat.1 Group generates the biggest share of its revenues from the sale of advertising 
space, especially of tV advertising time. Due to the fact that they have a potentially huge impact 
on financial success, the active control of possible risks from the sale of tV advertising time is the 
focus of the management of operating risks. as part of risk control, actual and forecast values of 
advertising revenues and advertising market share are regularly compared against the previ-
ous-year figures and analyzed. this allows deviations from budget to be recognized at an early 
stage and countermeasures to be implemented at short notice. this could include cost adjust-
ments or changes in program planning and price policy.

audience share reflects how the programming offer meets the taste of the audience and the 
reach of the tV programs and advertising spots. to minimize sales risks, audience shares are 
 analyzed with data of the Working Group of television research (aGF) on a daily basis. In this way, 
we are able to monitor the success of our tV stations extremely closely and if necessary to take 
countermeasures at short notice. Daily audience shares are an important performance indicator 
for our advertising customers. However, short-term fluctuations of market share ratings do not 
influence recognition. Besides quantitative analyses, qualitative studies are also an important 
control instrument. In 2012, program research at proSiebenSat.1 again cooperated closely with 
various institutes on this. In Germany proSiebenSat.1 commissioned them to carry out numerous 
telephone and online interviews with viewers as well as group discussions. In this way, stations 
obtain direct feedback from their audience and thus can optimize and further develop their 
 programs on an ongoing basis.

opportunity report, page 135.

non-Financial performance 
Indicators, page 106.

Glossary, page 264.
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as well as ratings success, a high-quality environment in which to place their advertising spots is 
of crucial importance to advertising customers. the proSiebenSat.1 Group has numerous flagship 
programs, such as “the Voice of Germany” and “Schlag den raab”. the Group receives licenses 
to show blockbusters and series from almost all major Hollywood studios and also commissions 
the production of successful programs itself. thus, the proSiebenSat.1 Group offers customers a 
high-quality advertising environment. numerous program awards in 2012 and in the years before 
testify to this.

In order to minimize risks, the Group has also developed a complementary, coordinated station 
portfolio in Germany, austria, and Switzerland. this allows possible market share weaknesses on 
the part of an individual station to be compensated for. In addition, the tV channels focus on 
various core target groups and are demarcated systematically from each in terms of content. In 
this way, the proSiebenSat.1 Group offers advertising customers a wide range of target groups 
covering all commercially relevant social groups. In addition, the Group has established four new 
free tV stations in Germany, austria, and Switzerland in the last six years. For example, the wom-
en’s channel sixx was launched successfully in Germany in 2010 and doubled its market share in 
2012. In June 2012, sixx also went on air in austria, while the channel was launched on the Swiss 
tV market at the start of 2013. In this way, the proSiebenSat.1 Group increases its audience shares 
and opens the way to new target groups for its advertising customers. Before designing a station, 
the company conducts comprehensive analyses of demand and potential in the audience and 
advertising market. It was thus established that purchase decisions are made mainly by women 
and that in Germany approximately 90 % of those managing the household are female. In view of 
this, sixx is particularly attractive for the advertising market because of the female core target 
group. In January 2013, a further channel, Sat.1 Gold, was added to the proSiebenSat.1 portfolio, 
a station aimed mainly at the older female target group between the ages of 49 and 64.

Due to the measures taken to limit risk and the strengthening of our leading market position in 
2012, we consider the probability of occurrence of the sales risks to be limited overall. In the last 
few months, the Group has implemented moderate price increases in Germany. thus, Sevenone 
Media, the advertising sales house of the proSiebenSat.1 Group, expanded its leading position 
further in 2012, with its gross market share rising to 42.8 % for the full year (previous year: 
42.3 %). We also succeeded in marketing free advertising time according to the media-for-reve-
nues-share model. In this way the Group not only achieves better utilization of its program capac-
ity, but also gains new customers for tV as a medium. the medium-term objective is to increase 
the share of tV advertising in the overall advertising market. For this reason, the Company is 
working hard to develop individual and cross-media advertising concepts in order to further in-
crease the effectiveness of tV advertising.

Content risks
an attractive and varied programming inventory is the decisive criterion for the proSiebenSat.1 
Group in the competition for audiences, internet users, and advertising customers. For this reason, 
ensuring a continuous and long-term supply of high-quality content is the basis of our company’s 
success. While the financial impact of inadequate program supply is potentially high, due to our 
comprehensive measures aimed at limiting risk we assess the probability of our competitive 
 position being adversely impacted by content risk as low. 

non-Financial performance 
 Indicators, page 106.

opportunity report, page 135.
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proSiebenSat.1 secures attractive programs through three different procurement channels — by 
purchasing licensed formats, through commissioned productions and through inhouse formats 
that are based on the development and implementation of own ideas.

License purchases. the Group acquires many of its feature films, tV films, and series as licensed 
content from third parties. proSiebenSat.1 has long-term contracts with virtually every major 
Hollywood studio, including twentieth Century Fox television, Sony pictures International, para-
mount, CBS, Disney, Warner, and Dreamworks. these contracts secure the Group’s long-term pro-
gramming supply. In addition, the Group maintains close ties with domestic and international film 
studios, as well as film and tV producers. 

Generally, proSiebenSat.1 secures programming rights through multi-year license agreements, 
so-called output deals. Here, the Group acquires the broadcasting rights for all future productions 
of a film producer or studio that are produced in a certain period. Hence, programming contracts 
are often signed on a script basis and thus several years ahead of the broadcast date. program-
ming rights are capitalized at the amount of their contractual acquisition cost including acquisi-
tion-related costs. Since neither the quality nor the success of programming produced in the 
 future can be predicted with absolute certainty, signing programming contracts early harbors the 
potential risk of low visibility. We counteract this risk by signing programming contracts exclu-
sively with renowned film studios and production companies which have a corresponding track 
record of success. We minimize programming inventory risks by reviewing contractually secured 
broadcasting rights systematically and on a regular basis for potential risks which could result in 
reduced revenues potential. 

Since a considerable amount of the programming rights are acquired from production studios in 
the uSa, the Group is exposed to exchange rate fluctuations between the euro and the uS dollar, 
but also between other “non-reporting currencies” and the uS dollar. In addition, the Group is also 
generally confronted with the risk of potential price increases. In 2012, pressure was exerted on 
prices for licenses, particularly in Germany. In addition to competition from private stations, this 
is mainly due to the negotiating position of the public stations, which have higher budgets than in 
any other european market due to their being funded though license fees. the proSiebenSat.1 
Group’s new, smaller stations are increasingly finding themselves in competition with the digital 
offshoots of the public stations, such as ZDFneo, for the acquisition of programming rights. How-
ever, with our strong position as a licensee, we view the probability of occurrence of the risk from 
price increases as low. our negotiating position is secured by our close business relationships 
with the licensors – which have been in place for many years – as well as our high purchasing 
 volume.

as a result of the continuous dialog between our central license purchasing department and in-
ternational and national licensors, the Group is always informed about new productions and 
trends at an early stage. However, to ensure the exclusivity of our program, we deploy not only 
our contacts, but in legal terms also secure our programs against the competition. Blocking peri-
ods, so-called hold-back clauses, protect our rights against other licensees and program licensing 
forms. Furthermore, so-called “qualifiers” — i.e. contractually determined reference figures such 
as minimum requirements with regard to box office success – guarantee the quality of the pro-
gram content we acquire. Depending on the contract, the proSiebenSat.1 Group can broadcast the 
programs acquired not only on its free tV stations, but also on digital platforms. proSiebenSat.1’s 
objective is to cover the chain of application as widely as possible with a comprehensive acquisi-
tion of rights and thus also to minimize risks in other areas of application, such as video-on-de-
mand and pay tV.

notes, page 192.

Currency risks, page 130.
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Commissioned and own productions. With its stations, the proSiebenSat.1 Group focuses on an 
individual and generally balanced mix of licensed programs as well as commissioned and own 
productions. productions and formats produced locally are designed especially for individual 
 stations. they strengthen the recognition value of a tV station and in some cases can even be 
created more economically. Because reference figures are sometimes unavailable and there are 
limited options for advance communication, the prospects for the success of inhouse and com-
missioned productions tend to be less certain than for purchased format or programming licenses 
which have already been successful in other countries or in the movie theaters.

With the establishment of its own production unit for the development, production, and sale of tV 
content – the red arrow entertainment Group – in 2010, an even wider basis was formed for the 
programming supply of the proSiebenSat.1 Group. In addition to business advantages resulting 
from bundling content expertise across the Group in one central unit, the founding is an important 
strategic step to expand the Group’s value chain. red arrow entertainment develops and pro-
duces tV content not only for Group stations, but also offers its expertise to external customers. 
In 2012, the red arrow entertainment Group expanded its portfolio further through acquisitions 
of tV production companies, considerably strengthening its presence particularly in Great Britain 
and the uSa, the world’s most important tV markets.

In order to assess the appeal of its inhouse productions as reliably as possible, proSiebenSat.1 
conducts intensive market research. program research work starts long before the program goes 
on air. researchers accompany the development of new programs for proSiebenSat.1 stations 
using a wide range of different methods, in many cases as early as the concept or screenplay 
stage. So-called real-time-response tests (rtr) are a frequently used instrument. they are 
 deployed when initial sequences or a pilot episode are available for new tV programs. When 
 programs are screened, test persons document their response and reactions using a type of 
 remote control, with accuracy down to the second and in real time. this makes it possible to 
 measure intuitive and spontaneous reactions without the participants first having to verbalize 
their impressions. Verbalization is the second step — in the context of an intensive conversation 
with a professional interviewer. another measure to limit risk is “format management” for the 
German station family. this involves an improvement to the program approval process, which has 
two key aims. Firstly to design customized program ideas for specific slots. Secondly, to establish 
uniform development and production processes by clear meeting and decision-making structures, 
without restricting creative scope.

Technology risks
a fundamental requirement for the success of the proSiebenSat.1 stations with their advertising 
customers is high viewer ratings. For these to be achieved, uninterrupted transmission is particu-
larly crucial, as well as an attractive range of programming. proSiebenSat.1 has a highly modern 
technical infrastructure that is consistent with the highest standards of security. to minimize risks 
that could result from a defective technological infrastructure, proSiebenSat.1 implements 
 systematic risk assessments. In addition, our systems are secured by comprehensive back-up 
 solutions.

Broadcasting equipment and studio operations. Interference to studio and broadcasting equip-
ment could result in program changes at short notice and could cause a failure of our stations. 
this could lead to guarantee and goodwill claims on the part of our advertising customers. also, 
an infrastructure inadequately aligned with the current needs of the market or current security 
requirements could impact on our financial success. a high level of security for our systems is 
therefore just as important as their ongoing maintenance and improving infrastructure, if re-
quired. For this reason, back-up systems are installed for all relevant business processes, thus 
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ensuring a broadcasting process without interruptions as well as a smooth process of all material 
components of studio and post-production equipment, even in case of disruption. these redun-
dant systems are at separate locations and their functioning was also further optimized in 2012. 

With the commissioning of a new broadcasting center in 2009, the so-called playout Center, 
proSiebenSat.1 completely digitalized its transmission operations, transferring the contents of all 
German-speaking stations and online platforms to a common platform. the new infrastructure 
secured the Group’s technological edge, allowing the parallel use of contents across all media. With 
this digital pool of materials, the Group has not only set the benchmark in the media industry, but 
has also leveraged time and quality advantages. Introducing efficient media management with 
standardized processes reduces dependency on manual flows. Since 2011, the work of the produc-
tion units and the playout Center has been completely file-based and focused on HD operations. 
We thus implement technical developments and reduce costs through the use of tapeless devices.

IT risks. the increasing complexity of the Group’s systems means that the lack of an It infra-
structure may have serious consequences for business processes and in the worst case can have 
a direct financial impact for the Group. possible potential risks are failures of systems, applica-
tions or networks, as well as violations of data integrity and data confidentiality. For this reason, 
the proSiebenSat.1 Group invests on an ongoing basis in hardware and software, in firewall systems 
and virus scanners, and establishes various access authorizations and controls. the security stan-
dards are examined by the Internal audit department for effectiveness and possible potential 
for improvement. It security, access controls, the security of the pool of material and the firewalls 
are regularly evaluated in respect to sustainable risk minimization. to the extent necessary, It is 
 adjusted in line with the audit results and the measures implemented are monitored as part of risk 
reporting. the Group has multiple computer centers at separate locations, which assume each 
other’s tasks in the event of a system failure. In 2012, proSiebenSat.1 commissioned a new, modu-
larly structured container computer center that fulfills both the current and the future technolog-
ical requirements in an optimal fashion. the innovative container concept superseded a previous 
computer center and due to its observance of the highest standards of safety and its energy- 
efficient design it is already considered the most modern computer center in the German media 
industry.

Due to the aforementioned measures such as the establishment of back-up systems, we consider 
the probability of a defective technological infrastructure impacting on our financial success to be 
low. We assess the financial impact of a defective technological infrastructure as low to medium. 

Organizational risks 
Personnel risks. In the course of digitalization, the need for qualified employees in our growth 
areas has risen. to improve the appeal of proSiebenSat.1 as an employer, the Group developed an 
employer brand. From the beginning of 2011, this was implemented with the launch of the new 
careers website at www.prosiebensat1.com. In 2012, the employer brand was expanded to include 
a target-group-specific employer branding campaign with which we present ourselves on the 
 employment market as a digital entertainment & e-commerce powerhouse. With the campaign, 
proSiebenSat.1 appeals specifically and mainly to employees in key functions such as It, as well as 
to applicants for traditional positions. In addition, our close network of contacts within the digital 
sector and close cooperation with universities benefit us in recruiting highly qualified specialists 
and managers for our growth areas. our measures in the area of recruiting pay off. rankings of 
the trendence Institute and universum demonstrate that proSiebenSat.1 is seen as a preferred 
employer. In order to prevent a lack of specialist staff, the Group also trains young staff in commer-
cial and technical careers as well as offering internships in almost all corporate areas. We offer 
trainees cross-media education in tV, online and pr, aligned specifically to the requirements of a 
modern media group. 
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as well as digitalization, new challenges are posed to the Group by the expansion of our produc-
tion arm red arrow into new markets such as the uSa. In order to cover our short and long-term 
personnel requirements here and at the same time to do business efficiently, the management 
of personnel resources is of great importance. the aim is to use resources efficiently and thus 
reduce fixed costs by utilizing existing Group company structures. at the same time, knowledge 
transfer is to be ensured and synergy potential optimally utilized through the development of 
close ties between the individual companies. the Group has laid the foundation for this by 
 bundling the subsidiaries under the umbrella of the red arrow entertainment Group GmbH.

the second component of our successful personnel management is the targeted Hr development 
of our staff. our employees also benefit from the offers of the inhouse proSiebenSat.1 academy. 
proSiebenSat.1 is continuously expanding the academy’s range of specialist training. In addition, 
in the last two years it has developed a performance and potential management system (otr) 
for executives and potential managers. the objective is to generate loyalty among employees 
and managers on a long-term basis, at the same time implementing successor planning for key 
positions in due time. an attractive performance-based remuneration structure is another crite-
rion in competing for qualified staff and managers. alongside our “top targets” bonus plan, 
performance Development is a bonus program for managers in which not only specialist perfor-
mance but also individual managerial competency is assessed and remunerated. In addition, 
proSiebenSat.1 has been investing in work-life-balance offerings for many years, allowing staff 
flexibility in both their careers and personal lives. 

a variety of opportunities for specialist training and development as well as attractive remuneration 
generate long-term loyalty on our employees’ part and make us a preferred employer. Important Hr 
figures for 2012 also show this is the case. For instance, the average rate of fluctuation decreased 
to 11.4 % in 2012 (2011: 13.1 %).
   
Highly qualified and committed employees form the basis for our success. For this reason, the loss 
of specialist and managerial staff in key positions as well as bottlenecks in recruiting staff also 
represent a potential risk for proSiebenSat.1. as a result of our extensive measures, we further 
reduced the probability of occurrence of the risks in the Hr department. We assess the financial 
impact of this risk category as medium.

Process risks from business operations. as an international media company, we must ensure 
smooth business operations at all times. Interruptions or threats to business operations can have 
serious consequences for business processes and in the worst case can have a direct financial 
impact for the Group. particularly when an unforeseen event occurs (e.g. fire, water damage) that 
interrupts the continuity of normal business operations, it is of crucial importance that normal 
operations be restored as quickly as possible. In order to minimize risks from business operations, 
we have established an efficient crisis management organization for tackling emergencies. In 
2012, proSiebenSat.1 developed its crisis and emergency management further with the introduc-
tion of Group-wide safety guidelines. the comprehensive guidelines ensure that business pro-
cesses can flow smoothly even in emergencies. they also ensure the quickest possible return to 
normal operations. 

employees, page 96.
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Financial Risks
In its operating business and due to its borrowings, the proSiebenSat.1 Group is exposed to  various 
financial risks. overall, the probability of occurrence of these risks is assessed as low. the Group 
Finance & treasury unit is responsible for managing financial risks on a central basis. the 
 management measures are defined in close cooperation with the executive Board. Guidelines that 
apply across the Group regulate principles, tasks and responsibilities of financial risk manage-
ment on a uniform basis for all subsidiaries of proSiebenSat.1 Media aG. as part of risk manage-
ment, the Finance and treasury units are systematically audited by Internal audit once a year. the 
last audit again generated a positive result. For more information on the hedging instruments, 
measurements and sensitivity analyses together with a detailed description of the risk manage-
ment system in reference to financial instruments, refer to the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements.

In December 2012, the proSiebenSat.1 Group sold its tV and radio activities in northern europe. 
the Group intends to use part of the sale proceeds for prepayment of parts of term loan facilities 
under the syndicated facility agreement of the proSiebenSat.1 Group. as a result the Group will 
further reduce its financing risk, which is potentially the highest financial risk for the Group. In 
2011, the Group already prepaid a significant part of its term loans and extended the maturities of 
most of the remaining term loans. this improved the Group’s capital structure on a sustained 
basis. the proSiebenSat.1 Group has a solid financial and operating basis. nevertheless, due to the 
ongoing sovereign debt crisis in europe, the proSiebenSat.1 Group has intensified monitoring of 
its financial risk positions. as part of financial risk management, a regular assessment is made 
with a valuation of market information and the change of economic indicators.

Financing risk. a lack of available funding or impeded access to sufficient funding on an equity 
and debt capital basis on money and capital markets can have a high financial impact on 
proSiebenSat.1. the availability of existing borrowing depends particularly on compliance with 
particular contractual conditions which are subject to strict and ongoing assessment. the cove-
nants of the facilities agreements were complied with in 2012 as well. on the basis of our current 
corporate planning, a violation of the financial covenants can be ruled out, also in the future. 
against this background risks from financing are manageable. We consider the probability of 
 occurence as low. the Group monitors changes on the money and capital markets on an ongoing 
basis in order to identify risks early and to secure the availability and capital efficiency of financial 
instruments, also in the future.

Counterparty risks. the Group concludes finance and treasury transactions exclusively with busi-
ness partners which meet high credit rating requirements. the conclusion of finance and treasury 
transactions is regulated in internal counterparty guidelines. alongside a thorough assessment of 
the credit standing, proSiebenSat.1 limits the probability of the occurrence of counterparty risks 
by a broad diversification of its lenders. In addition, the portfolios of receivables are monitored on 
a continuous basis.

notes, page 224.

For information on Section 315 (2) 
no. 2 German Commercial Code 

concerning financial instruments 
we refer to the section “Further 
notes on financial risk manage-
ment and financial instruments 

according to IFrS 7“, in the notes 
to the consolidated financial 

statements, no. 34, page 224.
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Interest rate risks. Interest rate risks result from potential movements in market interest rates. as 
of the end of the year, the proSiebenSat.1 Group had hedged approximately 68 % of the vari-
able-interest term loans using interest rate swaps in order to limit risks. a partial volume of eur 
750 million expired in 2012. In addition to the unhedged portion of the term loan, there is a residual 
variable interest rate risk from cash drawings the Group takes on its revolving credit facility (rCF). 
as of December 31, 2012, the cash drawing of the rCF was eur 230.6 million. this compares to 
cash and cash equivalents of eur 702.3 million as of December 31, 2012.

Currency risks. as an international company, the operating business of the proSiebenSat.1 Group 
is exposed to currency risks due to changes in exchange rates. Currency risks occur primarily if 
revenues are generated in a currency different from the related costs (transaction risk). Since the 
proSiebenSat.1 Group concludes a substantial number of its license agreements with production 
studios in the united States and generally fulfills the financial obligations resulting from these in 
uS dollars, it is particularly when purchasing licensed programs that there are risks from changes 
in exchange rates. the Group manages this risk by the targeted use of derivative financial instru-
ments, primarily currency forwards. Due to the high hedging rate over the next few years, the 
impact of currency fluctuations is assessed as manageable. In 2012, changes in exchange rates 
did not have a material impact on the revenues and earnings performance of the Group and its 
segments. For this reason, the Group has not hedged risk resulting from translating foreign cur-
rencies into the Group currency — the euro. the reporting currency of the proSiebenSat.1 Group 
is the euro. the financial statements of companies with their registered office outside the euro 
zone are converted to euro for the consolidated financial statements. Since the Group generates 
the majority of its revenues in the euro zone, the related risk from currency fluctuations (transla-
tion risk) to the revenues and earnings performance of the proSiebenSat.1 Group is low. 

Liquidity risks. Liquidity risk is managed centrally through a cash management system. the most 
important early warning indicator is expected liquidity headroom. this is calculated and assessed 
regularly by comparing currently available funds and budgeted figures, taking into account 
 seasonal influences. We assess Group liquidity as good, and assume that the liquidity headroom 
will remain sufficient in the coming years.

Interest rate swaps are  
recognized in hedge accounting  

as cash flow hedges. For more 
information, refer to the notes  

to the consolidated financial 
statements from page 190  
and glossary on page 262. 

the proSiebenSat.1 Group does  
not deploy derivative financial 

instruments for trading purposes, 
but only to hedge existing  

risk positions.

Seasonality, page 72.

Cash and Cash equivalents,  
page 87.

FinanCial riSKS (Fig. 70)

Key management  
measures 
 
 
 

Financing risks: ongoing monitoring of financial covenants

Interest and currency risks: targeted use of derivative financial instruments

Liquidity risks: Securing solvency with a central cash management system and 
ongoing monitoring of liquidity headroom

Counterparty risks: Broad basis of capital providers and strict credit rating checks

Overall probability of 
occurrence: Low 

 
Potential impact  
(strength): High

Interest and foreign exchange volatility or the default of lenders could considerably impair 
the financing situation and liquidity of the Group. We counter these risks with extensive 
measures, so we consider the overall probability of occurrence as limited. In view of current 
business performance and our solid balance sheet structure, we assess the probability of 
occurance of the financing risk — the potentially biggest financial risk for the proSiebenSat.1 
Group — as low.

130Group ManaGeMent report

risk report



DiSCloSureS on tHe internal ControllinG anD riSK ManaGeMent SySteM in relation to tHe 
Group reportinG proCeSS (SeCtion 315 (2) no. 5 oF tHe GerMan CoMMerCial CoDe) WitH 
eXplanatory noteS (Fig. 71)

the internal controlling and risk management system in 
relation to the (consolidated) reporting process is intended 
to ensure that transactions are appropriately reflected in 
the consolidated financial statements of proSiebenSat.1 
Media aG (prepared in line with the International Financial 
reporting Standards, IFrS) and that assets and liabilities 
are recognized, measured and presented appropriately. 
this presupposes Group compliance to legal and company 
regulations. the scope and focus of the implemented 

 systems were defined by the executive Board to meet the 
specific needs of the proSiebenSat.1 Group. they are reg-
ularly reviewed and updated as necessary. nevertheless, 
even appropriate and properly functioning systems cannot 
offer any absolute assurance that all risks will be identified 
and controlled. the company-specific principles and pro-
cedures to ensure that the Group’s single-entity and con-
solidated reporting is effective and correct are described 
below.

Goals of the risk management 
system in regard to financial 
reporting processes 
 

the executive Board of proSiebenSat.1 Media aG views the internal controlling system 
with regard to the financial reporting process as an important component of the Group-
wide risk management system. Controls are implemented in order to provide an adequate 
assurance that in spite of the identified risks inherent in recognition, measurement and pre-
sentation, the single-entity and consolidated financial statements will be in full compliance 
with regulations. the principal goals of a risk management system in regard to single-entity 
and consolidated reporting processes are:

>   to identify risks that might jeopardize the goal of providing single-entity and 
 consolidated financial statements that comply with regulations.

>   to limit risks that are already known by identifying and implementing appropriate 
countermeasures.

>   to analyze known risks as to their potential influence on the (consolidated) financial 
statements, and to take these risks duly into account.

In addition, in the reporting year we updated our process 
descriptions and our risk control matrices. the focus here 
was on standardizing the descriptions and establishing 
effective control mechanisms. these updates combined 
with regular tests on the basis of samples were part of the 
prIMe project. Since then they have been an integrated 

part of the internal controlling and risk management 
system in relation to the (consolidated) reporting process. 
on the basis of the test results there is an assessment of 
whether the controls are appropriate and effective. any 
deficiencies in the controls are eliminated, taking into 
account their potential impact.

Structural organization >   the material single-entity financial statements that are incorporated in the consolidat-
ed financial statements are prepared using standardized software.

>   the single-entity financial statements are then consolidated to form the consolidated 
financial statements using modern, highly-efficient standardized software.

>   the financial statements of the main individual entities are prepared in compliance with 
both local financial reporting standards and the Group‘s accounting and reporting man-
ual based on IFrS which is available via the Group intranet to all employees involved in 
the reporting process. the individual companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements provide their financial statements to Group accounting in a defined format.

>   the financial systems employed are protected with appropriate access authorizations 
and controls (authorization concepts).

>   the entire Group has a standardized plan of accounting items, which must be followed 
in recording the various classes of transactions.

>   Certain matters relevant to reporting (e.g. expert opinions with regard to pension pro-
vision, measurement of the stock option plan, impairment testing of intangible assets) 
are determined with the assistance of external experts.

>   the principal functions of the reporting process — accounting and taxes, controlling, 
and finance and treasury — are clearly separated. areas of responsibility are assigned 
without ambiguity.

>   the departments and other units involved in the reporting process are adequately 
 provided with resources in terms of both quantity and quality. regular professional 
training sessions are held to ensure that financial statements are prepared at a 
 consistent and reliable level of quality.

>   an appropriate system of guidelines (e.g. accounting and reporting manual, inter-
company transfer pricing guideline, purchasing guideline, travel expense guideline, 
etc.) has been set up and are updated to the extent necessary.

>   the efficiency of the internal controlling system in regard to processes relevant to 
 financial reporting is reviewed on a sample basis by the Internal audit unit which is 
 independent of the process.

131Group ManaGeMent report

risk report

G
r

o
u

p
 M

a
n

a
G

e
M

e
n

t 
r

e
p

o
r

t



Process organization 
 
 

>   there is a user-friendly web-based tool for the process of planning, monitoring and 
optimizing the consolidated financial statements. It includes a detailed calendar 
 containing all important activities, milestones and responsibilities. all activities and 
milestones have specific deadlines. Compliance with reporting requirements and 
deadlines is monitored centrally by Group accounting.

>   all reporting-related processes are subject to such controls as segregation of duties, 
the dual-control principle, procedures for approval and release and plausibility 
 testing.

>   there is a clear allocation of duties in preparing the consolidated financial state-
ments (e.g. reconciliation of intra-Group balances, capital consolidation, monitoring 
reporting deadlines and reporting quality of the data reported by consolidated 
 companies, etc.). For specialist matters and complex accounting matters, Group 
 accounting functions as the central contact.

>   all major information included in the consolidated financial statements is subjected 
to extensive technical validations within the system to ensure that the data are 
 complete and reliable.

>   risks relating to the single-entity and consolidated reporting process are continu-
ously detected and monitored as part of the risk management process described in 
the risk report.

Compliance Risks
our international business operations result not only in operating and financial risks, but also a 
wide range of legal risks. results of legal disputes and cases can considerably damage our 
 business, our reputation and our brand as well as cause considerable costs. Ways we limit legal 
risks include cooperation with highly qualified legal experts and targeted staff training. the 
Group establishes provisions for legal disputes if there is a present obligation arising from past 
events, it is probable that settlement will require an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits and the obligation can be measured reliably. 

General compliance
the objective of compliance is securing smooth management at all times and in all respects. 
 possible violations of legal statutory regulations and reporting obligations, infringements against 
the German Corporate Governance Code or insufficient transparency in corporate management 
can jeopardize conformity to the rules. It is for this reason that the proSiebenSat.1 Group has 
 established a Code of Compliance which applies across the whole group, which provides employ-
ees specific rules of conduct for various professional situations. another effective measure to 
prevent possible compliance infringement is staff training on specific topics such as antitrust 
 issues or the correct way to deal with insider information.

In order to prevent possible infringements, the proSiebenSat.1 Group also implemented a Compli-
ance Board constituted of legal experts, Internal audit staff and employees of operating units. the 
task of the Compliance Board is to identify possible illegal actions at an early stage and initiate 
appropriate countermeasures. another function of the Compliance Board is to introduce safe-
guards against possible external threats such as acts of sabotage. For a television group with a 
high level of public awareness, the issue of company protection is extremely important. For this 
reason, the proSiebenSat.1 Group has taken various measures in order to realize comprehensive 
security of operating equipment. this includes state-of-the-art access control technology and 
qualified  security staff.

Information on specific legal 
disputes appears in the notes, 

page 222.

132Group ManaGeMent report

risk report



the work of the Compliance Board is coordinated centrally by the Group risk and Compliance 
officer. His task is to keep abreast of legal developments and any changes in international 
 legislation so as to be able to initiate suitable measures in due time. to bolster the Compliance 
organization, additional decentralized structures were implemented, with local Compliance 
 managers being determined for the most important locations. regular exchange of experience 
and information about current trends in different corporate areas have reduced the level of risk. 
the processes were analyzed by an independent consultant. the result of this external risk 
 assessment demonstrated that the Compliance processes in place are effective. In respect to 
 implementing current antitrust law, proSiebenSat.1 was certified as “best in class.”

Consensual agreement and conclusion of the antitrust proceedings. In the annual report 2011, 
the proSiebenSat.1 Group declared a potential risk from an alleged infringement of antitrust law 
through agreements between the proSiebenSat.1 Group and the rtL Group about their tV encryp-
tion practice. In July 2012, proSiebenSat.1 Group and the Federal Cartel office agreed in principle 
to a consensual termination of the proceedings related to this allegation. taking into account 
the state of negotiations and using its best estimate, the proSiebenSat.1 Group recognized a provi-
sion of eur 27.5 million as of June 30, 2012. the amount provided corresponds to the notification 
of the Federal Cartel office received at the end of December 2012 as was shown under other 
 liabilities as of December 31, 2012. the settlement was approved by the Supervisory Board. the 
Federal Cartel office’s final administrative order imposing the fine was issued on December 28, 2012. 
the fine of eur 27.7 million was paid on January 24, 2013.

Moreover, as part of the agreement with the Federal Cartel office, the proSiebenSat.1 Group 
 committed to unencrypted broadcast of the stations Sat.1, proSieben, and kabel eins in SD quality 
for a period of 10 years from January 1, 2013. the decision is currently being implemented. the 
transmission of broadcast signals in HD quality is not affected by this.

Requirements for disclosure and action for damages. Claims for disclosure and action for dam-
ages by rtL 2 Fernsehen GmbH & Co. kG and el Cartel Media GmbH & Co. kG against proSiebenSat.1 
Media aG, Sevenone Media GmbH and the stations Sat.1 Satelliten Fernsehen GmbH, proSieben 
television GmbH, kabel eins Fernsehen GmbH and n24 Gesellschaft für nachrichten und Zeitge-
schehen mbH (no longer part of the Group) are pending at the Düsseldorf regional Court since 
november 10, 2008. the plaintiff is asserting disclosure and damages claims in connection with 
marketing advertising time by Sevenone Media GmbH. on april 13, 2012, the regional Court 
 resolved to obtain an expert appraisal on the probability of loss. However, an expert has not yet 
been appointed. the outcome of the case cannot currently be predicted. as a consequence, no 
provision was recognized as of the reporting date. 

Furthermore, tM-tV GmbH and MtV networks Germany GmbH brought corresponding charges 
with the same objective. the Munich regional Court dismissed both cases in their entirety on 
november 22, 2011 and May 8, 2012 respectively. the plaintiffs each appealed at the Munich Higher 
regional Court. on February 21, 2013, the Munich Higher regional Court dismissed the appeal of 
tM-tV GmbH in its entirety and confirmed the dismissal of action through the regional Court. a 
date has not yet been decided for hearing the MtV case. the outcome of this appeal case cannot 
currently be predicted. For this reason, no provisions have been established as of the reporting date.
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Tax risks from media-for-equity transactions. the proSiebenSat.1 Group also provides advertising 
services in the context of barter deals or media-for-equity transactions. the tax treatment of 
these transactions has not yet been definitively clarified. For this reason, no final assessment can 
be made whether and to what extent they many result in an impact on future tax payments.

Section 32a German Copyright Act (“bestseller”). on July 19, 2011, the Berlin District Court ordered 
Sat.1 to pay further remuneration to the author of a screenplay on the basis of Section 32a of the 
German Copyright act (“bestseller”). the ruling was appealed against and a court settlement for 
dealing with this was reached on December 12, 2012. on the basis of Section 32a of the German 
Copyright act, other authors have made similar claims, in and out of court, against proSiebenSat.1 
Group companies. For this range of topics, a provision of eur 6.1 million was recognized, which is 
based on a best estimate with regard to the status of the negotiations.

We see different levels of impact for the potential financial consequences of individual legal and 
media policy changes as well as legal initiatives. Due to the great differences in compliance risks, 
we assess the overall potential impact as low to high. For example, antitrust violations could 
 entail severe financial consequences for the proSiebenSat.1 Group. overall, we consider the 
probability of occurence as low.

notes, page 223.

CoMplianCe riSKS (Fig. 72)

Key management  
measures

General compliance risks: Group compliance structures and targeted training of 
employees

Other legal risks: Close cooperation with legal experts

Overall probability of 
occurrence: Low 
Potential impact (strength): 
Low to high

We see different levels of impact for the potential financial consequences of individual 
legal and media policy changes as well as legal initiatives. Due to the great differences 
in compliance risks, we assess the overall potential impact as low to high. overall, we 
consider the probability of occurance as low.
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outlook

the proSiebenSat.1 Group successfully completed the 2012 financial year. We are optimis-
tic for 2013 and 2014 and we anticipate a continuation of our profitable growth course. For 
that purpose, we will expand our core free tV business in the next few years and will ad-
vance the dynamic development in the Digital & adjacent and Content production & Global 
Sales segments. Moreover, we are constantly pursuing linking up our tV activities with the 
digital segment and are thus opening up new sources of revenues for our Group. on the 
basis of these strategic measures, we anticipate continued revenue and earnings growth. 
on the basis of continuing operations, we expect a revenue potential of more than eur 600 
million to 2015 in comparison to 2010. it is our aim to gain a double-digit revenue increase 
outside the traditional tV advertising business in the next few years.

Opportunity Report

the business approach is made up of two components: the conscious handling of risks and 
consistent use of opportunities for additional revenue and earnings potential. early and  ongoing 
identification, analysis, and controlling of future sources of revenues are a central task of 
 management at proSiebenSat.1.

at proSiebenSat.1, the management of opportunities is centrally organized and controlled by the 
“Corporate Development and Strategic planning” department. the department identifies growth 
potential on the basis of detailed market and competition analyses and maintains close contact 
with the operational units and their managers. the identified factors for success and possible 
synergy potential are summarized in the strategy plan and incorporated in the decision-making 
process during the annual strategy meeting. the relevant opportunities are prioritized and 
 strategic objectives derived. opportunity management is part of the Group’s intragroup man-
agement system. It takes place in the context of the budget preparation process for the next 
twelve months and as part of the multi-year plan. 

opportunities for our Group primarily result from
 > the development of general conditions,
 > corporate strategy decisions and
 > the Group’s economic performance.

the most important opportunities are described below:

General management  
statement on expected  
company performance.

Intragroup Management System, 
page 47.

oVerVieW oF opportunitieS (Fig. 73)

Opportunities from the 
development of general 
conditions

>  new trends in the behavior of media usage
>   expansion of the range of services through technological developments and 

innovations
>  Legislative changes and media policy decisions
>  Macroeconomic developments

Opportunities in corporate 
strategy

>  expansion of the station portfolio
>  entry into new business models
>  International expansion of program production and distribution

Performance opportunities >  expansion and capitalization of audience share
>  use of new revenue models
>  optimization of costs
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Opportunities from the Development of General Conditions
Media continue to represent an important element of society. according to the study  ”navigator 
Mediennutzung 2012“ (Media usage navigator 2012) from proSiebenSat.1 advertising time 
 marketer Sevenone Media, the daily media use of 14 to 49 year olds has increased by 16 % to 
 almost 10 hours since 2002. the rise in media consumption is due both to tV — still the most 
 important form of mass media — and to the high growth rates among new media.

 >  Television: tV continues to grow and is still the no. 1 medium, since it is considerably ahead 
of all other entertainment media in use. In the last 10 years, average daily tV use time has 
increased by 17 minutes to reach to 205 minutes in 2012. almost all 14 to 49 year olds watch 
television, with 79 % doing so every day. tV is also seen as the most stable medium for the 
future, not least due to the many technological innovations such as HD, 3D and smart tV 
functions.

 >  Internet and PC games/videogames: the dynamic growth of the media types internet and 
games also contributed to the increased media use. In the last 10 years, time spent online 
every day has increased from 30 to 107 minutes. Since 2002, the average use time of pC and 
videogames has doubled to 39 minutes a day. In addition, the parallel use of online media and 
television is increasingly frequent: 59 % of 14 to 49 year olds use tV and the internet at the 
same time. 

 >  Print: While tV, the internet and games are benefiting from the transition in the media 
 industry, print media have come under pressure of substitution in the last few years and have 
had to accept heavy losses in use time. Since 2002, the use time of newspapers, magazines, 
and books has declined by one third to 60 minutes per day.

Since television is benefiting more from digitalization than any other traditional media, the 
 continuing strength and popularity of tV also offers the proSiebenSat.1 Group numerous oppor-
tunities in the future. tV shows a considerably stronger online affinity than print, and as on tV, 
video is the key driver on the internet as well. Due to the content-related and  technological 
convergence with the internet, tV is increasingly becoming an interactive  medium and remains 
relevant for young target groups. therefore, new forms of media use are opening up growth 
prospects to the proSiebenSat.1 Group, both in the audience market and in the advertising 
 market.

Growing need for media-compatible video content. today, approximately 55 % of online users 
watch videos on the internet. Mobile devices such as smartphones and tablet pCs make it 
possible to be entertained and informed by videos in any place, at any time. the proSiebenSat.1 
Group anticipates a strong rise in the need for media-compatible video content in the next few 
years. In order to benefit from this development, the company has built up a media portfolio 
that serves both linear and non-linear forms of use with the aid of the close link-up of tV and 
the internet. 

https://www.sevenonemedia.de/ 
research_mediennutzung_ 
navigator-mediennutzung

SiMultaneouS uSe oF tV anD internet (Fig. 74)

In percent (14 to 49 year olds)

2012      59

2007      301

2002      191
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the successful tV stations are the centerpiece and are flanked by numerous digital offerings. For 
example, numerous tV programs are available for free online for seven days after being broad-
cast on television. With extensive additional offerings, like backstage information, web-only  video 
clips, social tV services, episode guides and actor profiles, the Group is extending its tV content 
onto the internet, thus strengthening the connection between consumers, programs, and brands. 
In 2012, the proSiebenSat.1 Group also extended the advertising-financed internet portal MyVideo 
into an online tV station. With so-called “online first” premieres, MyVideo shows licensed uS 
series before they are broadcast on free German tV. Between March and June 2012, the uS series 
“Spartacus” achieved more than 13 million views on MyVideo. Subsequently on proSieben, the 
 series achieved a market share of up to 18.0 % among 14 to 49 year old viewers. the Group con-
ducted a survey to accompany the second series. It revealed that 32 % of users used MyVideo 
due to the online preview. 30 % of those surveyed also subsequently watched the series on tele-
vision, and a further 13 % were made curious about the tV show by the preview. the service is 
free for users and is financed by means of online video advertising. this example shows that the 
cross-media link-up of its content is opening up new growth opportunities for the proSiebenSat.1 
Group. Moreover, the proSiebenSat.1 Group operates Germany’s biggest video-on-demand 
 portal, maxdome. the online video library offers more than 50,000 feature films, series, sports 
and music highlights, as well as children’s films.

as well as a multimedia distribution network, the proSiebenSat.1 Group has a comprehensive 
stock of rights with fictional and non-fictional programs that it can use across all platforms, from 
tV to the internet and mobile. In this way, the Group can serve viewers‘ new preferences of use 
and utilize the program inventory efficiently. this is a strategic advantage over mere internet 
providers who own distribution channels but not their own content.

Parallel use: Television as an interactive and social medium. While 10 years ago 19 % of 14 to 
49 year old viewers used tV and the internet at the same time, in 2012 the figure was already 
59 %. the proSiebenSat.1 Group anticipates a continuation of this trend in the next few years. 
the increasing parallel use opens up new growth opportunities not only for the internet, but also 
for television. In many cases, it is tV that sets the initial impetus for finding out more about 
 certain topics online. 69 % use tV-related content on the internet while watching television. 
 Viewers frequently look for products from tV programs or commercials online, as the following 
graph shows:

Social networks are an established part of everyday life and have led to viewers commenting 
more and more often on tV programs online while they watch them. television was already a 
community experience before the digitalization of media and this is now continuing in social 
networks and online forums. the proSiebenSat.1 Group recognized the potential of this devel-
opment at an early stage and introduced the social tV platform “Connect” for the first season 

tV-relateD internet uSe (Fig. 75)
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of “the Voice of Germany” in 2011. the online portal brings together on one screen a live 
stream of the show, the social networks twitter and Facebook, as well as various interactive 
tools. In this way, during the show viewers and users can exchange views with friends, com-
ment on the program and participate in surveys, the results of which are displayed live. thus, 
tV viewers become active commentators who deal intensively with program content. repre-
sentative surveys demonstrate that this considerably strengthens the connection between 
brands, program content, viewers, and users. 63 % say that they find television more exciting 
and more fun through the social tV platform. 62 % prefer to use the online portal than to flick 
through the channels during commercial breaks. at the same time, the social tV application 
is not only additive, but also causes users to want to switch on the program. the users of the 
“the Voice Connect” are simultaneously loyal viewers of the tV show, with 81 % revealing that 
they watch almost every episode on television. Social tV measures offer the proSiebenSat.1 
Group the opportunity to increase the tV ratings of a program, retain viewers, provide them 
with new platforms, and thus make the show more attractive for advertising customers as 
well.

Optimized sales opportunities. the dynamic development of digital media also offers the 
 company attractive growth opportunities in the advertising market in the next few years. the 
rising number of second screens — the graph below shows the forecast spread of devices with 
screens — results not only in additional advertising space. 

the link-up between tV and internet advertising also increases the advertising impact. the 
 “navigator Mediennutzung” study shows that among 14 to 49 year old internet users, 44 % have 
already become aware of products on television and have then looked for these on the internet. 
experts forecast a strong rise in advertising on mobile devices in the next few years. For instance, 
the american market research institute eMarketer has calculated that the advertising volume 
with mobile advertising in the uSa will quadruple by 2016. additional mobile screens also open 
up to television companies the opportunity to make transactions such as online purchases 
 directly via tV programming. up until now, this has still been largely reserved for internet com-
panies. the proSiebenSat.1 Group will benefit from this both as a sales company and through its 
Ventures portfolio with investments in the sports, beauty, health, fashion, home & living, market 
places and travel industries. the Group makes use of its strong market position and can adver-
tise the products via its own station and online network and trigger purchases. In Germany, the 
proSiebenSat.1 Group is the leading seller of video content both on free tV and on the internet.

Global SaleS oF SCreen DeViCeS (Fig. 76)
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Furthermore, the Group can provide its advertising customers with a direct feedback channel for 
communication with consumers on the internet as well as with social tV applications such as 
“proSieben Connect.” this feedback channel includes survey modules, badges, cross-media 
campaigns, and sponsorship campaigns that are tailored to customers individually. particularly 
effective are overarching concepts that combine traditional forms of advertising with the new 
opportunities. the sales subsidiary Sevenone adFactory specializes in 360 degree concepts, as 
they are known, in which all of proSiebenSat.1’s platforms, from tV to online and mobile to 
games, are included in sales. the proSiebenSat.1 Group will also develop tailored sales concepts 
in future to strengthen its position as trailblazer on the German market and to take a share in the 
growth of social tV.

TV advertising market grows at the expense of the print market. the growing relevance of tV 
and the internet is likely to lead to a further shift in the media market. the declining usage 
 figures in the print industry have been reflected in the German advertising market for several 
years. Between 2000 and 2011, the net advertising market share of print products fell by 10 per-
centage points to 56 %. In contrast, tV increased its share from 24 % to 26 %. the proSiebenSat.1 
Group expects this development to continue and that the television category will increase its 
share in the net advertising market to between 27 % and 29 % by 2015. this could lead to growth 
in the German tV advertising market of eur 100 million compared to 2010. the proSiebenSat.1 
Group’s goal is to shift advertising market share from print media to tV and to increase its reve-
nues in the German tV advertising market further. 
 
the changes in media usage behavior are driven largely by technological developments. Due to 
innovations such as large flatscreens as well as HD-ready and internet-enabled television sets, 
the appeal of television has continued to grow in the last few years. In the first nine months of 
2012, every second television set sold in Germany was internet-enabled; according to Gfk, this 
equates to approximately 3.5 million sets. these technological innovations open up growth 
 opportunities for the proSiebenSat.1 Group, particularly in the distribution of its HD stations. 
the Group is represented in the HD packages of all major cable, satellite and IptV operators 
with its German free tV stations Sat.1, proSieben, kabel eins, and sixx, and since 2011 has been 
taking a share in the technical activation fees which customers pay to the providers. the com-
pany anticipates that the technical reach of HD televisions will double by 2015 and that the 
number of HD subscribers will rise to approximately seven million. this corresponds to an annual 
growth rate of 75 %. For this reason, the Group expects an increase in revenues of more than 
eur 50 million from its HD distribution business by 2015 compared to 2010.

there are also growth prospects for the proSiebenSat.1 Group in the video-on-demand area. as 
part of its digital video strategy, proSiebenSat.1 has developed maxdome as Germany’s leading 
video-on-demand platform. today, maxdome is already directly available on more than 70 % of 
all hybrid tV sets. In the last few years, proSiebenSat.1 has concluded contracts with all major 
manufacturers relating to the integration of the service on the respective devices. By the end of 
2013, maxdome is likely to be receivable on more than 13 million hybrid devices, meaning the 
number of maxdome users is likely to grow considerably.

While the tV industry is going through a dynamic process of change, the German television 
market is, at the same time, heavily regulated. For this reason, liberalization in the regulatory 
environment as well as new media law conditions generally entails growth opportunities for our 
company. as of July 1, 2012, advertising for betting and lotteries was legalized. thus, the 
proSiebenSat.1 Group anticipates that the German tV advertising market could grow by approx-
imately eur 80 million by 2015. In addition, a sponsorship ban on public television came into 

Glossary, page 264.

Glossary, page 264.

Glossary, page 264.

Media policy environment,  
page 58.  
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force on January 1, 2013 due to a change to the Interstate Broadcasting treaty. the ban applies 
on workdays after 8 p.m. as well as on Sundays and public holidays. on the basis of a conserva-
tive estimate, the proSiebenSat.1 Group numbers the potential revenues resulting from this for 
the private television market in Germany by 2015 at approximately eur 25 million in comparison 
with 2010.

Since the proSiebenSat.1 Group generates the majority of its revenues from tV services financed 
through advertising, the Group’s position is also influenced by the economic environment. 
 Macroeconomic factors such as the development of gross domestic product as well as private 
consumption impact on revenues in the tV advertising business. this also applies to revenues 
from the online advertising market. thus, macroeconomic developments that turn out better than 
originally forecast and that increase the purchasing power of consumers as well as the bookings 
of the advertising industry can have a positive impact on the Group’s revenues and earnings.

Opportunities in Corporate Strategy
the Group not only invests on a continuous basis in the expansion of its existing programs, but 
also sees opportunities for growth relating to the corporate strategy in the expansion of its 
complementary station portfolio. In the last six years, the proSiebenSat.1 Group has success-
fully established five new stations in its German-speaking markets. the dynamic development 
of the women’s channel sixx, which was launched in Germany in 2010, is an example showing 
that there will be attractive opportunities for the traditional tV business in the future as well. 
In 2012, the market share of sixx Deutschland doubled to 1.0 %, while in austria the women’s 
channel — which was launched only in July 2012 — achieved a market share of 1.1 % in the second 
half of the year. the proSiebenSat.1 Group is increasing its audience and advertising market 
share through new tV stations, since it can offer its advertising customers a widely positioned 
and diversified target group portfolio. In 2012, proSiebenSat.1 also designed a station for “Best 
agers” with Sat.1 Gold. Sat.1 Gold went on air in mid-January 2013 and is aimed primarily at 
women between 49 and 64. In this way, the proSiebenSat.1 Group is reacting to the demo-
graphic change through which the population group of older, high-income people in Germany 
is growing continuously.

the Group expects further growth potential from the development of new business models. We 
are at the forefront in the German advertising market in the adaption of new technologies and 
the implementation of innovative forms of advertising such as decentralized advertising in cable 
television. the station group plans to offer regional advertising spots to advertising customers 
in five areas. the Group has already successfully carried out technical pilot experiments for this 
with the network operators kabel BW in Baden-Württemberg and unitymedia in north-rhine 
Westphalia. the media supervisory authority’s approval process is not yet complete. above all, 
the proSiebenSat.1 Group considers decentralized advertising a great opportunity to win new 
customers who have not previously advertised on television. It is already established in many 
other eu member countries.

Moreover, the international expansion of the red arrow entertainment Group, the proSiebenSat.1 
Group’s program production and distribution company, provides opportunities for the Group. 
the tV group benefits from attractive program developments and productions from its own 
producer network. For example, in 2012 the German station group secured the broadcasting 

Future economic environment, 
page 142.  

the Year 2012 at a Glance,  
page 40.

Media policy environment,  
page 58.  
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rights for several fictional programs from its own production pipeline. at the same time, reve-
nues from the global sales business will grow in the next few years. Since 2010, the red arrow 
entertainment Group has built up an attractive portfolio with 18 production companies world-
wide, including in key markets such as the uSa and Great Britain. In addition, the company has 
opened international sales offices, including a branch in China. the country is likely to be one of 
the fastest-growing tV markets in the next few years. More than 50 % of all of the world’s tV 
households are in asia. approximately three years after it was founded, the red arrow enter-
tainment Group has established itself in the industry and is already the world’s eighth-largest 
independent production company. 

Performance Opportunities
performance opportunities for the proSiebenSat.1 Group can arise from operating business as 
well as from cost management and the increase of efficiency and profitability. opportunities 
from operating business result in particular from the possibility to capitalize on our ratings 
successes and to generate additional revenues on the basis of innovative sales concepts.

the biggest opportunities for growth will result from the leading position in the tV advertising 
market if proSiebenSat.1 further increases the audience market share of its tV stations and 
continues to achieve adequate purchase prices for its high-quality media services through a 
corresponding price policy. as demonstrated in the 2012 study “roI analyzer”, carried out jointly 
by proSiebenSat.1 advertising sales company Sevenone Media and Gfk as well as the Gfk Verein, 
tV advertising constitutes the most effective and powerful form of advertising in the long term. 
the correlation between advertising, customer loyalty, and buying was thus quantified and the 
long-term impact of tV advertising demonstrated for the first time. according to the results of 
the study, the average long-term return on investment (roI) of the brands investigated so far is 
1.9. the Group also benefits from the strength and effectiveness of television in the expansion 
of its own integrated media portfolio. 

the proSiebenSat.1 Group taps into related business areas such as online games, mobile and 
music by also selling its own products via its free tV stations, which have wide coverage. on the 
basis of this strategy, the company has built up an attractive Ventures portfolio with more than 
50 partnerships and strategic investments since 2010. With its innovative media-for-reve-
nue-share and media-for-equity revenue models, the proSiebenSat.1 Group provides selected 
start-up companies with advertising time on its tV stations in return for a revenue share and/or 
equity. With this special sales concept, the Group can capitalize free advertising time and opti-
mize the use of its media inventory. this provides proSiebenSat.1 the opportunity to advance 
into new business areas and markets in the future as well, without weaknesses on the part of 
the investments having a direct financial impact on the Group. 

Further, the optimization of costs in the Group opens up additional opportunities for growth. 
the implementation of efficient processes and structures forms a crucial basis for sustainably 
increasing our profitability. as part of its cost management, the Group reviews the entire value 
chain on a continuous basis and proactively includes future events in its cost planning as far 
as possible.

Development of the advertising 
Market, page 61.

Development of the  
audience Market, page 63.  

analysis of Liquidity and  
Capital Spending, page 87.  
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Future Business and Industry Environment

a gradual recovery of the global economy is to be expected in 2013. the IMF is currently forecast-
ing real growth of 3.5 % after growth of 3.2 % in 2012. Due to various measures to stimulate the 
economy in emerging countries, the economy is expected to pick up again in the course of 2013. 
at the same time, the fiscal conflicts in the uSa have been settled for the time being. the contin-
ued expansionary monetary policy of the Federal reserve is likely to have a positive impact on 
the european markets. However, high unemployment and falling purchasing power could mean 
the situation in some european countries will remain tense: In the euro zone, the IMF expects 
economic performance to decline again in 2013. However, the decrease is not expected to prove 
as great as in the previous year at 0.2 %.

In the course of 2013, the domestic economy in Germany could grow more strongly again and 
revive investment activity, provided the euro crisis does not get worse. the ifo Business Climate 
Index has recently risen three times in a row after a long phase of weakness. In addition, the 
German export economy is likely to return to its course of growth due to rising demand from 
outside europe. In contrast, signs for private consumption are mixed: While the employment 
market situation remains stable, the increase in the employment rate slowed down over the 
course of 2012. therefore, available household incomes are still expected to rise again, but some-
what more moderately. the forecasts for private consumption in 2013 range between plus 0.2 % 
(rheinisch-Westfälisches Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung, rWI) and 1.1 % (Deutsches Institut 
für Wirtschaft, DIW). the forecast range for the expected development of real GDp in Germany 
ranges from growth of 0.3 % (rWI) to 0.9 % (DIW). However, all the forecasts entail downside 
risks due to the current uncertainty in the euro zone.

Since advertising expenditure consists of investments by companies, the development of ad-
vertising markets is always closely tied to the current and expected future general economic 
situation. In 2012, gross domestic product grew only slightly by 0.7 %. the association of German 
advertisers (ZaW) estimates that the media’s net advertising revenues sank by 3.0 %, primarily 
to the detriment of print media: the Zenithoptimedia agency group anticipates growth of 1.8 % 
for tV in 2012. the World advertising research Center (WarC) forecasts growth of 2.0 % in tV net 
advertising revenues. For 2013, estimates are positive (Zenithoptimedia: +1.9 %; WarC: +1.5 %).

the economic outlook for austria and Switzerland — the relevant international tV markets for 
the proSiebenSat.1 Group in future — are positive as well as the forecasts for tV advertising mar-
kets, as the following charts show: 
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ForeCaStS For real GroSS DoMeStiC proDuCt in CountrieS iMportant For proSiebenSat.1 (Fig. 77)
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Company Outlook

Basis for our Forecast
 >  Planning assumptions: In 2012, global economic growth was below the level of the previous 

year for the second time in a succession. Last year Germany closed with slight growth in the 
gross domestic product. our forecast is based on the assumption that the sovereign debt crisis 
in europe will not deteriorate further and in particular that the economy in the German core 
market will regain a degree of momentum. this should allow the price levels for the sale of tV 
advertising time to remain stable or be increased moderately. our objective remains to 
strengthen the Group’s earnings power primarily through revenue growth and cost efficiency. 
We see the most growth potential in the Digital & adjacent segment, in the distribution busi-
ness and in the production and global sales of tV programs.

advertising markets are sensitive to changes in the economy. political conditions and regula-
tory environment also influence these markets, so that predictions are always subject to 
uncertainty. It is customary in this business that tV advertising is frequently booked at very 
short notice, which also limits planning certainty. although proSiebenSat.1 has concluded 
framework agreements on volumes to be taken and conditions with a large number of its 
advertising customers, the final budgets are sometimes confirmed only on a month-by- 
month basis. In addition, the price level is based on factors such as current audience share 
amongst others. on-top bookings are frequently granted only towards the end of the year. 
Hence, the proSiebenSat.1 Group generates a particularly high proportion of its annual tV 
advertising revenues in the fourth quarter. For this reason, the forecast for the year at this 
point cannot yet be quantified to a greater degree. therefore, this Company outlook will give 
a qualitative forecast for all relevant key financial figures in 2013 and 2014. the qualitative 
indicators “stable development”, “slight increase”, “increase”, “significant increase” and 
 “reduction” are based on percentage deviations from the respective previous year.

 >  Strategic focus: the proSiebenSat.1 Group is one of europe’s largest and most profitable media 
corporations. alongside our core business of free tV financed by advertising, in which we have a 
leading market position in the German-speaking area, we are consequently investing in new 
growth markets outside the traditional tV business. these primarily include the Digital & adja-
cent segment and the program production business. We successfully expanded both areas 
in 2012. the increasing refinancing of programming through HD distribution revenues also 
 produces new revenues models. With the diversification of our revenue base in adjacent areas, 
we are strengthening our independence from advertising markets, which are sensitive to the 
development of the general economy, at the same time taking a share in the dynamic develop-
ment of trend and growth markets. the strategy centers on the combination of German-speak-
ing tV and digital activities, the two areas with the biggest growth and synergy potential. the 
objective of the proSiebenSat.1 Group is to develop from a traditional tV provider into a digital 
entertainment & e-commerce powerhouse. We measure the success of our strategy on the basis 
of 2010 on the way to our revenue targets for 2015. In 2012, we already generated 50.9 % of our 
revenue target for 2015 on the basis of the continuing operations.

Further information appears in 
the notes on page 186. there, 

the assumptions of the annual 
impairment test, which is based 
on the Group’s 5-year planning, 

are explained.

Seasonality, page 72.
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 >  Segment structure: after the sale of the tV and radio activities in northern europe in Decem-
ber 2012 and the proposed sale of the eastern european business, we report in the three seg-
ments Broadcasting German-speaking, Digital & adjacent and Content production & Global 
Sales as shown in the following chart:

Expected Group and Segment Revenue and Earnings Performance 
the proSiebenSat.1 Group expects to continue its profitable growth for the 2013 and 2014 
projection period. 

GroWtH tarGetS 2015 anD DeGree oF aCHieVeMent 2012 (Fig. 80)

revenue growth in eur m

 
                                   20101 

 
Degree of achievement 2012

Broadcasting 
German- 
speaking

Digital & 
adjacent2 

Content production & 
Global Sales 

 2015e 
 

eur m 56.3 166.7 82.2 305.2

in percent 22.5 66.7 82.2  50.9 

1 Growth rate fo external revenues vs. 2010 from continuing operations. 
2 revenues without 9Live. external revenues.

>250

>250
>100 >600

SeGMentS oF tHe proSiebenSat.1 Group (Fig. 81)

 
SEGMENTS

Broadcasting  
German-speaking

Digital & 
Adjacent

Content Production & 
Global Sales

ForeCaSt For Group Key FiGureS — 2-year VieW1 (Fig. 82) 

eur m 2012 Forecast1

revenues 2,356.2 Increase 

operating costs 1,624.6 Increase

recurring eBItDa 744.8 Increase

underlying net income from continuing operations 355.5 Increase

net financial debt2 1,870.8 reduction

1 2013 and 2014; against previous year; continuing operations. 
2  excluding cash and cash equivalents of eur 90.4 million from discontinued operations and before the receipt of proceeds 

from the sale of the northern european activities.
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the proSiebenSat.1 Group started the first quarter of 2013 positively and is aiming for a revenue 
growth in the mid-single-digit percentage area for the 2013 and 2014 projection period. especially 
our growth areas outside the traditional tV advertising business will make a significant contribu-
tion to this. 

In 2013 and 2014, the proSiebenSat.1 Group will further expand in the core tV business with the 
launch of new free tV stations. In the Digital & adjacent segment, the Group will continue to grow 
both organically and through targeted acquisitions. naturally, operating costs will rise as a result 
of these growth initiatives. For our core free tV business, we anticipate a moderate cost increase. 
overall, we expect a further recurring eBItDa rise and are likely to achieve a considerably 
above-average margin in future as well. as a result, underlying net income in the projection period 
is likely to be higher than the figure for 2012.

 >  Broadcasting German-speaking segment: In our German-speaking tV advertising markets, 
we anticipate a favorable business performance. In order to achieve this, a continuation of 
the positive economic climate in the German core market is required. our own forecasts for 
the net growth of the German tV advertising market — we anticipate a stable to slightly pos-
itive development — are somewhat more conservative than the net forecasts of the agency 
group Zenithoptimedia and of the World advertising research Center (WarC). provided that 
there is a stable to slightly rising price level for the sale of advertising time, our tV advertis-
ing revenues in Germany should be at market level or slightly above in 2013. In addition, HD 
distribution and new tV stations such as Sat.1 Gold and sixx austria are likely to produce 
clear stimulus for growth in the next two years. In view of the expansion of new tV stations 
and further investments in the station portfolio, recurring eBItDa is likely to develop stable. 
By the end of 2015, we are planning to generate additional revenues of eur 250 million 
 compared to 2010 for the segment. at the end of 2012, the Group had already achieved 22.5 % 
or eur 56.3 million. We expect most of the additional revenues to be generated from 2013 
onwards.

 >  Digital & Adjacent segment: By strengthening our Digital and Ventures portfolio, we will 
 consequently widen our revenue base. We are expanding our market position through both 
 organic growth and targeted acquisitions. With its four areas online Video, online Games, 
 Ventures & Commerce and Music, the Digital & adjacent segment was the strongest growth 
driver in 2012. alongside the internationalization of our online Games portfolio by way of 
further strategic partnerships and acquisitions as well as the development of our online tV 
station MyVideo, we will mainly concentrate on expanding our media-for-revenues-share and 
media-for-equity business models. In 2012, the two revenue models developed into a key growth 
driver, while the Ventures portfolio currently includes approximately 50 partnerships and 
 strategic investments. In the selection of investments, our future focus will also be mainly on 

ForeCaSt For SeGMent Key FiGureS — 2-year VieW1 (Fig. 83) 

2012 Forecast1

eur m
External 

Revenues
Recurring 

EBITDA Revenues
Recurring 

EBITDA

Broadcasting German-speaking 1,909.5 660.3
Slight 

increase 
Stable 

development

Digital & adjacent 351.2 89.7
Significant 

increase
Significant 

increase

Content production & Global Sales 95.4 4.3
Significant 

increase
Significant 

increase

1 2013 and 2014; against previous year; continuing operations.

opportunity report, page 135.
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companies that complement our portfolio, have a high degree of correlation to the target 
group characteristics of the proSiebenSat.1 station family and for whom we can provide a 
 critical mass with media services from the Group.

 the Group forecasts the revenues potential of the segment by 2015 to be more than eur 250 
million compared to 2010. thereof, at the end of 2012, the Group had already achieved 66.7 % 
or eur 166.7 million. In the 2013 and 2014 projection period, revenues are likely to rise further 
in the double-digit percentage area.

 >  Content Production & Global Sales segment: We are planning to generate more than eur 100 
million additionally by 2015 as compared to 2010. at the end of 2012, we had  already achieved 
82.2 % or eur 82.2 million of this. In the last few months, we have become established in 
important tV markets such as the uSa and Great Britain and have expanded our program 
production portfolio on an international scale. the red arrow entertainment Group has thus 
achieved an important objective. Following on  intensive phase of expansion, we will focus on 
integrating the investments in 2013. For 2013 and 2014, we are planning to continue our 
 dynamic growth. 

after the sale of the northern european tV and radio activities, the total growth potential 
from continuing operations by 2015 is more than eur 600 million compared to 2010. We are 
aiming to increase our revenue share outside traditional tV advertising on a continuous basis. 
proSiebenSat.1 aims to achieve dynamic growth in these areas by 2015.

Future Financial Position and Performance
With an equity ratio of 27.7 % as of December 31, 2012, the Group is in a solid financial position. 
For 2013 and 2014 projection period, we anticipate maintaining solid capital funding, even though 
the equity ratio is likely to fall, in line with expectations, due to the planned dividend payment. 
With the intended repayment of further loans totaling eur 500 million from the sale of the 
northern european tV activities, the Group will reduce its borrowings further. after we already 
repaid a significant part of our term loans and extended the maturities of most of the remaining 
term loans in 2011, our financing is secured at attractive conditions on a long-term basis. However, 
we are monitoring the financial markets very closely and regularly review options for refinanc-
ing or extending the maturities of our loans, in order to optimize our capital structure further. 

as of the reporting date, the proSiebenSat.1 Group recorded a high level of cash and cash 
 equivalents. With the sale of the northern european tV and radio portfolio, our financial scope 
for investments in business operations will widen. From the current perspective, there is thus 
sufficient liquidity and financing headroom for 2013 and 2014. Further earnings growth is likely 
to impact positively on liquidity and thus also net financial debt. We set a target range of 1.5 to 
2.5 for our financial leverage, and we are adhering to it. 

the capital expenditure volume in the 2013 and 2014 projection period is likely to be at least at 
the level of the 2012 financial year. In the future, the largest part of our investments — between 
eur 800 and eur 900 million — will continue to go into the programming assets of the Broad-
casting German-speaking segment. Further investments will mainly be in the Digital & adjacent 
segment and will primarily include intangible assets and acquisitions. this also includes 
 media-for-equity deals, through which proSiebenSat.1 secures access to new markets, without 
having to make any larger cash investments. a significant part of the investments will occur 
using the disposal proceeds from the sale of the northern european activities. 
 

Changes in the Scope of 
Consolidation, page 73.
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Dividend Policy
our dividend policy is based on underlying net income. Generally, the payout ratio is approx-
imately 80 % to 90 % of the underlying net income from continuing operations adjusted for 
special items. the dividend proposal is newly set for each financial year. Here, proSiebenSat.1 
Group’s corporate development and the required capital base for growth initiatives and the 
current business prospects are taken into account. 

notwithstanding the previously described general dividend policy, the Group intends to pay out 
a higher dividend for the 2012 financial year. If the sale of the northern european tV and radio 
activities is successfully consummated, we plan to invest part of the proceeds from the sale in 
the Group’s operating business. as a result, the operating cash flow is largely available for other 
purposes, such as the dividend payment. therefore, the executive Board intends to propose to 
the annual General Meeting — in coordination with the majority shareholder of the Company, 
Lavena — a dividend expected to be eur 5.65 euro per preference share (previous year: eur 1.17) 
and eur 5.63 per share of common stock (previous year: eur 1.15) for 2012 should the above- 
mentioned sale be consummated successfully. thus, the Company would pay out a total of 
 approximately eur 1.2 billion (previous year: eur 245.7 million). after the payment, the 
proSiebenSat.1 Group’s leverage factor will remain in the target range of 1.5 to 2.5 communicated 
previously, based on the Group’s ratio of net financial debt to recurring eBItDa. the Company is 
again anticipating a payout ratio of approximately 80 % to 90 % of the underlying net income 
from continuing operations adjusted for special items in subsequent years.

In addition, the Company intends to propose to the annual General Meeting for the 2012 financial 
year a conversion of the non-voting preference shares into voting common stock. as part of this 
conversion, which is to be carried out without requiring a premium on the part of the holders of 
preferred stock, all common stock would be listed for trading. the majority shareholder supports 
the conversion provided that the disposal of the northern european activities is successfully 
consummated. along with the approval of the annual General Meeting — in which the majority 
shareholder has the required majority of votes — the conversion of preference shares into com-
mon stock also requires an approval resolution from the holders of preferred stock, which needs 
a qualified majority of 75 % of votes in order to be valid.

Changes in the Scope of 
Consolidation, page 73.

note on ForWarD-looKinG StateMentS on Future earninGS, FinanCial poSition anD 
perForManCe (Fig. 84)

our forecast is based on current assessments of future 
developments. examples of risks and uncertainties which can 
negatively impact this forecast are a slowing of the economic 
recovery, a decline in advertising investments, increasing 
costs for program procurement, changes in exchange rates 
or interest rates, negative rating trends or even a sustained 
change in media use, changes in legislation, regulatory 

regulations or media policy guidelines. Further uncertain 
factors are described in the risk report from page 119 
onwards. If one or even more of these imponderables 
occurs or if the assumptions on which the forward-looking 
statements are made do not occur, then actual events can 
deviate materially from the statements made or implicitly 
expressed.

150Group ManaGeMent report

outlook




